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Executive Committee:

With a view of achieving speedier decision making on corporate card proposals in order to ensure business growth, the Board 
of Directors had constituted a Management Level Executive Committee. Thereafter, the Board of Directors of the Company at its 
meeting held on June 18, 2021 had reconstituted the Executive Committee as a Board Level Committee. As on March 31, 2022, 
the Committee consists of four Directors, out of which two are Non-executive Independent Directors and One is Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent Director and One is Executive Director. The composition and the ‘Terms of Reference’ of the Committee is 
also available on the website of the Company at www.sbicard.com.

During the financial year ended March 31, 2022 and Post reconstitution of the Executive Committee as a Board Level Committee, 
two Meetings of the Executive Committee were held. Date of the meetings are: July 7, 2021, and November 1, 2021. The names 
of the Members of the Committee and their attendance at the Meetings are as follows:

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Member Meetings held during the 
tenure of the Member  

No. of Meetings attended

1 Mr. Ashwini Kumar Tewari, Chairman 2 2

2 Mr. Dinesh Kumar Mehrotra 2 2

3 Mr. Rama Mohan Rao Amara 2 2

4 Ms. Anuradha Nadkarni 2 2

Note: Mr. Ashwini Kumar Tewari ceased to be the Member of the Committee w.e.f.  July 14, 2022. Further, Mr. Swaminathan 
Janakiraman was inducted in the Committee and appointed as the Chairman of the Committee w.e.f. July 22, 2022.

IT Strategy Committee:

The Board of Directors of the Company had constituted a management level IT Strategy Committee to oversee management’s 
establishment of appropriate systems that include policies and procedures to ensure that IT operational risks in the Company 
are effectively controlled and to review and approve appropriate IT investments that were required in the Company before 
recommending the same to the Board for approval. Thereafter, the Board of Directors of the Company at its meeting held on 
June 18, 2021 had reconstituted the IT Strategy Committee as a Board Level Committee. The composition and the ‘Terms of 
Reference’ of the Committee is also available on the website of the Company at www.sbicard.com. 

During the financial year ended March 31, 2022 and Post reconstitution of the IT Strategy Committee as a Board Level 
Committee, one Meeting of the IT Strategy Committee was held i.e. on December 7, 2021. All the Members of the Committee 
attended the said meeting. 

The composition of the Committee as on March 31, 2022 is as follows:

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Members Position

1 Mr. Rajendra Kumar Saraf, Independent Director Chairman

2 Dr. Tejendra Mohan Bhasin, Independent Director Member

3 Mr. Rama Mohan Rao Amara, Managing Director and CEO Member

4 Chief Operating Officer Member

5 Chief Information & Digital Officer Member

6 Chief Financial Officer Member

7 Chief Information Security Officer Member

8 Chief Technology Officer Member

ANNEXURE- 6 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS

The date and time of the Annual General Meetings held during last three years and the special resolution(s) passed there at, 
are as follows:

Date Venue Time Special Resolution(s) Passed

August 26, 2021 Meeting was conducted through Video 
Conferencing (‘VC’)/Other Audio Visual 
Means (‘OAVM’) pursuant to the relevant 
MCA/SEBI Circulars.

Deemed Venue of the meeting: Registered 
Office of the Company i.e. Unit 401 & 402, 
4th Floor, Aggarwal Millennium Tower, E- 
1,2,3, Netaji Subhash Place, Wazirpur, New 
Delhi – 110034

11.00 A.M. None

September 28, 2020 Meeting was conducted through Video 
Conferencing (‘VC’)/Other Audio Visual 
Means (‘OAVM’) pursuant to the relevant 
MCA/SEBI Circulars. 

Deemed Venue of the meeting:Registered 
Office of the Company i.e. Unit 401 & 402, 
4th Floor, Aggarwal Millennium Tower, E- 
1,2,3, Netaji Subhash Place, Wazirpur, New 
Delhi – 110034

11.00 A.M. Approval of Article 33(ii) (b) and (c) 
and Article 37(ii) (b) of the Articles of 
Association,

September 27, 2019 Unit 401 & 402, 4th Floor, Aggarwal 
Millennium Tower, E-1,2,3, Netaji Subhash 
Place, Wazirpur, New Delhi 110 034

11.00 A.M. Approval of Initial Public Offering 
(“IPO”) of the Company, comprising 
of combination of a fresh issue and an 
offer for sale of equity shares by the 
existing shareholders.

POSTAL BALLOT

During the year under review, two Postal Ballots were conducted by the Company for seeking the approvals of the Members. 
The details of the Postal Ballots conducted are mentioned below:

Postal Ballot 1:

Date of Postal Ballot Notice: March 1, 2021

Voting period: March 10, 2021 (from 10.00 A.M.) to April 8, 2021 (till 5.00 P.M.)

Date of Declaration of Results: April 9, 2021

Voting Pattern:

Item 
No.

Description Type of 
Resolution

No. of Votes 
Polled

Votes in Favour Votes Against

No. of 
Votes

% No. of 
Votes

%

1 Appointment of Shri Rama 
Mohan Rao Amara as 
Managing Director and CEO of 
the Company

Ordinary 
Resolution

869819657 869742753 99.99 76904 0.01

ANNEXURE- 6 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Postal Ballot 2:

Date of Postal Ballot Notice: January 24, 2022

Voting period: February 2, 2022 (from 10.00 A.M.) to March 3, 2022 (till 5.00 P.M.)

Date of Declaration of Results: March 4, 2022

Voting Pattern:

Item 
No.

Description Type of 
Resolution

No. of Votes 
Polled

Votes in Favour Votes Against

No. of 
Votes

% No. of 
Votes

%

1 Re-appointment of 
Dr. Tejendra Mohan Bhasin 
(DIN:03091429) as an 
Independent Director of the 
Company

Special
Resolution

832293984 823991177 99.00 8302807 1.00

2 Re-appointment of Mr. 
Rajendra Kumar  Saraf (DIN: 
02730755) as an Independent 
Director of the Company 

Special
Resolution

832473173 829874250 99.69 2598923 0.31

For both of the abovementioned Postal Ballots Mr. Vineet K 
Chaudhary (Certificate of Practice no. 4548) Managing Partner 
of M/s VKC & Associates, Company Secretaries, or failing 
him Mr. Mohit K. Dixit (Certificate of Practice no. 17827), 
Partner of M/s VKC & Associates, Company Secretaries, were 
appointed as the Scrutinizer for conducting the Postal Ballot 
process in a fair and transparent manner.

The postal ballots were conducted as per the provisions of 
Sections 108 and 110 and other applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with the Rules thereunder and the 
Circulars issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs in this 
regard.

Further, there is no immediate proposal for passing any 
resolution through postal ballot.

MEANS OF COMMUNICATION:

Effective communication of information is an essential 
component of Corporate Governance. It is a process of 
sharing information, ideas, thoughts, opinions and plans to 
all stakeholders which promotes management-shareholder 
relations. Your Company believes that all stakeholders should 

have access to complete information regarding its position 
to enable them to accurately assess its future potential. 
Accordingly, the Company disseminates information on its 
operations and initiatives on a regular basis.

The quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the Company 
are published in leading English and Hindi newspapers such 
as Times of India, Economic Times and Navbharat Times. The 
said results are promptly furnished to the Stock Exchanges for 
display on their respective websites and are also displayed on 
the Company’s website at www.sbicard.com.

Further, matters that are material to the Stakeholders 
including Press Releases and Presentations made to 
institutional investors or to the analysts, if any, are disclosed 
to the respective Stock Exchanges where the securities of the 
Company are listed and are also displayed on the Company’s 
website at www.sbicard.com.

From time to time the Company also sends reminders to the 
shareholders to claim their unclaimed shares and unpaid 
dividend.
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GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual General Meeting - Date, Time and Venue Friday, August 26, 2022 at 11.00 a.m through video /other 
permissible audio-visual means.
Deemed Venue for Meeting: Registered Office: Unit 401 & 
402, 4th Floor, Aggarwal Millennium Tower E-1,2,3, Netaji 
Subhash Place, Wazirpur, New Delhi 110 034, India;

Financial Year 01.04.2021 to 31.03.2022

The name and address of each stock exchange(s) at which 
the listed entity’s securities are listed and a confirmation 
about payment of annual listing fee to each of such stock 
exchange(s);

•	 The Equity Shares of the Company are listed on the 
following Stock Exchanges:

(i)	 BSE Ltd. (BSE), 

	 Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street, Mumbai - 
400 001

(ii)	  National Stock Exchange of India Ltd. (NSE)

	 Exchange Plaza, C-1, Block G, Bandra Kurla 
Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai - 400 051

•	 The Non-Convertible Debentures of the Company are 
listed on BSE.

The annual listing fee for the financial year 2021-22 have 
been paid to both the aforesaid Stock Exchanges. 

The securities of the Company are not suspended from 
trading.

Stock Code; BSE – 543066; NSE – SBICARD; ISIN – INE018E01016

STOCK MARKET PRICE DATA

Month BSE NSE

High (`) Low (`) High (`) Low (`)

April 2021 1035.2 882.65 1016 883

May 2021 1105 930.1 1103.3 946

June 2021 1140 930.9 1139.5 931

July 2021 1041 924 1040 923.9

August 2021 1160.8 994.65 1160.95 995

September 2021 1164.65 1007.3 1165 1007.35

October 2021 1160.6 1023.5 1160.1 1023.75

November 2021 1130 918.45 1130.9 918.7

December 2021 1020 860.05 1020 860.2

January 2022 942.6 781.25 941.8 781.2

February 2022 900 750 899 750

March 2022 882.55 712.35 882.9 712.25
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SBI Cards and Payment Services Ltd.’s (SBI Card’s) Share Performance v/s BSE Sensex and NSE Nifty

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENTS AND SHARE TRANSFER SYSTEM 

The Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agent for Equity Shares is Link Intime India Private Limited (“Link Intime”). All share 
transfers and related operations are conducted by Link Intime. The Registrar and Transfer Agent for Debt Securities issued by 
the Company is Zuari Finserv Limited.

SBI Card’s share price versus the NSE Nifty
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FOR EQUITY: FOR DEBT:

Link Intime India Private Limited
C-101, 1st Floor, 247 Park, Lal Bahadur Shastri Marg, 
Vikhroli (West) Mumbai – 400 083
Maharashtra, India
Telephone: +91 22 4918 6200
Email: rnt.helpdesk@linkintime.co.in
Website: www.linkintime.co.in

Zuari Finserv Limited
Zuari House,  Plot No. 2, 
Community Centre Zamrudpur,  
Kailash Colony, New Delhi - 110048
Telephone: 011-46474000, Extn. 204
Email: rta@adventz.zuarimoney.com
Website: www.zuarimoney.com

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDING AS ON MARCH 31, 2022 [Face Value of ` 10/- each];

Sr. 
No.

Shareholding of 
Shares

Number of 
Shareholders

% of Total 
Shareholders

Shares % of Total Share 
Capital

1 1 to 500 1175898 99.33 34406628 3.65
2 501 to 1000 4397 0.37 3192420 0.34
3 1001 to 2000 1653 0.14 2309476 0.24
4 2001 to 3000 472 0.04 1182007 0.13
5 3001 to 4000 198 0.02 686681 0.07
6 4001 to 5000 147 0.01 678119 0.07
7 5001 to 10000 313 0.03 2253294 0.24
8 10001 to above 716 0.06 898463864 95.26
 TOTAL : 1183794 100 943172489 100

DEMATERIALIZATION OF SHARES AND LIQUIDITY;

Trading in the Equity Shares of the Company is permitted only in dematerialized form. As on March 31, 2022, all the Equity 
Shares were held in dematerialized form except one equity share.

OUTSTANDING GDRS/ADRS/WARRANTS/ OPTIONS OR ANY CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS, CONVERSION DATE AND 
LIKELY IMPACT ON EQUITY: Total number of ESOPs in force as on March 31, 2022 –  90,65,440 (including options vested but 
not exercised).

PLANT LOCATIONS: NIL

ADDRESS FOR CORRESPONDENCE FOR SHARE TRANSFER AND RELATED MATTERS:

Ms. Payal Mittal Chhabra
Company Secretary and Compliance Officer
2nd Floor, Tower-B, Infinity Towers,
DLF Cyber City, Block 2 Building 3, DLF Phase 2,
Gurugram, Haryana 122 002, India
Telephone: +91 124 458 9803
E-mail: investor.relations@sbicard.com

Link Intime India Private Limited (Registrar & Share Transfer Agent)
C-101, 1st Floor, 247 Park, Lal Bahadur Shastri Marg, 
Vikhroli (West), Mumbai – 400 083 Maharashtra, India
Contact Person: Mr. Ashok Shetty
Telephone: +91 22 4918 6200
Email: rnt.helpdesk@linkintime.co.in
Website: www.linkintime.co.in

NAME OF THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEES WITH FULL CONTACT DETAILS:

Axis Trustee Services Limited
Registered Office: Axis House, Bombay Dyeing Mills Compound, Pandurang Budhkar Marg, Worli, Mumbai-400025
Corporate Office: The Ruby, 2nd Floor, SW, 29 Senapati Bapat Marg, Dadar west, Mumbai – 400 028
Contact: 022-62300451 Fax: 022-62300700
Contact Person: Mr. Anil Grover, General Manager, Operations Head
Email: Debenturetrustee@axistrustee.in
Website: www.axistrustee.com
SEBI Registration No.: IND000000494
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LIST OF ALL CREDIT RATINGS OBTAINED BY THE COMPANY ALONG WITH ANY REVISIONS THERETO DURING THE RELEVANT 
FINANCIAL YEAR, FOR ALL DEBT INSTRUMENTS OF THE COMPANY OR ANY FIXED DEPOSIT PROGRAMME OR ANY SCHEME 
OR PROPOSAL OF THE COMPANY INVOLVING MOBILIZATION OF FUNDS, WHETHER IN INDIA OR ABROAD:

The credit ratings of the company as at the end of March 31, 2022 are as below:

Instrument Rating Rating Agency Comments

Debentures/Bonds

Short Term Ratings 
(Bank Lines/Commercial 
Paper)

AAA/Stable CRISIL & ICRA This is highest level of ratings and Instruments with this 
rating are considered to have very strong degree of 
safety regarding timely payment of financial obligations.

Such instruments carry lowest credit risk.
A1+ CRISIL & ICRA

During the financial Year ended March 31, 2022, there were no revisions in the Credit Rating obtained by the Company. 

OTHER DISCLOSURES:

1.	 Related Party Transactions: Disclosures on materially 
significant related party transactions that may have 
potential conflict with the interests of the Company at 
large: None

	 Suitable disclosures as required by Ind AS 24 – Related 
Party Disclosures have been made in the Annual Report.

	 All the Related Party Transactions are dealt with in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations. 

	 The Company has also formulated a policy on Related 
Party Transactions. This Policy is available on the website 
of the Company and the weblink for the same is https://
www.sbicard.com/sbi-card-en/assets/docs/pdf/who-
we-are/notices/rpt-policy.pdf

2.	 Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties, 
strictures imposed on the Company by Stock 
Exchanges or SEBI or any statutory authority, on any 
matter related to capital markets, during the last 
three years:

	 There were no cases of non-compliance by the Company 
of any matter related to capital markets during the last 
three years.

3.	 Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy: 

	 In accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 the Company has 
established a Vigil Mechanism for Directors, Employees 
and other stakeholders to provide a mechanism which 
provides adequate safeguards to Employees, Directors 
and other stakeholders from any victimization on raising 
of concerns of any unethical practice/non-compliance/
irregularity observed.

	 The details of establishment of such mechanism have 
been disclosed on the website of the Company i.e. www.

sbicard.com. The policy provides every whistleblower 
access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. 
Further, it is affirmed that no personnel has been denied 
access to the Audit Committee.

4.	 Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women at 
Workplace: 

	 Your Company is sensitive to women employees at 
workplace. SBI Card has adopted a policy on prevention, 
prohibition and redressal of sexual harassment at 
workplace in line with the provisions of the Sexual 
Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 (India) and the 
Rules thereunder. This Policy is applicable to all SBI 
Card employees, including other persons who have 
dealings with the Company and operate from SBI Card’s 
workplaces, provided however that one of the party is a 
SBI Card employee.

	 The Company has complied with provisions relating 
to the constitution of Internal Complaints Committee 
required under the Sexual Harassment of Women at 
Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 
2013.

	 The details of complaints on sexual harassment under 
Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 are mentioned 
below:

a.	 number of complaints filed during the financial 
year - 1

b.	 number of complaints disposed of during the 
financial year - 1

c.	 number of complaints pending as on end of the 
financial year.- Nil

	 The above case was investigated by ICC (Internal 
Complaints Committee) members and is closed.
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5.	 Commodity Price Risk or Foreign Exchange Risk and 
Hedging Activities; 

	 The Company enters into derivative financial instruments 
such as foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate 
the risk of changes in exchange rates on foreign currency 
exposures. The counterparty for these contracts is a bank. 

	 During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company 
has designated certain foreign exchange forward 
contracts as cash flow hedges the movement in spot 
rates to mitigate the risk of foreign exchange exposure 
on underlying foreign currency exposures. Hedge 
effectiveness is determined at the inception of the 
hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective 
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic 
relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging 
instrument, including whether the hedging instrument 
is expected to offset changes in cash flows of hedged 
items. If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes 
is no longer optimal but the risk management objective 
remains unchanged and the hedge continues to qualify 
for hedge accounting and any hedge ineffectiveness is 
calculated and accounted for in the statement of profit 
or loss at the time of the hedge relationship rebalancing.

6.	 Details of utilization of funds raised through 
preferential allotment or Qualified Institutions 
Placementas specified under Regulation 32 (7A): 

	 During the financial year, the Company has not raised 
any funds through preferential allotment or Qualified 
Institutions Placement.

7.	 The Company has received a certificate dated July 7, 2022 
from Dr. S Chandrasekaran, (FCS 1644 CP No. 715) Senior 
Partner, M/s. Chandrasekaran Associates, Company 
Secretaries, certifying that none of the Directors on the 

Board of the Company as on the Financial Year ended 
March 31, 2022 have been debarred or disqualified from 
being appointed or continuing as Directors of companies 
by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs or any such other Statutory Authority. 
The Copy of the said certificate is annexed to this report. 

8.	 Web link where policy for determining ‘material’ 
subsidiaries is disclosed: Not Applicable, since the 
Company does not have any subsidiaries.

9.	 There were no instances where the Board had not 
accepted any recommendation of any Committees of the 
Board during the financial year ended March 31, 2022.

10.	 Total fees for all services paid by the Company and 
its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, to the 
statutory auditor and all entities in the network firm/
network entity of which the statutory auditor is a 
part: During the financial year ended March 31, 2022, 
the Company has paid total fees for various services 
including statutory audit, amounting to ` 0.48 Crores 
to the Statutory Auditor, namely - M/s. S. Ramanand 
Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants (Registration No. 
000990N). No fees was paid by the Company to any 
entity in the network firm/network entity of which the 
Statutory Auditor is a part. Further, the Company does 
not have any subsidiaries.

11.	 This Corporate Governance Report of the Company for 
the financial year ended March 31, 2022 is in compliance 
with the requirements of Corporate Governance under 
the Listing Regulations, as applicable.

12.	 The Company has complied with all the applicable 
requirements specified in Regulations 17 to 27 and 
clauses (b) to (i) of sub–regulation (2) of Regulation 
46 of the Listing Regulations, to the extent applicable.

13.	 Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in which directors are interested by name and amount: 

	 The Company in the ordinary course of its business issues Credit Cards to firms/companies in which directors are 
interested. The details of the same is mentioned hereunder:

(` In Crores)
Sl. 
No.

Name of the Entity Spends during FY 
21-22

Balance as on 
March 31, 2022

1 State Bank of India 0.49 0.02
2 SBI Life Insurance Co Limited 0.02 0.00
3 SBI General Insurance Company Limited 0.61 0.04
4 SBI Funds Management Limited 1.08 0.11
5 SBI Capital Markets Limited 0.11 0.01
6 SBICAP Securities Limited 0.61 0.07
7 SBICAP Ventures Limited 0.05 0.01
8 SBI DFHI Limited  0.28 0.01
9 Indian Bank Association 0.01 0.00
10 SBI SG Global Securities Services Private Limited 0.23 0.01
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14.	 Adoption of discretionary requirements specified in Part E of Schedule II of the Listing Regulations- 

a)	 Mr. Dinesh Khara is the Chairman of the Company. He is a Non- Executive Director nominated by the State Bank 
of India and is not related to the Managing Director or the Chief Executive Officer as per the definition of the term 
“relative” defined under the Companies Act, 2013.;

b)	 Half-yearly and other quarterly financial results are published in newspapers and uploaded on Company’s website 
www.sbicard.com and are also submitted to the Stock Exchanges. 

	 Further, the Company prepare presentation on financial performance on quarterly basis for its investors/analysts and 
submit the copy of the same with stock exchanges for investors information and the same were also made available 
on the Company’s official website.

c)	 Company has submitted a declaration with the stock exchanges that the Statutory Auditors of the Company have 
issued Audit Report on Audited Financial Results for year ended March 31, 2022 with unmodified opinion.

d)	 The Company has separate Internal Audit Department which periodically submit Internal Audit Reports directly to the 
Audit Committee of the Company.

15.	 Information in terms of Schedule V(F) of the Listing Regulations:

Details of Unclaimed Suspense Account provided by our Registrar and Transfer Agent are given below: 

Sr. No. Description No. of shareholder No. of shares*

1 Aggregate number of shareholders and the outstanding shares lying 
unclaimed as on April 1, 2021

6 114

2 Number of shareholders who approached listed entity for transfer of 
shares from suspense account during the year 

1 19

3 Number of shareholders to whom shares were transferred from 
suspense account during the year 

1 19

4 Aggregate Number of shareholders and the outstanding shares lying 
unclaimed as on March 31, 2022

5 95

*Voting rights on the shares outstanding in the Unclaimed Suspense Account remain frozen till the rightful owner of such shares 
claims the shares.

For and on behalf of the Board

Dinesh Khara
Chairman
DIN: 06737041

Place: Mumbai							     
Date: July 28, 2022						    

ANNEXURE- 6 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



SBI CARDS AND PAYMENT SERVICES LIMITED  
Annual Report 2021-22

www.sbicard.com 139

04-61 
STRATEGY

62-77 
MD&A

78-141 
REPORTS

142-251  
FINANCIALS

To the members of 
SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited

Sub: �Affirmation of Compliance with Code of Conduct for the Company’s Board of Directors and Senior Management 
Team 

I hereby declare that all the Board members and Senior Management Personnel as on March 31, 2022, have affirmed compliance 
with the Code of Conduct for the Company’s Board of Directors and Senior Management Team.

Rama Mohan Rao Amara
Managing Director & CEO
DIN:08951394

DECLARATION PURSUANT TO PART D OF SCHEDULE V OF SEBI (LISTING 
OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015
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To
The Members
SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited
Unit 401 & 402,4th Floor, Aggarwal Millennium
Tower E 1, 2, 3, Netaji Subhash Place, 
Wazirpur New Delhi-110034 

We have examined all relevant records of SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited (“the Company”) for the purpose of certifying 
all the conditions of the Corporate Governance under SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
for the financial year ended 31st March 2022. We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of certification.

The compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. Our examination was 
limited to the procedures and implementation thereof. This certificate is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the 
Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

On the basis of our examination of the records produced explanations and information furnished, we certify that the Company 
has complied with all the conditions of the Corporate Governance under SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015.

For Chandrasekaran Associates	
Company Secretaries
FRN: P1988DE002500
Peer Review Certificate No.: 1428/2021

Dr. S Chandrasekaran 
Senior Partner
Membership No. F1644
Certificate of Practice No. 715
UDIN: F001644D000704786

Date: July 28, 2022
Place: Delhi

CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE UNDER SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE 
REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015
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To,
The Members
SBI CARDS AND PAYMENT SERVICES LIMITED
Unit 401 & 402,4th Floor, Aggarwal Millennium
Tower E 1,2,3, Netaji Subhash Place,
Wazirpur, New Delhi-110034

We have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of SBI Cards 
and Payment Services Limited and having CIN L65999DL1998PLC093849 and having registered office at Unit 401 & 402,4th 
Floor, Aggarwal Millennium Tower E 1,2,3, Netaji Subhash Place, Wazirpur, New Delhi-110034 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the 
Company’), produced before us by the Company for the purpose of issuing this Certificate, in accordance with Regulation 34(3) 
read with Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the verifications (including Directors Identification Number 
(DIN) status at the portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to us by the Company & its 
officers, We hereby certify that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below for the financial year ending 
on March 31, 2022 have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as Directors of companies by the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such other Statutory Authority.

Sr. No. Name of Director DIN Original Date of 
appointment in Company

1. Dinesh Khara 06737041 01/11/2016

2. Ashwini Kumar Tewari 08797991 05/04/2021

3. Rama Mohan Rao Amara 08951394 30/01/2021

4. Mihir Narayan Prasad Mishra 08321878 18/06/2021

5. Tejendra Mohan Bhasin 03091429 28/06/2019

6. Rajendra Kumar Saraf 02730755 14/08/2019

7. Dinesh Kumar Mehrotra 00142711 14/11/2019

8. Anuradha Shripad Nadkarni 05338647 14/11/2019

9. Shriniwas Yeshwant Joshi 05189697 04/12/2020

Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment / continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the management 
of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these based on our verification. This certificate is neither an 
assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has 
conducted the affairs of the Company.

For Chandrasekaran Associates
Company Secretaries
FRN: P1988DE002500
Peer Review Certificate No.: 1428/2021

Dr. S Chandrasekaran
Senior Partner 
Membership No. F1644
Certificate of Practice No. 715
UDIN:F001644D000583621

Date:  July 7, 2022
Place: Delhi

CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
[Pursuant to Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10)(i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015]
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To the Members of 
SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 
SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited (“the Company”), 
which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2022, the 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 
Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Cash Flow 
Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the  financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter 
referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid  
financial statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required 
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the 
Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS”) and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs 
of the Company as at March 31, 2022, and its profit and total 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and its cash flows 
for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (“SAs”) specified under Section 143(10) of 

the Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under 
those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute 
of Chartered accountants of India (“ICAI”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements under the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the financial statements. 
The extent to which the Covid-19 pandemic will impact the 
Company’s financial performance is dependent on future 
developments, which are highly uncertain.

Our Opinion is not modified is respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
We have determined the matters described below to be the 
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Sr. 
No.

Key Audit Matters Auditor’s Response

1. Accuracy of recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosures of Impairment of financial assets (Expected Credit 
Loss) in view of adoption of Ind AS 109 “Financial Instruments”

In accordance with IND AS 109, the Company applies expected 
credit losses (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of 
impairment loss on the financial assets measured at amortised 
cost. For recognition of impairment loss on Loans to customers, 
where no significant increase in credit risk has been observed, 
such assets are classified in “Stage 1”, loans that are considered 
to have significant increase in credit risk are considered to be 
in “Stage 2” and those which are in default or for which there 
is an objective evidence of impairment are considered to be in 
“Stage 3”. Credit risk is measured using Probability of Default 
(PD), Exposure of Default (EAD), Loss Given Default (LGD).

Principal Audit Procedures

Our audit procedures relating to the allowance for 
credit losses included the following, among others:

•	 Compliance of the Company’s accounting policies 
in relation to impairment allowance with Ind AS 
109 was assessed.

•	 We evaluated the appropriateness of the ECL 
model chosen, assessed the reasonableness of the 
assumptions and estimates and completeness of 
information used in the estimation of Probability 
of Default and Loss Given Default.

•	 Portfolio categorization into appropriate stages 
(Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3) for purposes of 
measurement of ECL was analysed on the basis of 
their past-due status.
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Sr. 
No.

Key Audit Matters Auditor’s Response

Further, for corporate portfolio, Company’s credit risk function 
also segregates loans with specific risk characteristics based 
on trigger events identified using sufficient and credible 
information available from internal sources supplemented by 
external data. Impairment allowance for these exposures are 
reviewed and accounted on a case by case basis.

The current ECL model does not cater to future economic 
deterioration expected due to COVID-19 fall out and it is based 
on past historical data. However, additional management 
overlay has been provided on stress segments portfolio of loan 
and advances, duly approved by the Board of Directors.

Considering the degree of estimation involved in the model 
and computation of impairment loss allowance along with 
the significance of the amount and its impact on the financial 
statements of the company, this area has been considered as a 
Key Audit Matter.

Refer Note 38.1.2 to the Financial Statements

•	 Review of additional management overlay, 
particularly in response to COVID- 19 
pandemic situation, by critically evaluating the 
stress segments that have been identified by 
management and approved by Board of Directors 
through overlays. We also tested management’s 
workings supporting the overlay quantum.

• 	 Assessed disclosures in the financial statements 
in respect of expected credit losses including the 
specific disclosures made with regards to the 
impact of COVID-19 on ECL estimation.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Information Other than the Financial Statements 
and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Management 
Discussion and Analysis, Board’s Report including Annexures 
to Board’s Report and Business Responsibility Report, 
Corporate Governance and Shareholder’s Information, but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the 
preparation and presentation of these financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial 
performance, total comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the 
Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules,2015, as amended, and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India. This responsibility also includes 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to 
the preparation and presentation of the financial statements 
that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 



SBI CARDS AND PAYMENT SERVICES LIMITED  
Annual Report 2021-22

144 www.sbicard.com

responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Board of directors are responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from 
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatement 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercised 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the Company has 
adequate internal financial controls system in place and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial 
statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it probable 
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable 
user of the financial statements may be influenced. We 
consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in 
(i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating 
the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any 
identified misstatements in the financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 
2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government 
of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of 
the Act, we give in the Annexure “1”, a statement on 
the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the said 
Order, to the extent as applicable.

2.	 The Comptroller and Auditor General of India has issued 
the directions and sub directions indicating the areas to 
be examined in terms of sub section (5) of section 143 of 
the Companies Act, 2013, the compliance of which is set 
out in Annexure “2”.

3.	 As required by section 143(3) of the Act based on our 
audit, we report that:

a.	 We have sought and obtained all the information 
and explanations which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our 
audit;

b.	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books;

c.	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss 
including Other Comprehensive Income, Statement 
of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement 
dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the 
books of account;

d.	 In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements 
comply with the Indian Accounting Standards 
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules,2015, as amended;

e.	 On the basis of the written representations received 
from the directors as at March 31, 2022 and taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the 
directors is disqualified as at March 31,2022 from 
being appointed as director in terms section 164(2) 
of the Act;

f.	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate Report in Annexure 
“3”. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion 

on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporting; and

g.	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as 
amended

	 In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, the 
remuneration paid by the Company to its directors 
during the year is in accordance with the provisions 
of section 197 of the Act.

h.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in 
our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us:

i.	 The Company has disclosed the impact of 
pending litigations on its financial position in 
its Financial Statements - Refer Note 45 to the 
Financial Statements;

ii.	 The Company did not have any long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts;

iii.	 There were no amounts which were required 
to be transferred to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Company.

iv.	 (a)	� Management has represented that, to the 
best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 
(which are material either individually or 
in the aggregate) have been advanced or 
loaned or invested (either from borrowed 
funds or share premium or any other 
sources or kind of funds) by the Company 
to or in any other person or entity, including 
foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified 
in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf 
of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security or the 
like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

	 (b)	� The Management has represented, that, 
to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
no funds(which are material either 
individually or in aggregate) have been 
received by the Company from any person 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding 
Parties”),with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, that 
the Company shall, whether, directly or 
indirectly, lend or invest in other persons 
or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding 
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

	 (c)	� Based on the audit procedures that 
have been considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing 
has come to our notice that has caused us 
to believe that the representations under 
sub-clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e) as 
provided under (a) and (b) above, contain 
any material misstatement.

v.	 The Company has declared interim dividend 
during the year which is in accordance with 
Section 123 of the Act.

For S. Ramanand Aiyar & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration Number: 000990N

R. Balasubramanian 
Partner 
Membership No. 080432 
UDIN: 22080432AICETM2616

Place: Gurugram 
Date: April 29, 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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i)	 In respect of Company’s Property, Plant and Equipment:

(a)	 (A)	� The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of Property, Plant and 
Equipment

	 (B)	� The Company has maintained proper details 
records showing full particulars of Intangible 
assets

(b)	 The Company has a regular programme of physical 
verification of Property, Plant and Equipment by 
which all fixed assets are verified, over the period 
of two years. In our opinion, this periodicity of 
physical verification is reasonable having regard to 
the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. 
According to the information and explanations 
given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed 
on such verification.

(c)	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records, Company, is not having any immovable 
property. Hence, reporting under Clause 3(i)(c) of 
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d)	 The Company has not revalued any of its Property, 
Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use Assets) 
and intangible assets during the year

(e)	 No proceedings have been initiated during the year 
or are pending against the Company as at March 
31, 2022 for holding any benami property under 
the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as 
amended in 2016) and rules made thereunder.

ii)	 (a)	� The Company is a NBFC and in the business of credit 
card services. Accordingly, it does not hold any 
physical inventories. Hence, reporting under clause 
3(ii)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b) The Company has been sanctioned working capital 
limits in excess of ` 5 Crores, in aggregate, from 
banks or financial institutions on the basis of 
security of current assets. As per the information 
and explanations given to us, the quarterly returns 
or statements filed by the Company with the banks 
or financial institutions are in agreement with the 
books of account of the Company.

iii)	 The Company has made investments in, provided any 
guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in 
the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, 
firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties 
during the year, in respect of which:

(a)	 The Company is a NBFC and in the business of 
credit card services, in the nature of credit to 

the customers, which are treated as loans in the 
financial statements. Hence, reporting under clause 
3(iii)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b)	 In our opinion, the investment made and the terms 
and conditions of the grant of loans, during the year 
are, prima facie, not prejudicial to the Company’s 
interest.

(c)	 In respect of loans and advances in the nature of 
loans, the schedule of repayment of principal and 
payments of interest has been stipulated and the 
repayments of principal amounts and receipts of 
interest are generally been regular as per stipulation.

(d)	 As per the information and explanations provided to 
us, there are over dues amount (as stipulated below) 
for more than ninety days, and reasonable steps 
have been taken by the Company for the recovery 
of the principal and interest. [Refer Note No 61.7]

[` In Crores]

Number 
of Cases 
(Borrowers)

Principal 
Balance

Interest 
Balance

Other 
Fees

Total

122586 509.91 100.47 83.04 693.42

(e)	 The Company is a NBFC and in the business of 
credit card services, in the nature of credit to 
the customers, which are treated as loans in the 
financial statements. Hence, reporting under clause 
3(iii)(e) of the Order is not applicable.

(f)	 The Company has not granted any loans or advances 
in the nature of loans either repayable on demand or 
without specifying any terms or period of repayment 
during the year. Hence, reporting under clause 3(iii)
(f) of the Order is not applicable.

iv)	 In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has complied with 
the provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Companies 
Act in respect of loans granted, investment made.

	 The Company has given credit card advances-of ` 0.06 
Crores to eleven Directors and 0.27 Crores to twelve 
related parties in the ordinary course of business. [Refer 
Note no 9]

v)	 According to the information and explanations given to 
us, and on the basis of our examination of the records 
of the Company, the Company has not accepted any 
deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits 
from public during the year within the meaning of 
sections 73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the 
Companies Act and Rules made there under.

vi)	 The maintenance of cost records has not been specified 
by the Central Government under section 148(1) of the 

ANNEXURE “1” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in Paragraph 1 under ‘Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirement of our report to the Members 
of SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited of even date
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Companies Act for the business activities carried out by the Company. Hence, reporting under clause 3(vi) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

vii)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues:

(a)	 In our opinion, the Company has generally been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues including Goods and 
Service Tax, Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, duty of custom, duty of 
Excise, Value Added Tax, Cess and other material statutory dues applicable to it with the appropriate authorities.

(b)	 Details of statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a) above which have not been deposited as on March 31, 2022 on 
account of disputes are given below:

Name of the 
Statute

Nature of the Dues Amount 
(` Crores)

Period to which the 
amount relates

Forum where 
dispute is pending

Service Tax 1.	 Demand of service tax on unbilled 
revenue in case of associated 
enterprises

10.39 FY 2007-08 to FY 
2011-12

Customs, Excise and 
Service tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chandigarh

2.	 Demand of Service tax on 
difference between the gross 
amounts appearing in income tax 
return vs the service tax return

Service Tax 1.	 Service tax liability on reverse 
charge basis for payments made to 
service providers situated outside 
India.

2.	 On alleged wrongful availment of 
CENVAT credit in respect of call 
center services.

1.40* FY 2003-04 to FY 
2007-08

Customs, Excise and 
Service tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chandigarh

Service Tax Service Tax demand on Incentive 
Income

0.60 F.Y. 2007-08 to 2008-
09

Customs, Excise and 
Service tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chandigarh

Service Tax Demand of Service tax in respect of 
Master card charges due to Service tax 
not deposited on grossed up basis

13.13* FY 2012-13 to 2017-
18

Customs, Excise and 
Service tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chandigarh

Service Tax Service Tax demand on Incentive 
Income

0.30 F.Y. 2009-10 Customs, Excise and 
Service tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chandigarh

Service Tax Demand of CENVAT Credit of Service 
tax availed on group medical insurance 
and group life insurance services of 
employees and family members

0.21* FY 2008-09 to 2010-
11

Customs, Excise and 
Service tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chandigarh

Income Tax 
Act, 1961

Redemption of VISA Shares and 
Advertisement Expenses 

1.98 Assessment Year 
2008-09

High Court, Delhi

Employees 
State 
Insurance Act, 
1948

Failure to pay ESI Contribution on 
payment made to various contractors 

2.53 * FY 2014-15 E.S.I. Court, Gurgaon

Employees 
Provident 
Fund Act,1952

Differential of PF amount on account of 
statutory limit

4.55 FY 2014 to 2019 EPF Organisation, 
Gurgaon

Total 35.09

*against the above liability amount (includes Interest and Penalty), ` 2 Crores has been deposited.

ANNEXURE “1” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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ANNEXURE “1” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

viii)	 There were no transactions relating to previously 
unrecorded income that have been surrendered 
or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 
1961).

ix)	 (a)	� According to the records of the Company examined 
by us and the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment 
of loans or other borrowings or in the payment of 
interest thereon to any lender.

(b)	 According to the records of the Company examined 
by us and the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has not been declared wilful 
defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
Other lender;

(c)	 According to the records of the Company examined 
by us and the information and explanations given to 
us, the term loans were applied for the purpose for 
which the loans were obtained;

(d)	 According to the records of the Company examined 
by us and the information and explanations given to 
us, the funds raised on short term basis have, prima 
facie, not been used during the year for long -term 
purposes by the Company;

e)	 According to the records of the Company examined 
by us and the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has not taken any funds from 
any entity or person on account of or to meet the 
obligations of its subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures.

f)	 According to the records of the Company examined 
by us and the information and explanations given to 
us, the Company has not raised loans during the year 
on the pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries, 
joint ventures or associate companies.

x)	 (a)	� The Company did not raise moneys by way of initial 
public offer or further public offer (including debt 
instruments) during the year. Hence, reporting 
under clause 3 (x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b)	 During the year, the Company has not made any 
preferential allotment or private placement of 
shares or convertible debentures (fully or partly or 
optionally). Hence, reporting under clause 3 (x)(b) 
of the Order is not applicable.

xi)	 (a)	� According to information and explanations given 
to us, no fraud by the Company and no material 
fraud on the Company has been noticed or reported 
during the year. However, certain instances of 
customer frauds on the Company have been 

reported during the year. As informed, these 
primarily relate to fraudulent usage of credit cards 
issued by the Company. During the financial year 
2021-22, the total amount involved in such frauds 
was ` 0.97 Crores and the recovery against this 
amount (pertaining to current year as well as the 
previous years) is ` 1 Crore.

	 During the year, two employees, since terminated, 
had committed fraud on the Company of ` 0.37 
Crores. Recovery of ` 0.03 Crores has been made 
against such fraud.

(b)	 No report under section (12) of section 143 of 
the Companies Act has been filed in Form ADT-
4 as prescribed under rule 13 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central 
Government, during the year and up the date of this 
report.

(c)	 Whistle blower complaints have been considered by 
us during the year (and up to the date of this report), 
while determining the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures.

xii)	 In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi 
company. Hence, reporting under clause 3(xii) of the 
Order is not applicable.

xiii)	 According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, transactions with the related parties are in 
compliance with sections 177 and 188 of Companies Act, 
where applicable and details of such transactions have 
been disclosed in the financial statements as required by 
the applicable Accounting Standards.

xiv)	 (a)	� In our opinion, the Company has an adequate 
internal audit system commensurate with the size 
and the nature of its business.

(b)	 We have considered, the internal audit reports for 
the year under audit, issued to the Company during 
the year and till date, in determining the nature, 
timing and extent of our audit procedures.

xv)	 According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, the Company has not entered into non-cash 
transactions with Directors or persons connected with 
them.

xvi)	 (a)	� The Company is a Non-Deposit accepting 
Systemically Important Non-Banking Financial 
Company (NBFC-ND-SI) registered with Reserve 
Bank of India (RBI) vide Registration Number 
14.01328 under section 45 IA of the RBI Act,1934.
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(b)	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records, 
the Company has not conducted any Non-Banking 
Financial activities without a valid Certificate of 
Registration (COR) from the Reserve Bank of India 
as per the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

(c)	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of the 
records, the Company is not a Core Investment 
Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made 
by the Reserve Bank of India. Hence, reporting 
under clause 3(xvi)(c) and (d) of the Order is not 
applicable

xvii)	The Company has not incurred cash losses during the 
financial year covered by our audit and the immediately 
preceding financial year.

xviii)	There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors 
of the Company during the year.

xix)	 According to the information and explanations given 
to us and on the basis of the financial ratios, ageing 
and expected dates of realization of financial assets 
and payment of financial liabilities, other information 
accompanying the financial statements and our 
knowledge of the plans of the Board of Directors and 
Management; we are of the opinion that no material 
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report and 
that the Company is capable of meeting its liabilities 
existing at the date of Balance Sheet as and when they 
fall due within a period of one year from the Balance 
Sheet date. However, we cannot give an assurance as 
to the future viability of the Company. We further state 
that our reporting is based on the financial position up 
to the date of the audit report and we neither give any 
guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due 

within a period of one year from the Balance Sheet date, 
will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall 
due.

xx)	 (a)	� There are no unspent amounts towards Corporate 
Social Responsibilities (CSR) on other than ongoing 
projects requiring a transfer to a Fund specified in 
Schedule VII to the Companies Act in compliance 
with second proviso to sub-section (5) of Section 
135 of the said Act.  Hence, reporting under clause 
3(XX)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b)	 In respect of ongoing projects, the Company has 
transferred unspent Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) amount to a Special account within a period 
of 30 days from the end of the financial year in 
compliance with the provision of section 135 (6) of 
the Companies Act.

xxi)	 The reporting under clause (xxi) is not applicable in 
respect of audit of standalone financial statements of 
a Company. Hence, reporting under clause 3(xxi) of the 
Order is not applicable.

For S. Ramanand Aiyar & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration Number: 000990N

R. Balasubramanian 
Partner 
Membership No. 080432 
UDIN: 22080432AICETM2616

Place: Gurugram 
Date: April 29, 2022

ANNEXURE “1” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Report on directions and Sub- directions issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under section 143(5) 
of Companies Act 2013 on accounts of SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited for the year ended March 31, 2022.

Directions for the year 2021-22

Particulars Compliance of Directions 

I Whether the company has system in place to process all 
the accounting transactions through IT system? If yes, 
the implications of processing of accounting transactions 
outside IT system on the integrity of the accounts along with 
the financial implications, if any, may be stated.

Yes. The Company has IT systems in place for recording/
accounting of transactions.

Based on the verification carried out by us during the 
course of our audit and based on the information and 
explanations given to us, we have not come across any 
instance having significant implications on the integrity 
of accounts.

II Whether there is any restructuring of an existing loan or 
cases of waiver/write off of debs/loans/interest etc. made 
by a lender to the company due to company’s inability to 
repay the loan? If yes, the financial impact may be stated. 
Whether, such cases are properly accounted for? 

(In case lender is a government company then this direction 
is also applicable for statutory auditor of lender company).

There are no such cases in the current financial year.

III Whether funds (grants/ subsidy etc.) received/receivable 
for specific schemes from Central/State agencies were 
properly accounted for/utilized as per its term and 
conditions? List the cases of deviation.

No amount has been received/ receivable during the 
year as grants/subsidy from Central/State agencies.

Sub-Directions under section 143(5) of Companies Act 2013 for the year ended March 31, 2022.
On the basis of the books of accounts of the Company, the reply to questions and /or information required is supplied as 
under: -

1. Investments

Whether the titles of ownership in respect of CGS/
SGS/ Bonds/ Debentures etc. are available in 
physical/demat form and these, in aggregate, agree 
with the respective amounts shown in the Company’s 
books of accounts? If not, details may be stated.

The investments of the Company as on March 31, 2022 are 
as under:

1.	 1001 shares Invested in SBI Foundation, allotted on 
January 2017. These shares are in physical form and 
the amount of investment is in agreement with amount 
shown in the Company’s books of account.

2. 	 112,996 shares invested in Online PSB Loans Limited 
(formerly known as Capita World Platform Pvt. Ltd) 
in July 2018. These shares are in demat form and the 
investment is in agreement with Company’s books of 
account.

3. 	 During the year, the Company has invested in Government 
securities and T-Bill. These securities are in demat form 
with Bank of Baroda. As on March 31, 2022, Government 
Security having face value of ` 385.00 Crores and T-Bill 
having face value of ` 995.00 Crores have been invested 
and are in agreement with Company’s books of account.

ANNEXURE “2” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in Paragraph 2 under ‘Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirement of our Report to the Members 
of SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited of even date)
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4. During the year, the Company had Investments in liquid 
schemes of Mutual Funds for a short duration. These 
transactions are supported by statements.

2 Loans

In respect of provisioning requirement of all 
restructured, rescheduled, renegotiated loan-whether 
a system of periodical assessment of realisable value 
of securities available against all such loans is in place 
and adequate provision has been created during the 
year? Any deficiencies in this regard, if any, may be 
suitably commented upon along with financial impact.

The Company offers restructuring of the outstanding 
advances in equitable monthly instalments to customers, 
who have shown willingness to pay; but are unable to make 
the required payment on account of financial stress. All such 
advances are classified as unsecured and are treated as part 
of Non-Performing Assets which are classified as Stage 3 
assets. As per the Company’s policy, adequate provision is 
created on such assets as per ECL computation against the 
total outstanding of such advances. As on March 31, 2022, 
total outstanding of such restructured advances stands at ` 
3.16 Crores against which a provision of ` 2.04 crores has 
been made in the books of account.

3. Whether the security control for digital payment 
products and services are in compliance with the 
directions of RBI for Digital Payment Security Control 
Dated 18 February 2021.

The RBI Master Direction on Digital Payment Security Controls 
dated February 18, 2021, has provided necessary guidelines 
(69 General Controls as defined in Para 4 to Para 73 of the 
said Master Direction) for the Regulated Entities (REs) to set 
up a robust governance structure and implement common 
minimum standards of security controls for digital payment 
products and services. 

The Company is compliant in respect of directions (General 
Controls) contained at Paragraphs 4 to 73 except for 
Paragraphs 8 and 44.

In respect of General Control specified in Paragraph 8, the 
Company has represented that their core digital payment 
applications, namely the transaction authorization system 
(Vision+), transaction fraud monitoring system (Falcon), multi-
factor authentication system (WIBMO) are PCI-DSS compliant 
and certified. Furthermore, they are working towards attaining 
PCI-DSS compliance certification for the remaining auxiliary / 
supplementary systems which is expected to be completed 
by June 2023.

In respect of General Control specified in Paragraph 44, the 
Company has represented that to comply in this respect, 
they are dependent on the Network Partners and that they 
have made a representation to RBI vide letter CEO/2020/159 
dated December 19, 2020. 

In respect of General Controls specified in Paragraphs 54, 68, 
69 and 71, the Company has represented that these are not 
applicable to them.

ANNEXURE “2” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause 
(i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting of SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited (“the 
Company”) as at March 31, 2022 in conjunction with our 
audit of the financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended on that date. 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls 
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining internal financial controls based on the 
internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of 
internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence 
to Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required 
under the Companies Act, 2013. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls over financial reporting based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over 
Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards 
on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed 
under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the 
extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, 
both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls. 
Those standards issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance 
Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether adequate internal financial controls over 
financial reporting was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting and their operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system 
over financial reporting. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over 
Financial Reporting 
A Company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of   financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A Company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
Management and Directors of the Company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
over Financial Reporting 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting, including the possibility 
of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and 
not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 
internal financial controls over financial reporting to future 
periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 
control over financial reporting may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the Company has, in all 
material respects, an adequate internal financial control 
system over financial reporting and such internal financial 
controls over financial reporting were operating effectively 
as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal control over 
financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

 
For S. Ramanand Aiyar & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration Number: 000990N

R. Balasubramanian 
Partner 
Membership No. 080432 
UDIN: 22080432AICETM2616

Place: Gurugram 
Date: April 29, 2022

ANNEXURE – “3” TO THE AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in Paragraph 3 under ‘Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirement of our report to the Members 
of SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited of even date



SBI CARDS AND PAYMENT SERVICES LIMITED  
Annual Report 2021-22

154 www.sbicard.com

BALANCE SHEET  
AS AT MARCH 31, 2022

As per our report of even date attached
For S. Ramanand Aiyar & Co.	
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. :000990N

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

R. Balasubramanian
Partner
Membership No. : 080432

Rama Mohan Rao Amara
Managing Director & CEO
DIN: 08951394

Shriniwas Yeshwant Joshi	
Director	
DIN: 05189697	

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Place: Gurugram
Date  : April 29, 2022

 Place: Gurugram/Mumbai 
 Date  : April 29, 2022

(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

Note No. As at 
March 31, 2022

As at  
 March 31, 2021

ASSETS
1	 Financial assets
	 (a)	 Cash and cash equivalents 5  758.16  643.20 
	 (b)	 Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 6  348.23  76.90 
	 (c) 	 Derivative financial instruments 7  -    0.10 
	 (d) 	 Trade receivables 8  168.47  81.52 
	 (e) 	 Loans 9  30,187.25  23,459.14 
	 (f) 	 Investments 10  1,297.19  957.56 
	 (g) 	 Other financial assets 11  213.32  194.87 
	 Total financial assets  32,972.62  25,413.29 
2	 Non- financial assets	
	 (a) 	 Current tax assets (net) 12  41.24  52.47 
	 (b) 	 Deferred tax assets (net) 13  218.53  395.09 
	 (c) 	 Property plant and equipment 14  39.20  56.46 
	 (d) 	 Capital work in progress 14  0.49  0.49 
	 (e) 	 Intangible assets under development 14  13.75  9.58 
	 (f) 	 Intangible assets 14  116.41  89.66 
	 (g) 	 Right-of-use assets 14  283.85  161.98 
	 (h) 	 Other non-financial assets 15  962.34  833.84 
	 Total non-financial assets  1,675.81  1,599.57 
	 Total Assets ( 1+2)  34,648.43  27,012.86 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
1	 Financial liabilities
	 (a)	 Payables 16
	 (I)	 Trade payables
		  (i)	� total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  36.26  -   
		  (ii)	� total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises 

and small enterprises
 1,080.54  881.38 

	 (II)	 Other payables
		  (i)	� total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  -    -   
		  (ii)	� total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises 

and small enterprises
 10.87  11.34 

	 (b) 	 Debt securities 17  7,106.34  5,932.93 
	 (c) 	 Borrowings (other than Debt Securities) 18  14,680.10  10,663.52 
	 (d) 	 Subordinated liabilities 19  1,196.02  1,298.33 
	 (e) 	 Other financial liabilities 20  1,572.69  876.10 
	 Total financial liabilities  25,682.82  19,663.60 
2	 Non- financial liabilities
	 (a) 	 Provisions 21  477.39  409.65 
	 (b) 	 Other non-financial liabilities 22  735.52  637.58 
	 Total non-financial liabilities  1,212.91  1,047.23 
	 Total liabilities ( 1+2)  26,895.73  20,710.83 
3	 Equity
	 (a) 	 Equity share capital 23  943.18  940.53 
	 (b) 	 Other equity 24  6,809.52  5,361.50 
	 Total equity  7,752.70  6,302.03 
	 Total liabilities and equity (1+2+3)  34,648.43  27,012.86 
See accompanying notes to the financial statements 1 to 61
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

Note 
No.

For the year ended 
March 31, 2022 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

1 Revenue from operations
(i) Interest Income 25  4,866.03  4,946.65 
(ii) Fees and commission  income 26  5,226.56  3,907.67 
(iii) Net gain on fair value changes 27  -    0.53 
(iv) Sale of services  132.19  134.18 
(v) Business development incentive income  447.61  299.18 
(vi) Insurance commission income  4.88  8.25 

Total revenue from operations  10,677.27  9,296.46 
2 Other income 28  624.25  417.12 
3 Total income (1+2)  11,301.52  9,713.58 
4 Expenses
(i) Finance costs 29  1,027.32  1,043.40 
(ii) Fees and Commission expenses  1,022.63  606.73 
(iii) Net loss on fair value changes 27  0.10  -   
(iv) Net loss on derecognition of financial instruments under 

amortised cost category
51  1.71  61.45 

(v) Impairment on financial instruments 30  2,255.84  2,638.55 
(vi) Employee benefits expenses 31  472.71  491.58 
(vii) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 32  148.56  123.26 
(viii) Operating and other expenses 33  4,200.49  3,424.88 

Total expenses  9,129.36  8,389.85 
5 Profit before tax (3-4)  2,172.16  1,323.73 
6 Tax expense: 34

Current tax charge / (credit)  382.88  463.48 
Deferred tax charge / (credit)  173.14  (124.27)
Total tax expenses  556.02  339.21 

7 Profit for the Period (5-6)  1,616.14  984.52 
8 Other comprehensive income

A. Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
	 - Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities / (asset)  6.89  7.42 
	 - Tax impact on above  (1.73)  (1.87)
	 - Gain/(loss) on equity investment through OCI  6.72  9.74 
	 - Tax impact on above  (1.69)  (2.45)
Subtotal (A)  10.19  12.84 
B. Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
	 - Gain/(loss) on forward contracts in hedging relationship  -    -   
	 - Tax impact on above  -    -   
Subtotal (B)  -    -   
Other comprehensive income ( A+B )  10.19  12.84 

9 Total comprehensive income for the period (7+8)  1,626.33  997.36 
10 Earnings per equity share : 35

(1) Basic (`)  17.16  10.48 
(2) Diluted (`)  17.02  10.38 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 1 to 61

As per our report of even date attached
For S. Ramanand Aiyar & Co.	
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. :000990N

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

R. Balasubramanian
Partner
Membership No. : 080432

Rama Mohan Rao Amara
Managing Director & CEO
DIN: 08951394

Shriniwas Yeshwant Joshi	
Director	
DIN: 05189697	

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Place: Gurugram
Date  : April 29, 2022

 Place: Gurugram/Mumbai 
 Date  : April 29, 2022
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

For the year ended 
March 31, 2022 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

A.	 Cash flow from operating activities
	 Profit before tax for the year  2,172.16  1,323.73 
	 Adjustments for :
	 Depreciation and amortisation expense  148.56  123.26 
	 Liabilities written back  (0.75)  (8.87)
	 Impairment losses & bad debts  2,255.96  2,638.55 
	� Net loss on derecognition of financial instruments under amortised cost 

category 
 1.71  61.45 

	 Other interest income  (46.05)  (22.91)
	 Cash inflow from interest income  47.58  16.65 
	 Share based payments  22.79  30.18 
	 Finance cost  1,027.32  1,043.40 
	 Unrealised foreign exchange (Gain)/loss (net)  (1.44)  (0.11)
	 Loss/ (Profit) on sale of property, plant & equipment  0.63  0.18 
	 Profit on sale on investments  (0.40)  (0.18)
	 Fair valuation of derivatives  0.10  (0.53)
	 Operating profit before working capital changes  5,628.17 5,204.80 
	 Adjustment for changes in working capital
	 Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in operating assets:
	 Bank balance other than cash & cash equivalent  (271.33)  84.55 
	 Trade receivables  (87.25)  (27.25)
	 Other financial assets  (18.30)  29.38 
	 Other non-financial assets  (236.76)  62.49 
	 Loans  (8,984.83)  (3,347.15)
	 Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:    
	 Other financial liabilities  567.40  235.47 
	 Other non-financial liabilities  97.94  44.11 
	 Provisions  74.79  (179.56)
	 Trade payables  237.05  164.61 
	 Cash from/ (used) in operations before taxes (2,993.12)  2,271.45   
	 Finance Cost Paid   (1,026.69)    (1,096.30)  
	 Cash from/ (used) in operations before taxes   (4,019.81)    1,175.15   
	 Direct taxes paid (net of refunds)   (371.65)    (482.83)  
	 Net cash generated/ (used) in operating activities   (4,391.46)   692.32 
B.  	 Cash flow from investing activities
 	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  (99.92)   (56.95)  
	 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets    0.03       0.09   
	 Purchase of investments    (3,761.55)      (1,404.57)  
	 Proceedes from investment    3,323.32       464.65   
	 Net cash used in investing activities (B)   (538.12)    (996.78) 

(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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For the year ended 
March 31, 2022 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

C.	 Cash flow from financing activities
	� Proceeds from issue of share capital (including security premium and 

share pending allotment) 
 37.34  27.17 

	 Proceeds from debt securities  4,254.51  6,448.90 
	 Repayment of debt securities  (3,106.88)  (6,262.78)
	 Borrowings (other than debt securities)  4,016.50  365.54 
	 Repayment of subordinated liabilities  (100.00)  -   
	 Interim dividend paid (Including dividend distribution tax)  -    (93.83)
	 Payment of lease liabilities  (56.93)  (53.25)
	 Net cash (used) / generated in financing activities (C) 5,044.54   431.75   
D.	 Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)   114.96     127.29   
	 Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year    643.20     515.91   
	 Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year    758.16   643.20

Note:							     

1.	 The  Cash Flow Statement has been prepared in accordance with the ‘Indirect Method’ specified in Ind AS 7, Statement 
of Cash Flows, as per Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

As per our report of even date attached
For S. Ramanand Aiyar & Co.	
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. :000990N

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

R. Balasubramanian
Partner
Membership No. : 080432

Rama Mohan Rao Amara
Managing Director & CEO
DIN: 08951394

Shriniwas Yeshwant Joshi	
Director	
DIN: 05189697	

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Place: Gurugram
Date  : April 29, 2022

 Place: Gurugram/Mumbai 
 Date  : April 29, 2022

(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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1	 Company overview
	 SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited, (“the Company” 

or “SBI Card”) was incorporated on May 15, 1998 and 
is engaged in the business of issuing credit cards to 
consumers in India. The Company’s registered office is 
at Netaji Subhash Place, Wazirpur, New Delhi – 110034 
and its principal place of business is at DLF Infinity 
Towers, Gurugram, Haryana-122002 and is domiciled in 
India. The Company was incorporated as a joint venture 
between State Bank of India and GE Capital Mauritius 
Overseas Investment with a shareholding of 60% and 
40% respectively. On December 15, 2017, GE Capital 
Mauritius Overseas Investments sold its entire stake 
(40%) in the Company to State Bank of India (14%) and 
CA Rover Holdings (26%).

	 During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company 
was converted to Public Limited from Private Limited, 
and Registrar of Companies has issued fresh certificate of 
incorporation dated August 20, 2019.Further on March 
12, 2020 fresh equity shares were allotted pursuant to 
Initial Public Offer (IPO) and Company was listed with 
effect from March 16, 2020 on Bombay Stock Exchange 
(BSE) and National Stock Exchange of India (NSE).

	 The Company is a Non-Deposit accepting Systemically 
Important Non-Banking Financial Company (NBFC-ND-
SI) registered with Reserve Bank of India (RBI) vide 
Registration Number 14.01328 under section 45-IA 
of the RBI Act,1934. Accordingly, all provisions of the 
Reserve Bank Act, 1934 and all directions, guidelines or 
instructions of the RBI that have been issued from time to 
time and are in force and as applicable to a Non-Banking 
Financial Company are applicable to the company.

	 The Company also acts as corporate insurance agent for 
selling insurance policies to credit card customers. The 
Company has been granted license on March 01, 2012 
by the Insurance Regulatory & Development Authority 
(IRDA) under the Insurance Regulatory & Development 
Authority (Insurance brokers) regulations, 2002 to act as 
a corporate insurance agent, valid up to March 31, 2025.

	 On April 29, 2022 the Board of Directors approved the 
financial statement of the Company and recommended 
for consideration and adoption by the shareholders in its 
Annual General Meeting.

2	 Compliance with IND-AS’s

2.1	 Statement of Compliance

	 These financial statements of the Company are prepared 
in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind 
AS) under the historical cost convention on the accrual 
basis except for certain financial instruments that are 

measured at fair values, the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) (to the extent notified).

	 Further the Company has complied with all the directions 
related to implementation of Indian Accounting Standards 
prescribed for Non-Banking Finance Company [NBFC] in 
accordance with Reserve Bank of India [RBI] notification 
dated March 13, 2020.

	 Accounting policies have been consistently applied 
except where a newly issued accounting standard is 
initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting 
standard requires a change in the accounting policy 
hitherto in use.

3	 Basis of preparation of financial statements

3.1	 Use of estimates

	 The preparation of the Company’s financial statements 
is in conformity with the financial reporting framework 
applicable to the Company requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of assets and 
liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Examples of such estimates include 
provision for expected credit loss, estimated useful life of 
Tangible Assets and provisions and contingent liabilities. 
Actual results may differ from the estimates used in 
preparing the accompanying financial statements. Any 
changes in estimates are recognised prospectively. Refer 
Note 4.16 for critical estimates and judgements applied 
in preparation of financial statements.

	 The financial statements are prepared on a going concern 
basis, as the Management is satisfied that the Company 
shall be able to continue its business for the foreseeable 
future and no material uncertainty exists that may cast 
significant doubt on the going concern assumption. In 
making this assessment, the Management has considered 
a wide range of information relating to present and future 
conditions, including future projections of profitability, 
cash flows and capital resources.

	� Estimation of uncertainties relating to the pandemic 
from COVID-19

	 COVID-19 pandemic has caused volatility in Indian 
economy throughout the year due to imposition of 
localized/regional lockdowns which has led to disruptions 
in business and individual activities. While economy is 
recovering from the pandemic, the extent to which any 
new wave of COVID-19 will impact Company’s results 
will depend on ongoing as well as future developments, 
which are highly uncertain, including, among other 
things, any new information concerning the severity 

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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of the COVID-19 pandemic, and any action to contain 
its spread or mitigate its impact whether government-
mandated or elected by the Company.

3.2	 Functional and presentation currency

	 These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees 
(INR), which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
financial information presented in INR has been rounded 
off to the nearest Crores (up to two decimals), unless 
otherwise stated.

4	 Significant Accounting Policies

4.1.	Revenue recognition

	 The Company’s operating revenues are comprised 
principally of service revenues such as Interest income 
on financial assets i.e. loans advanced, membership 
fee earned, transaction revenue earned on interchange 
including target incentives offered by network partners. 
Other fee and charges include cheque bounce charge, 
late fees, over limit fees etc. The Company also earns 
income from investments made.

	 Revenue is measured, as set out in Ind AS 115, at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, taking 
into account contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf of the 
government. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, 
regardless of when the payment is being made. Amounts 
disclosed are net of returns, trade discounts, rebates, 
value added taxes.

4.1.1. Interest income

	 Interest income includes

	 a.	� Interest income on dues from credit card holders 
and on EMI based advances.

	 b.	� Interest Income from Fixed Deposit is recognised on 
accrual basis.

	 c.	� Interest Income from Investment is recognised on 
Effective Interest Rate basis

	 The Company recognises Interest income in line with Ind 
AS 109 and expense for all financial instruments, except 
those classified as held for trading or designated at fair 
value are recognised in ‘Interest income’ and ‘Finance 
expense’ in the statement of profit and loss using the 
effective interest rate method (EIR). The Company 
calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the 
gross carrying amount of financial assets other than 
credit-impaired assets. EIR is calculated by considering 

all costs and income attributable to all acquisition of a 
financial asset or assumption of a financial liability and it 
represents a rate that exactly discount estimated future 
cash payments / receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset/ liability to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset or the amortised cost of a financial liability. 
In case of credit-impaired financial assets, the Company 
recognises interest income on the amortised cost net of 
impairment loss of the financial asset at EIR.

4.1.2. Income from fees and services

	 The Company sells credit card memberships to 
card holders, income earned from the provision of 
membership services is recognised as revenue over 
the membership period consisting of 12 months at fair 
value of the consideration net of expected reversals/ 
cancellations.

	 Other service revenue consists of value-add services 
provided to the card holders. Other service revenues 
are recognised in the same period in which related 
transactions occur or services rendered.

	 Interchange fees are collected from acquirers and paid to 
issuers by network partners to reimburse the issuers for 
a portion of the costs incurred for providing services that 
benefit all participants in the system, including acquirers 
and merchants. Revenue from interchange income is 
recognised when related transaction occurs, or service 
is rendered.

4.1.3. Service Charges

	 The Company enters into contracts with co-brand 
partners and other service providers for marketing, sales 
and promotional activities. The income is recognised in 
the same period in which related performance is done as 
per the terms of the business arrangements.

	 Income from business process management services 
is recognised when (or as) the company satisfies 
performance obligation by transferring promised 
services to the customer.

4.1.4. Business Development Incentive

	 The Company enters into long-term contracts with 
network partners for various programs designed to 
build payments volume, increase product acceptance.  
Revenue recognition is based on estimated performance 
and the terms of the business arrangements. The 
Company identifies contract(s) with a customer and its 
performance obligations under the contract, determines 
the transaction price and its allocation to the performance 
obligations in the contract and recognises revenue only 
on satisfactory completion of performance obligations.

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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4.1.5. Insurance Commission Income

	 The Company acts as corporate insurance agent for 
selling insurance policies to credit card customers and 
the income arising therefrom is recognised in the same 
period in which related transactions occurs or services 
rendered at fair value of consideration net off expected 
reversals/cancellations.

4.1.6. �Dividend Income and Income from Sale of 
Investments

	 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
the dividend is established.

	 Income from Fixed Deposit are recognised on accrual 
basis.

	 Interest on Investment are recognised using the effective 
interest rate [EIR] method.

	 Excess of sale price over purchase price of mutual fund 
units is recognised as income at the time of sale.

4.1.7. Unidentified receipts & Stale cheques

	 The total unidentified receipts which could not be 
credited or adjusted in the customers’ accounts for 
lack of complete & correct information is considered 
as liability in balance sheet. The estimated unidentified 
receipts aged more than 6 months and up to 3 years 
towards the written off customers is written back as 
income on balance sheet date. Further, the unresolved 
unidentified receipts aged more than three years are also 
written back as other income on balance sheet date.

	 The liability for stale cheques aged for more than three 
years is written back as other income.

4.1.8. Recovery from bad debts

	 Recovery from bad debts written off is recognised 
as other income based on actual realisations from 
customers. Any recovery over and above the actual 
write-off is accounted for as miscellaneous income.

4.2.	Expenditure

	 Expenses are recognised on accrual basis. Expenses 
incurred on behalf of other companies, for sharing 
personnel, etc. are allocated to them at cost and reduced 
from respective expense classifications. Similarly, 
expense allocation received from other companies is 
included within respective expense classifications.

4.3.	Finance cost

	 Borrowing cost consist of interest and other costs that 
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of 
funds are recognised using the EIR. Any expenditure 

which is directly attributable to borrowing is capitalized 
and amortised over the life of borrowing loan. Borrowing 
cost also include exchange differences to the extent 
regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

4.4.	Property, Plant and Equipment

4.4.1. Recognition and Derecognition

	 Property, Plant and equipment including capital work 
in progress are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. The cost comprises of purchase price, taxes, 
duties, freight and other incidental expenses directly 
attributable and related to acquisition and installation 
of the concerned assets. When significant parts of plant 
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, 
the Company depreciates them separately based on their 
respective useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection 
is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement 
if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair 
and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in 
the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria 
for a provision are met.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment and any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement 
of profit & loss when the asset is derecognised. The 
assets are fully depreciated over the life and residual 
value of the assets is considered as NIL, for the purpose 
of depreciation computation.

	 Capital work- in- progress includes cost of property, 
plant and equipment under installation / development as 
at the balance sheet date.

	 The residual values, useful lives and method of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
accordingly, if appropriate.

4.4.2. Depreciation on Property, plant and equipment

	 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is 
provided on straight line method using the useful lives of 
the assets estimated by management and in the manner 
prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act 2013. 
The useful life is as follows:
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Description Useful Life

Furniture and Fixtures 10

Office equipement 5

Computers & Computer Equipment 3

Owned Vehicles 8

Computer Server 6

	 Improvements of leasehold property are depreciated 
over the period of the lease term or useful life, whichever 
is shorter.

	 Right-of-use assets  - Refer note 4.8.

4.5	 Intangible assets

	 Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition 
at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

	 Intangible assets comprise purchase of software & 
Internally developed project. Software is  recognised at 
cost and amortised using the straight line method over a 
period of three years.  Internally developed projects are 
also recognised at cost and amortised using the straight 
line method over period of two to five years based on 
management’s estimate of its useful life. Useful life of 
Intangible assets represents the period over which the 
Company expects to derive the economic benefits from 
the use of the asset.

	 Intangible assets under developments are intangible 
assets that are not ready for the intended use as on the 
balance sheet date and are disclosed as Intangible assets 
under development.

	 An item of intangible assets and any significant part 
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) 
is included in the statement of profit & loss when the 
asset is derecognised.

4.6	 Impairment of non-financial assets

	 The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates 
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an 

individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or Company’s assets. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

	 Company also regularly assesses collectability of dues 
and creates appropriate impairment allowance based 
on internal provision matrix. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. After 
impairment, depreciation is provided on the revised 
carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful 
life.

4.7	 Financial Instruments

	 Initial Recognition

	 Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Financial assets and liabilities are 
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial 
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) 
are added to or deducted from the fair value measured on 
initial recognition of financial asset or financial liability.

	 Subsequent Recognition

	 (I)	 Non -derivative financial instruments

		  Financial Assets

	 Financial assets are carried at amortized cost using 
Effective Interest rate method (EIR):

	 A financial asset is subsequently measured at 
amortized cost if it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold the asset to collect 
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms 
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest [SPPI] on the principal amount outstanding.

		  Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method:

	 The effective interest rate method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of financial asset and 
of allocating interest income over the expected life. 
Income is recognised in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss on an effective interest rate basis for financial 
assets other than those classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL).

	 EIR is determined at the initial recognition of the 
financial asset. EIR is subsequently updated for 
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financial assets having floating interest rate, at the 
respective reset date, in accordance with the terms 
of the respective contract.

	 Once the terms of financial assets are renegotiated, 
other than market driven interest rate movement, 
any gain/ loss measured using the previous EIR as 
calculated before the modification, is recognised in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss in period during 
which such renegotiations occur.

		�  Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income [FVOCI]:

	 A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair 
value through Other Comprehensive Income if it 
is held within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets and the contractual terms 
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding [SPPI].

		�  Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL):

	 A financial asset which is not classified in any of 
the above categories are subsequently fair valued 
through profit or loss.

	 However, in cases where the Company has made 
an irrevocable election for particular investments 
in equity instruments that would otherwise be 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, the 
subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in 
Other Comprehensive Income.

		�  Equity Investments designated under [FVOCI]

	 The classification is made on initial recognition 
and is irrevocable. All fair value changes of equity 
instruments excluding dividend are recognised in 
OCI and are not available for reclassification to the 
statement of profit and loss.

		  Derecognition of Financial Assets

	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of 
a financial asset or part of a Company of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., 
removed from the Company’s statement of financial 
position) when:

•    the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired, or

•	 the Company has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset or has 

assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 
flows in full without material delay to a third 
party under a “pass through” arrangement and 
either;

•	 the Company has transferred the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets, or

•   	 the Company has retained the contractual right 
to receive the cash flows of the financial asset 
but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the 
cash flows to one or more recipients.”

	 Where the Company has transferred an asset, the 
Company evaluates whether it has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
ownership of the financial assets. In such cases, the 
financial asset is derecognised.

	 Where the entity has not transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the ownership of 
the financial assets, the financial asset is not 
derecognised. Where the Company has neither 
transferred a financial asset nor retains substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset, the financial asset is derecognised if the 
Company has not retained control of the financial 
asset. Where the Company retains control of 
the financial asset, the asset is continued to be 
recognised to the extent of continuing involvement 
in the financial asset.

	 Financial assets subsequently measured at 
amortised cost are generally held for collection of 
contractual cashflow. The Company on looking at 
economic viability of certain portfolios measured 
at amortised cost may enter into immaterial and/
or infrequent transaction of sale of portfolio which 
doesn’t affect the business model during of the 
Company.

		  Impairment of financial assets

	 In accordance with IND AS 109, the Company 
applies expected credit losses (ECL) model for 
measurement and recognition of impairment loss 
on the following financial asset and credit risk 
exposure;

•     	Financial assets measured at amortised cost;

•	 Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); 

	 For recognition of impairment loss on Loans to 
customers, where no significant increase in credit 
risk [SICR] has been observed, such assets are 
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classified in “Stage 1” and a 12 months ECL is 
recognised. Loans that are considered to have 
significant increase in credit risk are considered to 
be in “Stage 2” and those which are in default or for 
which there is an objective evidence of impairment 
are considered to be in “Stage 3”. Lifetime ECL is 
recognised for stage 2 and stage 3 Loans. At every 
reporting date, the historical observed default rates 
are updated and changes in the forward-looking 
estimates are analysed.

	 Further, for corporate portfolio, the Company’s 
credit risk function also segregates loans with 
specific risk characteristics based on trigger events 
identified using sufficient and credible information 
available from internal sources supplemented by 
external data. Impairment allowance for these 
exposures are reviewed and accounted on a case 
by case basis. If in subsequent period, credit quality 
of the corporate loan improves such that there is 
no longer a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, then the Company reverts to 
recognizing impairment loss allowance based on 12- 
months ECL. For further details refer to note 38.1.2

	 For trade receivables and other financial assets, 
the Company uses a provision matrix (simplified 
approach) to determine impairment loss allowance 
on the portfolio of receivables. The provision matrix 
is based on its historically observed default rates 
and management judgement/ estimates over the 
expected life of receivable.

		  Write off policy:

	 Loans are written off when the Company has no 
reasonable expectation of recovering the financial 
asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). A write 
off constitutes a derecognition event.

	 The Company estimates such write off to get 
triggered on accounts which are overdue for 191 
days or more from payment due date. Further, for 
certain commercial accounts carrying specific 
provision and for certain categories of retail 
accounts in Stage 3, where the likelihood of 
recovery of the outstanding is remote, the Company 
may trigger an early charge off. Recoveries resulting 
from the Company’s enforcement activities will 
result in other Income impairment gains.

		  Financial liabilities

	 Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

		  De-recognition of financial liabilities

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or medication is treated as 
the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss.

	 (II)  	Derivative financial instruments

	 The Company holds derivative financial instruments 
such as foreign exchange forward contracts to 
mitigate the risk of changes in exchange rates on 
foreign currency exposures. The Company does not 
use derivative financial instruments for speculative 
purposes. The counterparty to the Company’s 
foreign currency forward contracts is generally 
a bank. The Company has derivative financial 
instruments which are not designated as hedges.

	 Any derivative that is not designated as hedge is 
categorized as a financial asset or financial liability, 
at fair value through profit or loss account.

		  Hedging

	 At the inception of a hedge relationship, the 
Company formally designates and documents the 
hedge relationship to which the Company wishes to 
apply hedge accounting and the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
The Company designates certain foreign exchange 
forward contracts as cash flow hedges to mitigate 
the risk of foreign exchange exposure on booked 
exposures. The documentation includes the 
Company’s risk management objective and strategy 
for undertaking hedge, the hedging/ economic 
relationship, the hedged item or transaction, the 
nature of the risk being hedged, hedge ratio and how 
the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in 
the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the 
exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value 
or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.

		  Cash flow hedge

	 Hedging instruments are initially measured at fair 
value and are re-measured at subsequent reporting 
dates. The Company designates only the change in 
fair value of the forward contract related to the spot 
component as the hedging instrument. The forward 
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points of the currency forward contracts are 
therefore excluded from the hedge designation. The 
designated forward element is amortized in profit or 
loss account over a systematic basis. The change in 
forward element of the contract that relates to the 
hedge item is recognised in other comprehensive 
income in the cost of hedging reserve within equity. 
Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss in the period 
in which the hedged item hits profit or loss.

	 When a hedged transaction occurs or is no longer 
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or 
loss recognized in cash flow hedging reserve is 
transferred to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Offsetting of financial instruments:

	 Financials assets and financial liabilities are offset, 
and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle 
the liabilities simultaneously.

4.8.	Leases

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, 
or contains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The 
arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of an identified 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement.

	 Company as a lessee

	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of 
Computer server and Building. The Company assesses 
whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a 
contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To 
assess whether a contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses 
whether:

(i)	 the contact involves the use of an identified asset 

(ii)   the Company has substantially all of the economic 
benefits from use of the asset through the period of 
the lease and

(iii)  the Company has the right to direct the use of the 
asset.

	 At the date of commencement of the lease, the 
Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a 

corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements 
in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of 
twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value 
leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the 
Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating 
expense.

	 Certain lease arrangements include the options to extend 
or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. 
ROU assets and lease liabilities includes these options 
when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised.  
The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the 
commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct 
costs less any lease incentives. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the 
commencement date on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable 
amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 
and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual 
asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets. 
In such cases, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) to which the asset 
belongs.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost 
at the present value of the future lease payments. The 
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payment that depends on 
index or a rate, and amount to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not 
readily determinable, the Company uses incremental 
borrowing rates. Lease liabilities are remeasured with 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use 
asset if the Company changes its assessment if whether 
it will exercise an extension or a termination option.

4.9.	Income-tax expense

	 Current Tax

	 Current income tax, assets and liabilities are measured at 
the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the 
taxation authorities in accordance with the Income Tax 
Act, 1961 and the Income Computation and Disclosure 
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Standards (ICDS) enacted in India by using tax rates 
prescribed therein. The tax rates and tax laws used 
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date

	 Current income tax relating to item recognised outside 
the statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation 
to the underlying transactions either in OCI or directly in 
equity.

	 Deferred Tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-
assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax relating to items recognised outside the statement 
of profit and loss is recognised outside the statement of 
profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income 
or in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in 
correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or 
direct in equity.

4.10. Foreign currency

	 Initial recognition

	 Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial 
recognition in the functional currency, using the 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of transaction.

	 Measurement of foreign currency items at the Balance 
sheet date.

	 Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 

the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the 
reporting date.

	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value is determined.

	 Exchange differences

	 Exchange differences arising on settlement or translation 
of monetary items are recognised as income or expense 
in the period in which they arise with the exception of 
exchange differences on gain or loss arising on translation 
of non-monetary items measured at fair value which is 
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss 
on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation 
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 
recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in 
OCI or profit or loss, respectively.

	 Forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge 
foreign currency risk of an existing asset/ liability.

	 The Company enters into derivative contracts in the 
nature of forward contracts with an intention to hedge 
its existing liabilities. Derivative contracts being financial 
instruments not designated in a hedging relationship are 
recognised at fair value with changes being recognised in 
profit & loss account.

4.11.	Employee benefits

	 Short-term employee benefits

	 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related services are recognised in 
respect of employee service upto the end of the reporting 
period and are measured at the amount expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. the liabilities are 
presented as current employee benefit obligations in the 
balance sheet.

	 Other long-term employee benefit obligations

	 Gratuity

	 The Employee’s Gratuity Fund Scheme, which is defined 
benefit plan, is managed by Trust maintained with SBI 
Life insurance Company limited. The liabilities with 
respect to Gratuity Plan are determined by actuarial 
valuation on projected unit credit method on the balance 
sheet date, based upon which the Company contributes 
to the Company Gratuity Scheme. The difference, if 
any, between the actuarial valuation of the gratuity of 
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employees at the year end and the balance of funds 
is provided for as assets/ (liability) in the books. Net 
interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to 
the net defined benefit liability or asset. the Company 
recognizes the following changes in the net defined 
benefit obligation under Employee benefit expense in 
statement of profit or loss:

•	 Service costs comprising current service costs, 
past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments 
and non-routine settlements

•	 Net interest expense or income

•	 Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding amounts included in net interest on 
the net defined benefit liability and the return on 
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability), are 
recognised immediately in the Balance Sheet with 
a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings 
through OCI in the period in which they occur. 
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods.

	 Provident fund

	 Retirement benefit in the form of provident fund is 
a defined contribution scheme. the Company has no 
obligation, other than the contribution payable to the 
provident fund. The Company recognizes contribution 
payable through provident fund scheme as an expense, 
when an employee renders the related services. If the 
contribution payable to scheme for service received 
before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution 
already paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is 
recognised as liability after deducting the contribution 
already paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the 
contribution due for services received before the balance 
sheet date, then excesses recognised as an asset to the 
extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a 
reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

	 Long Service Award

	 The Company’s long service award is defined benefit 
plan. The present value of obligations under such 
defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial 
valuation carried out by an independent actuary using 
the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognises 
each period of service as giving rise to additional unit 
of employee benefit entitlement and measure each unit 
separately to build up the final obligation.

	 The obligation is measured at the present value of 
estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used 

for determining the present value of obligation under 
defined benefit plans, is based on the market yields on 
Government securities as at Balance Sheet date, having 
maturity periods approximating to the terms of related 
obligations.

	 Compensated Absences

	 Accumulated leaves which is expected to be utilised 
within next 12 months is treated as short term employee 
benefit. The Company measures the expected cost of 
such absences as the additional amount that it expects to 
pay as a result of the unused entitlement and is discharge 
by the year end. Liability in respect of compensated 
absences becoming due or expected to be availed within 
one year from the balance sheet date is recognized based 
on undiscounted value of estimated amount required 
to be paid or estimated value of benefit expected to 
be availed by the employees. Liability in respect of 
compensated absences becoming due or expected to be 
availed more than one year after the balance sheet date 
is estimated based on an actuarial valuation performed 
by an independent actuary using the projected unit 
credit method.

	 The Company has a policy on compensated absences 
which is by way of accumulating compensated absences 
arising during the tenure of the service is calculated by 
taking into consideration of availment of leave. Liability 
in respect of compensated absences becoming due or 
expected to be availed within one year from the balance 
sheet date is recognized based on undiscounted value of 
estimated amount required to be paid or estimated value 
of benefit expected to be availed by the employees. 
Liability in respect of compensated absences becoming 
due or expected to be availed more than one year after 
the balance sheet date is estimated based on an actuarial 
valuation performed by an independent actuary using 
the projected unit credit method.

	 National pension system (NPS)

	 The Company makes contributions to National Pension 
System (NPS), for qualifying employees. Under the 
Scheme, the Company is required to contribute a 
specified percentage of the payroll costs to NPS. The 
contributions payable to NPS by the Company are at 
rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

	 Employee stock Option Plan

	 Employees of the Company receive remuneration in the 
form of equity settled instruments, for rendering services 
over a defined vesting period. Equity instruments 
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of 
the instrument at the date of grant in accordance with 
Ind AS 102.
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	 The expense is recognized in the statement of profit and 
loss with a corresponding increase to the share-based 
payment reserve, a component of equity. The equity 
instruments generally vest in a graded manner over the 
vesting period. The fair value determined at the grant 
date is expensed over the vesting period of the respective 
tranches of such grants. The stock compensation 
expense is determined based on the Company’s estimate 
of equity instruments that will eventually vest.

	 The impact of the revision of the original estimates, 
if any, is recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss 
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-
settled employee benefits reserve.

4.12.	Earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
year. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the 
weighted average number of equity and dilutive potential 
equity shares outstanding during the year, except where 
the results would be anti-dilutive.

	 Basic earnings per equity share is computed by dividing 
the net profit attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of equity 
share outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings 
per equity share is computed by dividing the net profit 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of equity shares considered 
for deriving basic earnings per equity share and also 
the weighted average number of equity shares that 
could have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive 
potential equity shares. The dilutive potential equity 
shares are adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the 
equity shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. the 
average market value of the outstanding equity shares)

4.13.�	Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets

	 The Company creates a provision when there is a 
present obligation as a result of a past event that 
probably requires an outflow of resources and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A 
disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there 
is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, 
but probably will not, require an outflow of resources.

	 Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is 
no longer probable that an outflow of resources would 
be required to settle the obligation, the provision is 
reversed.

	 Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial 
statements. However, contingent assets are assessed 
continually and if it is virtually certain that an inflow 
of economic benefits will arise, the asset and related 
income are recognised in the period in which the change 
occurs.

4.14.	�Provision for reward points redemption

	 The Company has a reward point’s program which allows 
card members to earn points based on spends through 
the cards that can be redeemed for cash, gift vouchers 
and retail merchandize. The Company makes payments 
to its reward partners when card members redeem their 
points and creates provisions , based on the actuarial 
valuation by an independent valuer, to cover the cost 
of future reward redemptions. The liability for reward 
points outstanding as at the year-end and expected to be 
redeemed in the future is estimated based on an actuarial 
valuation.

4.15.	Cash and Cash Equivalent

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances 
on hand, cash balances in bank, funds in transit lying 
in nodal account of intermediaries/payment gateway 
aggregators and highly liquid investments with maturity 
period of three months or less from date of investment 
that are readily convertible to known of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

4.16.	�Critical accounting judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty

(I)	 Revenue Recognition: Application of the various 
accounting principles in Ind AS 115 related to the 
measurement and recognition of revenue requires 
us to make judgments and estimates. Specifically, 
complex arrangements with nonstandard terms 
and conditions may require significant contract 
interpretation to determine the appropriate 
accounting. The Company consider various factors 
in estimating transaction volumes and estimated 
marketing activities target fulfilment, expected 
behavioural life of card etc.

(II)	 Business development incentive: Estimation of 
business development incentives relies on forecasts 
of payments volume, card issuance etc. Performance 
is estimated using, transactional information - 
historical and projected information and involves 
certain degree of future estimation.

(III)	 Card life: Estimation of card life relies on behavioural 
life trend established basis past customer behaviour 
/ observed life cycle
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(IV)	 Differences between actual results and our estimates 
are adjusted in the period of actual performance

(V)	 Management is required to assess the probability 
of loss and amount of such loss with respect to 
legal proceedings, if any, in preparing of financial 
statements

(VI)	 Property, Plant and equipment: The Company 
reviews the estimated useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment at the end of each reporting 
period. The lives are based on historical experience 
with similar assets as well as anticipation of future 
events, which may impact their life, such as change 
in technology.

(VII)	Impairment of financial assets: A number of 
significant judgements are also required in applying 
the accounting requirements for measuring ECL 
such as;

•	 Establishing groups of similar financial assets 
for the purposes of measuring ECL (Portfolio 
segmentation)

•	 Defining default

•    	Determining criteria for significant increase in 
credit risk.

•    	Choosing appropriate models and assumptions 
for measurement of ECL.

•    	Use of significant judgement in estimating future 
economic scenario to calculate management 
overlay over base ECL model.

(VIII)Fair value measurements and valuation processes

•	 In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Company uses market-observable 
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 
inputs are not available, the Company engages 
third party qualified valuers to perform the 
valuation. The management works closely with 
the qualified external valuers to establish the 
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to 
the model. 

•	 Information about the valuation techniques 
and inputs used in determining the fair value 
of various assets and liabilities are disclosed in 
note 38

•	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value 
is measured in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level

•	 Input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole:

	 Level 1— Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

	 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

	 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

•	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in 
the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Company determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
by re-assessing categorisation (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

(IX)	 Cost of reward points: The cost of reward point 
includes the cost of future reward redemption which 
is determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial 
valuation involves making various assumptions that 
may differ from actual developments in the future.  

(X)	 Defined Benefit Plans (Gratuity): The cost of the 
defined benefit gratuity plan and the present value 
of the gratuity obligation are determined using 
actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These include 
the determination of the discount rate; future 
salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the 
complexities involved in the valuation and its long-
term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly 
sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

(XI)	 Lease: The Company evaluates if an arrangement 
qualifies to be a lease as per the requirements of Ind 
AS 116. Identification of a lease requires significant 
judgment. The Company uses significant judgement 
in assessing the lease term (including anticipated 
renewals) and the applicable discount rate.

	 The Company determines the lease term as the non-
cancellable period of a lease, together with both 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease 
if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise 
that option; and periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably 
certain not to exercise that option. In assessing 
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whether the Company is reasonably certain to 
exercise an option to extend a lease, or not to 
exercise an option to terminate a lease, it considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive for the Company to exercise 
the option to extend the lease, or not to exercise 
the option to terminate the lease. The Company 
revises the lease term if there is a change in the 
non-cancellable period of a lease. The discount rate 
is generally based on the incremental borrowing 
rate specific to the lease being evaluated or for a 
portfolio of leases with similar characteristics.

4.17.	 Recent pronouncements

i)	 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new 
standards or amendments to the existing standards 
under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules as issued from time to time. On March 23, 
2022, MCA amended the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2022, as 
below.

	 Ind AS 16 – Property Plant and equipment - The 
amendment clarifies that excess of net sale 
proceeds of items produced over the cost of 
testing, if any, shall not be recognised in the profit 
or loss but deducted from the directly attributable 
costs considered as part of cost of an item of 
property, plant, and equipment. The effective date 
for adoption of this amendment is annual periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2022. The Company 
has evaluated the amendment and there is no 
impact on its financial statements.

	 Ind AS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets – The amendment specifies that 
the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs 
that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate 
directly to a contract can either be incremental 
costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be 
direct labour, materials) or an allocation of other 
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an 
example would be the allocation of the depreciation 
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment 
used in fulfilling the contract). The effective date 
for adoption of this amendment is annual periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2022, although early 
adoption is permitted. The Company has evaluated 
the amendment and the impact is not expected to 
be material.

		  Ind AS 109- Financial Instruments-

(i)	 The amendment specifies that the terms are 
substantially different if the discounted present 
value of the cash flows under the new terms, 
including any fees paid net of any fees received 
and discounted using the original effective 
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different 
from the discounted present value of the 
remaining cash flows of the original financial 
liability. In determining those fees paid net of 
fees received, a borrower includes only fees 
paid or received between the borrower and 
the lender, including fees paid or received by 
either the borrower or lender on the other ‘s 
behalf. The effective date for adoption of this 
amendment is annual periods beginning on or 
after April 1, 2022. The Company has evaluated 
the amendment and there is no impact on its 
financial statements.

(ii)	 If an exchange of debt instruments or 
modification of terms is accounted for as an 
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are 
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the 
extinguishment. If the exchange or modification 
is not accounted for as an extinguishment, 
any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying 
amount of the liability and are amortized over 
the remaining term of the modified liability. The 
effective date for adoption of this amendment 
is annual periods beginning on or after April 
1, 2022.The Company has evaluated the 
amendment and there is no impact on its 
financial statements.

ii)	 Reserve Bank of India (RBI) issued Master Directions 
- Credit Card and Debit Card – issuance and Conduct 
Directions, 2022 vide notification no DoR.AUT. REC.
No.27/24.01041/2022-23 dated April 21,2022. 
These directions cover the general and conduct 
regulations relating to credit, debit and co-branded 
cards which shall be read along with prudential, 
payment and technology & cyber security related 
directions applicable to credit, debit and co-
branded cards, as issued by the Reserve Bank. 
These directions will be applicable from July 1, 
2022. The Company is assessing the impact of the 
above mentioned circular and will take necessary 
action within the prescribed timelines. 
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5	 Cash and cash equivalents

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2022

As at  
 March 31, 2021

Balance with banks (of the nature of cash and cash equivalents)
Current Accounts * 17.75 14.12
Funds in transit (lying in nodal account of intermediaries/payment gateway 
aggregators)

636.22 522.49

Deposits with maturity less than 3 months  -   106.59
Investment in Government Securities with maturity less than three months** 104.19  -   
Total 758.16 643.20

*Current account balance for the period ended March 31, 2022 includes ` 0.74 Crores held in Escrow account to meet IPO 
expenses (for year ended March 31, 2021 ` 2.02 crores)

** The balances held as Investment in Government Securities with maturity of less than three months as at March 31, 2022 
are as follows:

Particulars Face Value  Units  Amount 

91DTB16062022  100 10,500,000.00  104.19 

Total 10,500,000.00 104.19

There was Nil balance held as Investment in Government Securities with maturity of less than three months as at March 31, 
2021.

6	 Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Deposits (under Lien) with original maturity for more than 3 months 8.17 7.78
Earmarked balances with bank
Unpaid dividend * 235.87 0.07
Non moving credit balance of customers 103.26 68.05
Unidentified reciepts 0.78 0.81
Unpaid exgratia to customers 0.15 0.18
Total 348.23 76.90

* Unpaid dividend amounting ` 235.87 Crores (0.07 Crore for FY 2019-20 and ` 235.80 Crores for FY 2021-22 (gross of TDS 
amount)) (previous year ` 0.07 Crore for FY 2019-20). 

7	 Derivative financial instruments (Assets)

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Part I
(i)	 Currency Derivatives
	 -	 Spot and forwards  -    0.10 
Total  -    0.10 
Part II
(i)	 Cash Flow hedging
	 -	 Currency derivatives  -    0.10 
Total  -    0.10 

Refer note no. 38.1.1
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8	 Trade receivables

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
To be realised within twelve months after reporting date:
Trade Receivables considered good - Unsecured  168.47  81.52 
Trade Receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk  0.04  0.34 
Less:- Impairment loss allowance  (0.04)  (0.34)
Total  168.47  81.52 

-	 No trade receivables are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other 
person.

-	 No trade receivables are due from firms including LLP, private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a 
director or a member.

-	 The average credit period on sale of services is 30-60 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables from the date of 
the invoice.

Trade Receivables Ageing Schedule as March 31, 2022				  

Particulars

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments

Unbilled Not Due
Less 

than 6 
months

6 
months 
-1 Year

1-2 
Years

2-3 
Years

More 
than 3 
years

Total 

(i)	 Undisputed Trade receivables - 
considered good

19.61 113.90 34.95 -   -   -   -   168.47 

(ii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase in 
credit risk 

-   -   -   0.04 -   -   -   0.04 

(iii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

(iv)	 Disputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

(v)	 Disputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase in 
credit risk

-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

(vi)	 Disputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Total- Gross 19.61 113.90 34.95 0.04 -   -   -   168.51 
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Trade Receivables Ageing Schedule as March 31, 2021				  

Particulars

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments

Unbilled Not Due
Less 

than 6 
months

6 
months 
-1 Year

1-2 
Years

2-3 
Years

More 
than 3 
years

Total 

(i) 	 Undisputed Trade receivables - 
considered good

 22.52  57.82  1.17  -    -    -    -    81.52 

(ii) 	 Undisputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase in 
credit risk 

 -    -    -    0.34  -    -    -    0.34 

(iii) 	Undisputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) 	Disputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(v) 	 Disputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase in 
credit risk

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(vi) 	Disputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total- Gross  22.52  57.82  1.17  0.34  -    -    -    81.86 

9	 Loans

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
At Amortized Cost
(A) 
Other- Loans & advances to customers
To be realised within twelve months after reporting date  27,248.95  21,442.54 
To be realised after twelve months after reporting date  4,032.42  3,671.29 
Total (A)- Gross  31,281.37  25,113.83 
Less:- Impairment loss allowance  (1,094.12)  (1,654.69)
Total (A)- Net  30,187.25  23,459.14 
(B)
(i) Secured by lien on fixed deposits and financial guarantees  340.30  316.25 
(ii) Unsecured  30,941.07  24,797.58 
Total (B)- Gross  31,281.37  25,113.83 
Less:- Impairment loss allowance  (1,094.12)  (1,654.69)
Total (B)- Net  30,187.25  23,459.14 
(C) Loans in India
(i) Public sector  10.06  4.92 
(ii) Others  31,271.31  25,108.91 
Total (C)- Gross  31,281.37  25,113.83 
Less:- Impairment loss allowance  (1,094.12)  (1,654.69)
Total (C)- Net  30,187.25  23,459.14 

Refer note 38.1.2
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Loans are granted to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties (as defined under the Companies Act 2013) 
in the normal course of business

a)	 repayable on demand : Nil

b)	 without specifying any terms or period of repayment : Nil

The company has given the credit card advances to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties in the normal course 
of business are shown as below:

As at March 31, 2022 As at  March 31, 2021

Type of Borrower

Amount of loan 
or advance in the 

nature of loan 
outstanding

Percentage to the 
total Loans and 
Advances in the 
nature of loans

Amount of loan 
or advance in the 

nature of loan 
outstanding

Percentage to the 
total Loans and 
Advances in the 
nature of loans

Promoters  0.02 0.00%  0.06 0.00%

Directors  0.03 0.00%  0.01 0.00%

KMPs  0.03 0.00%  0.01 0.00%

Related Parties  0.25 0.00%  0.18 0.00%

10	 Investments 

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
(A)
At Amortized Cost
Investment to be realised within twelve months after the reporting date
	 Investment in Government Securities  878.31  623.25 
Investment to be realised after twelve months after the reporting date
	 Investment in Government Securities  400.96  323.11 
	 Equity instruments  -    -   
At Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
Investment to be realised after twelve months after the reporting date       
Equity instruments  17.92  11.20 
Total  1,297.19  957.56 
(B)
	 (i)	 Investment outside India  -    -   
	 (ii)	 Investment in India  1,297.19  957.56 
Total  1,297.19  957.56 
(C)
Less - Allowance for Impairment Loss  -    -   
Total Net (A - C)  1,297.19  957.56 

The balances held as Investment as at March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Particulars Face Value  Units  Amount 
Investment in Government Securities (Current)
182DTB04052022  100  7,500,000  74.74 
182DTB19052022  100  15,500,000  154.24 
364DTB23062022  100  5,000,000  49.58 
182DTB28072022  100  7,000,000  69.07 
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Particulars Face Value  Units  Amount 
182DTB04082022  100  20,500,000  202.06 
182DTB18082022  100  13,500,000  132.92 
364DTB13102022  100  12,500,000  122.43 
364DTB02112022  100  7,500,000  73.27 
Total  89,000,000  878.31 
Investment in Government Securities (Non-Current)
7.32% GS2024  100  8,000,000  85.07 
6.18% GS2024  100  12,500,000  132.16 
5.22% GS2025  100  18,000,000  183.73 
Total  38,500,000  400.96 
Equity instruments (Amortised Cost)
SBI Foundation*  10  1,001.00  0.00 
* Face value of the equity instrument as on March 31, 
2022 is ` 10.010
Total  1,001.00  0.00 
Equity instruments (fair value through OCI)
Online PSB Loans Limited  10  112,996.00  17.92 
Total  112,996.00  17.92 

The balances held as Investment as at March 31, 2021 are as follows

Particulars Face Value  Units  Amount 
Investment in Government Securities (Current)
364DTB26082021  100  500,000  4.93 
182DTB20052021  100  11,500,000  114.50 
364DTB19082021  100  28,000,000  276.43 
364DTB20052021  100  16,500,000  164.28 
364DTB27012022  100  6,500,000  63.11 
Total  63,000,000  623.25 
Investment in Government Securities (Non-Current)
7.32% GS2024  100  8,000,000  87.16 
6.18% GS2024  100  12,500,000  133.59 
5.22% GS2025  100  10,000,000  102.36 
Total  30,500,000  323.11 
Equity instruments (Amortised Cost)
SBI Foundation*  10  1,001.00  0.00 
* Face value of the equity instrument as on March 31, 
2021 is `10.010
Total  1,001.00  0.00 
Equity instruments (fair value through OCI)
Online PSB Loans Limited  10  112,996.00  11.20 
Total  112,996.00  11.20 
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11	 Other financial assets

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
To be realised within twelve months after reporting date:
Contract Asset *
	 Receivables considered good - unsecured  69.63  79.95 
Security deposits 
	 Unsecured, considered good   4.81  8.01 
	 Unsecured, which have significant increase in credit risk  1.96  1.43 
Other recoverable - Considered good  0.56  1.95 
Other recoverable which have significant increase in credit risk  0.43  0.48 
Less : - Impairment loss allowance  (2.39)  (1.91)
Sub total  75.00  89.91 
To be realised after twelve months after reporting date:
Contract Asset*
Receivables considered good - Unsecured  118.26  85.36 
Security deposits 
Unsecured, considered good   20.06  19.60 
Sub total  138.32  104.96 
Total  213.32  194.87 

* Refer note 36

12	 Current tax liabilities/assets (net)

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Tax asset(net)
To be settled within twelve months after reporting date:
	 Advance income tax (net of provision) 41.24 52.47
Total 41.24 52.47

13	  Deferred Tax Assets (Net)

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
To be adjusted after twelve months after reporting date:
-Deferred tax asset 218.53  395.09 
Total 218.53  395.09 
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For the year ended March 31, 2022

Particulars

Opening 
balance 

Recognised 
in profit 
and loss 

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

DTA Rate 
Change and 

Previous 
year trueup 

Closing 
balance 

Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:
Property, plant and equipment 3.18 4.77 -   (0.15) 7.80 
Membership & processing fee 102.80 22.40 -   -   125.20 
Provision for expenses 22.44 4.33 -   (7.95) 18.82 
Staff benefits and stautory dues 17.01 (1.96) (1.73) (8.23) 5.09 
Fair valuation of derivatives (0.04) 0.04 -   -   0.00 
Fair valuation of Investment through OCI (2.45) -   (1.69) -   (4.14)
Amortisation of card acquisition cost (167.68) (22.27) -   -   (189.95)
Provision for doubtful debts & ECL 420.66 (165.34) -   0.95 256.27 
Debt Issue expenses (1.10) 0.58 -   -   (0.52)
Income on investment 0.26 1.35 -   (1.66) (0.05)
Total 395.09 (156.10) (3.42) (17.04) 218.53 

There are no unrecognised deductable temporary differences.

For the year ended March 31, 2021

Particulars

Opening 
balance 

Recognised 
in profit 
and loss 

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

DTA Rate 
Change and 

Previous 
year trueup 

Closing 
balance 

Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:
Property, plant and equipment  0.74  2.43  -    0.02  3.18 
Membership & processing fee  95.97  6.83  -    -    102.80 
Provision for expenses  29.46  6.74  -    (13.76)  22.44 
Staff benefits and stautory dues  6.70  8.71  (1.87)  3.47  17.01 
Fair valuation of derivatives  0.01  (0.05)  -    -    (0.04)
Fair valuation of Investment through OCI  -    -    (2.45)  -    (2.45)
Amortisation of card acquisition cost  (189.32)  21.64  -    -    (167.68)
Provision for doubtful debts & ECL  332.85  87.30  -    0.51  420.66 
Defined benefit obligation  0.13  (0.13)  -    -    (0.00)
Debt Issue expenses  (1.40)  0.30  -    -    (1.10)
Income on investment  -    0.26  -    -    0.26 
Total  275.13  134.03  (4.32)  (9.76)  395.09 

There are no unrecognised deductable temporary differences.

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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14	 Property, plant and equipment, Intangible assets & Right of use assets

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Property, plant and equipment
A.	 Carrying amounts of: 
	 Furniture & fixture 2.69 2.74
	 Office equipment 3.60 5.34
	 Owned vehicles  -    -   
	 Computers including server (owned)
		  - Owned 16.96 26.63
		  - On lease  -    -   
	 Leasehold improvements 15.95 21.75
	 Vehicles on Finance Lease  -    -   
	 Total 39.20 56.46
B.	 Capital work in progress
	 Capital work in progress 0.49 0.49
	 Total 0.49 0.49
Intangible Assets
A.	 Carrying value of other intangible assets
	 Computer software 116.41 89.66
	 Total 116.41 89.66
B.	 Intangible Assets under development
	 Intangible assets under development 13.75 9.58
	 Total 13.75 9.58
	 Right-of-use Assets
	 Vehicle  -    -   
	 Computer server on lease 127.72 103.79
	 Building 156.13 58.19
	 Total 283.85 161.98
	 Total 453.70 318.17

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

CWIP ageing schedule for March 31, 2022

CWIP
Amount in CWIP for a period of Total

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
Years

Projects in progress  -   0.49  -    -    0.49 

Project temporaily suspended  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  -    0.49  -    -    0.49 

CWIP ageing schedule for March 31, 2021

CWIP
Amount in CWIP for a period of Total

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
Years

Projects in progress 0.19 0.30  -    -    0.49 

Project temporaily suspended  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  0.19  0.30  -    -    0.49 

For capital work in progress, whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan.

There are no Capital work in progress which is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan as of March 31, 
2022 (Previous year Nil)

14.2 Intangible Assets

Particulars 
 Computer 

sotware 
 Intangible 

assets under 
development 

At Cost 

Balance as at  April 01, 2021  177.11  9.58 

Additions  83.73  20.78 

Disposals  -    (16.61)

Balance at March 31, 2022  260.84  13.75 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance as at  April 01, 2021  87.45  -   

Depreciation charge for the year  56.98  -   

Disposals/adjustments  -    -   

Balance at March 31, 2022  144.43  -   

Net Book Value as at March 31, 2022  116.41  13.75 
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

Particulars 
 Computer 

sotware 
 Intangible 

assets under 
development 

At Cost 

Balance at April 01, 2020  129.34  12.49 

Additions  47.77  17.11 

Disposals  -    (20.02)

Balance at March 31, 2021  177.11  9.58 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at April 01, 2020  51.56  -   

Depreciation charge for the period  35.89  -   

Disposals/adjustments  -    -   

Balance at March 31, 2021  87.45  -   

Net Book Value as at March 31, 2021  89.66  9.58 

(a)	 Intangible asset under development ageing schedule

	 Details of intangible asset under development as on March 31, 2022, is as below:

Intangible asset under 
development 

Amount in Intangible asset under development for a period of Total

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
Years

Projects in progress  13.62  0.13  -    -    13.75 

Project temporaily suspended  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  13.62  0.13  -    -    13.75 

	 Details of intangible asset under development as on March 31, 2021, is as below:

Intangible asset under 
development 

Amount in Intangible asset under development for a period of Total

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
Years

Projects in progress  0.43  9.15  -    -    9.58 

Project temporaily suspended  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  0.43  9.15  -    -    9.58 

(b)	 Intangible asset under development completion schedule					   

	 There are no Intangible assets under development which is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan 
as of March 31, 2022 (Previous year Nil)
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

14.3 Right-of-Use assets

Particulars 
 Computer server 

on lease 
 Building  Total 

At Cost 

Balance as at  April 01, 2021  165.52  115.94  281.46 

Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS116  -    -    -   

Additions  60.77  125.35  186.12 

Disposals/adjustments  (18.72)  (20.32)  (39.04)

Balance at March 31, 2022  207.57  220.97  428.54 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance as at  April 01, 2021  61.73  57.75  119.48 

Reclassified/Creation on account of adoption of Ind 
AS116

 -    -    -   

Depreciation during the year  36.84  27.41  64.25 

Disposals/adjustments  (18.72)  (20.32)  (39.04)

Balance at March 31, 2022  79.85  64.84  144.69 

Net Book Value as at March 31, 2022  127.72  156.13  283.85 

Particulars 
 Computer server 

on lease 
 Building  Total 

At Cost 

Balance at April 01, 2020 (Refer note 4.8)  118.69  115.00  233.69 

Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS116  -    -    -   

Additions  46.83  5.95  52.78 

Disposals/adjustments*  -    (5.01)  (5.01)

Balance at March 31, 2021  165.52  115.94  281.46 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at April 01, 2020  35.72  28.69  64.41 

Reclassified/Creation on account of adoption of Ind 
AS116

 -    -    -   

Depreciation during the year  26.01  31.27  57.28 

Disposals/adjustments  -    (2.21)  (2.21)

Balance at March 31, 2021  61.73  57.75  119.48 

Net Book Value as at March 31, 2021  103.79  58.19  161.98 

* It includes adjustment amounting to `0.20 crore on account of change in future rental payments for lease locations
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

15	 Other non financial assets

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
To be realised within twelve months after reporting date:
Service tax / GST recoverable
(Service tax recoverable includes Pre-deposits for appeal and Show cause 
notices)
	 Unsecured, considered good  120.56  92.76 
Prepaid expenses  31.50  29.96 
Unamortised Card acquisition cost  135.28  83.22 
Other advances
	 Unsecured, considered good  52.26  39.20 
	 Unsecured, which have significant increase in credit risk  0.01  0.04 
Sub Total - Gross  339.61  245.18 
Less : - Impairment loss allowance  (0.01)  (0.04)
Sub Total - Net (A)  339.60  245.14 
To be realised after twelve months after reporting date:
Service tax / GST recoverable    
(Service tax recoverable includes Pre-deposits for appeal and Show cause 
notices)
Unsecured, which have significant increase in credit risk  5.41  113.70 
Prepaid expenses  3.30  5.66 
Unamortised Card acquisition cost  619.44  583.04 
Sub Total - Gross  628.15  702.40 
Less : - Impairment loss allowance  (5.41)  (113.70)
Sub Total - Net (B)  622.74  588.70 
Total Net (A+B)  962.34  833.84 

16	 Payables

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Payable within twelve months after reporting date:
(I)	 Trade payables*

(i)	 total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  36.26  -   
(ii)	 total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises *
1080.54 881.38

Total (A) 1116.80 881.38
(II)	 Other payables

(i)	 total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  -    -   
(ii)	 total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises
(a)	 total outstanding dues to employees 1.65 0.83
(b)	 total outstanding dues to capital creditors 9.22 10.51

Total (B) 10.87 11.34
Total (A+B) 1127.67 892.72

(*) Average credit period is 30 to 120 days from the date of services rendered and no interest is due on outstanding balances 
as at reporting date. The company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within 
the pre agreed credit terms.
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

16.1 Disclosures under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006

	 In terms of notification dated Deptember 4, 2015 issued by the Central Government of India, the disclosure related to 
trade payables as at the end of the period are as follows:				  

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
(i) Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the 

accounting period
 36.26  -   

(ii) Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of 
the accounting period

 -    -   

(iii) The amount of interest paid along with the amounts of the payment 
made to the supplier beyond the appointed day

 -    -   

(iv) The amount of interest due and payable for the period  -    -   
(v) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the 

accounting period
 -    -   

(vi) The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding 
year, until such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid

 -    -   

Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of 
information collected by the Management. This has been relied upon by the auditors.

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2022

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments

Unbilled Not Due Less than 
6 months 

6 months 
-1 Year 

1-2 
Years 

2-3 
Years 

More than 
3 years 

Total  

(i)	 MSME 31.98 3.48 0.80 -   -   -   -   36.26 

(ii)	 Others 945.93 116.68 17.80 0.01 -   -   0.11 1,080.54 

(iii)	 Disputed dues - MSME -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

(iv)	 Disputed dues- Others -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Total 977.91 120.16 18.60 0.01 -   -   0.11 1,116.80 

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2021

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments

Unbilled Not Due Less than 
6 months 

6 months 
-1 Year 

1-2 
Years 

2-3 
Years 

More than 
3 years 

Total  

(i)	 MSME  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(ii)	 Others  771.43  68.71  40.93  0.13  0.07  -    0.11  881.38 

(iii)	 Disputed dues - MSME  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv)	 Disputed dues- Others  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  771.43  68.71  40.93  0.13  0.07  -    0.11  881.38 
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

17	 Debt Securities
	 At amortized cost

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
(A)
	 (i)	 From Others
		  Unsecured

(i)	 Commercial paper
	 - To be settled within twelve months after reporting date;  815.16  2,212.14 
(ii)	 Debentures
	 - To be settled within twelve months after reporting date;  1,486.18  185.79 
	 - To be settled after twelve months after reporting date;  4,805.00  3,535.00 

Total (A)  7,106.34  5,932.93 
(B)
Debt Securities in India  7,106.34  5,932.93 
Total (B)  7,106.34  5,932.93 

17.1 Details of non-convertible debentures (NCD)

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
8.10%  Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in May'21)  -  110.00 
9.15% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Jun'22)  450.00  450.00 
8.55% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Aug'22)  175.00  175.00 
7.60% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Feb'23)  410.00  410.00 
7.50% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Mar'23)  300.00  300.00 
6.85% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Jun'23)  400.00  400.00 
5.75% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Nov'23)  500.00  500.00 
5.90% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Feb'24)  550.00  550.00 
5.70% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in May'24)  455.00  - 
5.55% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Jun'24)  500.00  - 
5.70% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Aug'24)  500.00  - 
5.75% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Nov'24)  500.00  - 
5.82% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Dec'24)  650.00  - 
7.40% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Feb'25)  300.00  300.00 
6.00% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Dec'25)  450.00  450.00 
Total  6,140.00  3,645.00 
Interest accrued and impact of EIR  151.18  75.79 
Total  6,291.18  3,720.79 
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18	 Borrowings (other than debt securities) & lease liabilities 

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
(a)	 From Bank (Other than Related Party) 
	 Unsecured Loans (Refer note 18.1 below) 

(i)	 Term loan 
-	 To be settled after twelve months after reporting date;  499.95  -   

(b)	 From Bank (Related Party)
	 Secured Loans (Refer note 18.2 below)
	 (i)	 Working capital loans

-	 To be settled within twelve months after reporting date;  9,398.64  8,134.93 
(c)	 From Bank (other than Related Party)
	 Secured Loans (Refer note 18.2 below)
	 (i)	 Working capital loans

-	 To be settled within twelve months after reporting date;  4,781.51  2,528.59 
Total (A)  14,680.10  10,663.52 
(B)
Borrowings in India  14,680.10  10,663.52 
Total (B)  14,680.10  10,663.52 

18.1 Repayment schedule of term loan is as below :

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
4.95 % Unsecured Term Loan (Bullet repayment in Jun'25)  500.00  -   
Total  500.00  -   
Interest accrued and impact of EIR  0.05  -   
Total  499.95  -   

18.2 Secured by  

Primary Security Primary Security  Colleteral Security  Colleteral Security  Repayment terms   Repayment terms   Guaranteed by  Guaranteed by 

First Charge on entire current assets First Charge on entire current assets 
of the company (present and future)  of the company (present and future)  
including Hypothecation of Receivables.including Hypothecation of Receivables.

First Charge on entire property, First Charge on entire property, 
plant & equipments of the plant & equipments of the 
company (present and future). company (present and future). 

 Within 12 months  Within 12 months  NA  NA 

 Details of Default  Details of Default  Quarterly returns filled with banks are in agreement  Quarterly returns filled with banks are in agreement 
with books of accounts with books of accounts 

NilNil YesYes

Working capital loan as on March 31, 2022 includes cash credit (related party): ` 199.98 crores (March 31, 2021 ` 162.39 
Crores) 

Interest rate on working capital loans varies from 3.90% to 5.35% and on cash credit facility varies from 7.05% to 7.30% 
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19	 Subordinated Liabilities

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
(A)
Unsecured non-convertible debentures
- Redeemable within twelve months after reporting date; and 146.02 148.33
- Redeemable after twelve months after reporting date;  1,050.00  1,150.00 
Total (A)  1,196.02  1,298.33 
(B)
Subordinated liabilities in India  1,196.02  1,298.33 
Total (B)  1,196.02  1,298.33 

19.1 Details of non-convertible debentures  

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
9.00 %  Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Nov'21)  -  100.00 
9.65% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Apr'22)  100.00  100.00 
8.30% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in May'23)  500.00  500.00 
8.10% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Oct'23)  200.00  200.00 
9.55% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Jan'29)  250.00  250.00 
8.99% Unsecured NCD of ` 1,000,000 each (Redeemable at par in Jun'29)  100.00  100.00 
Total  1,150.00  1,250.00 
Interest accrued and impact of EIR  46.02  48.33 
Total  1,196.02  1,298.33 

Net Debt reconciliation for the year ended March 31, 2022

Particulars

 Opening 
Balance  

 Cashflows  Non Cash Changes  Closing 
balance  Interest/

amortization 
 Foreign 

Exchange 
Movement 

 Others 

Debt Securities

	 Commercial papers  2,212.14  (1,347.37)  (49.61)  -    -    815.16 

	 Debentures  3,720.79  2,495.00  75.39  -    -    6,291.18 

Borrowings (other than debt 
securities) & lease liabilities

	 Working capital loans  10,663.52  3,516.56  0.08  -    -    14,180.15 

	 Term Loan  -    500.00  (0.05)  -    -    499.95 

Subordinated Liabilities

	 Debentures  1,298.33  (100.00)  (2.31)  -    -    1,196.02 

Total  17,894.78  5,064.19  23.50  -    -    22,982.46 
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Net Debt reconciliation for the year ended March 31, 2021

Particulars

 Opening 
Balance  

 Cashflows  Non Cash Changes  Closing 
balance  Interest/

amortization 
 Foreign 

Exchange 
Movement 

 Others 

Debt Securities

	 Commercial papers  2,541.97  (313.88)  (15.95)  -    -    2,212.14 

	 Debentures  3,257.31  500.00  (36.52)  -    -    3,720.79 

Borrowings (other than debt 
securities) & lease liabilities

	 Working capital loans  10,297.89  365.54  0.08  -    -    10,663.52 

	 Foreign currency working 
capital loans

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Subordinated Liabilities

	 Debentures  1,298.85  -    (0.52)  -    -    1,298.33 

Total  17,396.02  551.67  (52.91)  -    -    17,894.78 

20	 Other financial liabilities

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Payable within twelve month after reporting period:
Unpaid dividends 213.00 0.07
Payable to Network Partners 684.54 464.72
Excess amount from Card holders 355.12 228.54
Lease liability 62.38 57.34
Other liabilities 17.58 9.51
Payable after twelve months after reporting date
Lease liability 240.07 115.92
Total 1572.69 876.10

21	 Provisions

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Employee Benefits
(i)	 Liabilities to be settled within twelve months after reporting date
	 - Provision for compensated absence 4.90 3.64
	 - Provision for gratuity  -   0.81
	 - Provision for long service awards 1.66 1.45
	 - Provision for bonus & Incentive Payable 45.65 40.97
Sub Total (A) 52.21 46.87
(ii)	 Liabilities to be settled after twelve months after reporting date
	 - Provision for compensated absence 10.60 13.30
	 - Provision for long service awards 4.44 7.38
Sub Total (B) 15.04 20.68
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Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Others
(i)	 Liabilities to be settled within twelve months after reporting date
	 - Provision for reward points redemption* 265.73 232.47
Sub Total (C) 265.73 232.47
(ii) Liabilities to be settled after twelve months after reporting date
   - Provision for reward points redemption* 144.41 109.63
Sub Total (D) 144.41 109.63
Total (A+B+C+D) 477.39 409.65

22	 Other non-financial liabilities

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Liabilities to be settled within twelve months after reporting date:
Revenue received in advance- Unamortised membership fees * 441.16 365.84
Statutory liabilities 269.35 247.21
Fees received in advance 25.01 24.53
Total 735.52 637.58

* Refer note 36

23	 Equity Share Capital

Particulars
 As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

 Number of 
Shares 

 Amount Number of 
Shares

 Amount 

Authorised Capital

Equity shares of ` 10 each  1,500,000,000  1,500.00  1,500,000,000  1,500.00 

 1,500,000,000  1,500.00  1,500,000,000  1,500.00 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid up 

Equity shares of ` 10 each  943,172,489  943.18  940,525,456  940.53 

TOTAL  943,172,489  943.18  940,525,456  940.53 

(i)	� Reconciliation of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the 
reporting year:

Particulars
 As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

 Number of 
Shares 

 Amount Number of 
Shares

 Amount 

Reconciliation of the number of shares

Balance as at the beginning of the year  940,525,456  940.53  938,956,794  938.96 

Movements*  2,647,033  2.65  1,568,662  1.57 

Balance as at the end of the year  943,172,489  943.18  940,525,456  940.53 

	 * During the year ended March 31, 2022, 2,647,033 Equity shares (Previous year1,568,662) of ̀  10 each has been allotted 
under ESOP scheme.							     
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(ii)	 Rights, preferences and restriction attached to shares

	 The company has only one class of equity share having par value of ` 10 per share. Each holder of the equity share is 
entilted to one vote per share. In the liquidation of the company, the holders of the equity shares will be entilted to receive 
the remaining assets of the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts.					   
		

(iii) Shares held by Holding Company (face value of ` 10/- each)					   

Particulars  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

 Number of 
Shares 

 Amount Number of 
Shares

 Amount 

Shares held by State Bank of India 652,633,992  652.63  652,633,992  652.63 

(iv)	Shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company

Particulars  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

 %  Number of 
Shares 

 %  Number of 
Shares 

Holding Company

Shares held by State Bank of India * 69.20%  652,633,992 69.39%  652,633,992 

Shares held by CA Rover Holdings#  -  -   11.61%  109,173,488 

	 * As at March 31, 2022 one share is held by nominee individual shareholders of which State Bank is the beneficial owner.

	 # As on March 31, 2022 shareholding of CA Rover has gone down below 5%.

(v)	 Shares reserved for issue under Employee Stock Option Plan

Particulars
 No. of Stock 

options / Equity 
shares 

a.	� Number of equity shares approved/reserved for issue under Employee Stock Option Plan, 
2019 to employees of the company drawn in accordance with SEBI guidelines 1999

 27,970,028 

b.	 Option granted under the scheme up to March 31, 2022  13,475,650 
c.	 Option cancelled up to March 31, 2022 and added back to pool for future grants  194,515 
d.	 Option granted net of cancellation under the scheme up to March 31, 2022 (d= b-c)  13,281,135 
e.	 Balance available under the scheme for future grants (e= a-d)  14,688,893 

(vi) Shares held by promoters at the end of the year

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Promoter name State Bank of India State Bank of India
No. of Shares  652,633,992  652,633,992 
% of total shares 69.20% 69.39%
% Change during the year -0.19% -0.12%
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24	  Other equity

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Capital redemption reserve (refer note 24.1 below)  3.40  3.40 
Statutory reserve (refer note 24.2 below)  1,335.08  1,011.85 
General reserve (refer note 24.3 below)  13.11  13.08 
Capital reserve (on account of amalgamation) (refer note 24.4 below)  (71.51)  (71.51)
Securities Premium  reserve (refer note 24.5 below)  988.09  935.19 
Retained earnings (refer note 24.6 below)  4,481.06  3,418.78 
Share options outstanding account (refer note 24.7 below)  47.97  40.50 
Share application money pending allotment (refer note 24.8 below)  -    2.92 
Equity investment through OCI (refer note 24.9 below)  12.32  7.29 
Total  6,809.52  5,361.50 

24.1 Capital redemption reserve

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year  3.40  3.40 
Balance as at the end of the year  3.40  3.40 

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: Where a company purchases its own shares out of free reserves or securities premium 
account, a sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to the capital redemption 
reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the balance sheet. The capital redemption reserve 
account may be applied by the company, in paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to members of the 
Company as fully paid bonus shares.

24.2	Statutory reserve

	 (Under Section 45-IC of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934)

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year  1,011.85  814.95 
Add: Transferred from Retained Earning @ 20%*  323.23  196.90 
Balance as at the end of the year  1,335.08  1,011.85 

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: Statutory reserves is created based on statutory requirements under Section 45-IC of 
the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and is not available for distribution as dividend.

24.3	General reserve

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year 13.08 12.99
Add: Amount transferred from Share options outstanding account* 0.03 0.09
Balance as at the end of the year 13.11 13.08

	 * Refer note 24.7				  

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: General reserve are the retained earning of the Company which are kept aside out of 
company’s profit to meet future (known or unknown) obligation.
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24.4 Capital reserve (on account of amalgamation)

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year  (71.51)  (71.51)
Balance as at the end of the year  (71.51)  (71.51)

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: Capital reserve represents a reserve which is created pursuant to amalgamation of SBI 
Business Process Management Services Private Limited (SBI BPMSL) vide order passed by Hon’ble National Company Law 
Tribunal (NCLT) dated June 04, 2019 effective from April 01, 2018.

24.5	Securities premium

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year 935.19  904.74 
Add: During the period * 37.61 22.68
Add: Transfer from share options outstanding account 15.29  7.77 
Balance as at the end of the year 988.09 935.19

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. It can be utilised 
only for limited purposes in accordance with the provision of the Companies Act, 2013.				 

	 * During the period ended March 31, 2022 addition during the year represents securities premium received on account 
of ESOP ` 37.61 crores and adjustment of Company’s share of IPO related expenses for NIL crores (For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 addition during the year represents securities premium received on account of ESOP ` 22.30 Crores and 
adjustment of Company’s share of IPO related expenses for ` 0.38 Crores)

24.6	Retained earnings

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year 3418.78  2,719.51 
Add: Profit for the period 1616.14 984.53
Less: Interim equity dividend  (235.79)  (93.90)
Add: Transfer From Other Comprehensive Income 5.16 5.55
Less: Transfer to Statutory reserve (section 45-IC of The Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934)

 (323.23)  (196.90)

Balance as at the end of the year  4,481.06  3,418.78 

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: Retained earnings represent the amount of accumulated profits/(losses) and 
appropriations if any.

24.7	Share options outstanding account*

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Balance as at the beginning of the year  40.50  18.18 
Add: During the Period  22.79  30.18 
Less:Transfer on allotment of shares to employees pursuant to ESOP 
scheme

 (15.29)  (7.77)

Less: Transfer to general reserve  (0.03)  (0.09)
Balance as at the end of the year  47.97  40.50 

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: Share options outstanding account is created as required by Ind AS 102 ‘Share Based 
Payments’ on the Employee Stock Option Scheme operated by the Company for employees.
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24.8	Shares application money pending allotment 

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021

Balance as at the beginning of the year  2.92  -   

Add: Shares application money pending allotment pursuant to ESOP  -   2.92

Less:Shares allotment pursuant to scheme of amalgamation  (2.92)  -   

Balance as at the end of the year  -   2.92

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: This represents shares pending allotment pursuant to ESOP scheme.

24.9	Equity investment through OCI

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021

Balance as at the beginning of the year  7.29  -   

Add: Fair valuation through OCI  6.72  9.74 

Add: Deferred tax adjustment  (1.69)  (2.45)

Balance as at the end of the year  12.32  7.29 

	 Nature and purpose of reserve: The Company has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of certain investments 
in equity securities in other comprehensive income. These changes are accumulated in the FVOCI equity investments 
reserve. The Company transfers amounts from this reserve to retained earnings when the relevant equity securities are 
derecognised.

25	 Interest Income

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Interest on loans  4,821.20  4,927.67 

Interest Income from Investment  43.52  12.33 

Interest on deposits with banks  1.31  6.65 

Total  4,866.03  4,946.65 

26	 Fees and commission income

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Interchange income  2,557.89  1,712.20 

Fee based income  1,870.51  1,491.69 

Membership fees  798.16  703.78 

Total  5,226.56  3,907.67 
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27	 Net gain / (loss) on fair value changes

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(i) On trading portfolio  -    -   
(ii) On financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss  (0.10)  0.53 
Total  (0.10)  0.53 
Fair value changes:
-Realised  (0.10)  0.43 
-Unrealised  -    0.10 
Total  (0.10)  0.53 

28	 Other income

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Bad debts recovered  503.05  397.94 
Net gain on foreign currency transactions  3.01  -   
Profit on sale of Investment  0.40  0.18 
Reversal of Impairment loss  108.41  -   
Liabilities/Provisions written back  0.75  8.87 
Interest Income - Income Tax and GST Tax Refund  1.22  3.93 
Miscellaneous income  7.41  6.20 
Total  624.25  417.12 

29 Finance costs  

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

(A)	 At Amortised cost
	 Interest on borrowings  510.09  475.20 
	 Interest on debt securities  386.47  379.52 
	 Interest on Sub-ordinated liabilities  106.90  108.71 
	 Interest expense on lease liability  22.87  14.05 
	 Total (A)  1,026.33  977.48 
(B)	 Financial intruments designated as hedging instruments 
	 Cost of Hedging  0.99  65.92 
	 Total (B)  0.99  65.92 
Total ( A+B )  1,027.32  1,043.40 

30	 Impairment losses & bad debts

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

On loans  2,255.01  2,638.20 
On Others
-	 financial assets  0.83  0.35 
Total  2,255.84  2,638.55 
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Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Bad debt written-off  2,811.26  2,159.54 
Impairment loss for other assets  0.83  0.35 
Impairment loss for loans [Stage 1,2 and 3 assets]  (556.25)  478.66 
Total  2,255.84  2,638.55 

31	 Employee benefits expenses

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Salaries and wages 413.06  426.85 
Contribution to provident fund and other funds 27.96  27.65 
Share based payments to employees 22.79  30.18 
Staff welfare expenses 8.90  6.90 
Total  472.71  491.58 

32	 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 27.33  30.09 
Amortosation on intangible assets 56.98  35.89 
Depreciation on right to use assets 64.25  57.28 
Total  148.56  123.26 

33	 Operating and other expenses

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Consumption of plastic cards & embossing  44.91  38.17 
Short-term lease expense  39.27  31.99 
Variable lease expenses  134.83  140.95 
Travelling and conveyance  7.88  3.08 
Telephone, fax and postage  54.78  51.39 
Card transaction charges  476.02  356.70 
Advertisement  122.58  97.30 
Director's fees, allowances and expenses  1.17  1.03 
Sales Promotion  1,728.22  1,382.86 
Insurance expense  16.21  19.24 
Professional & Consulting fees  159.79  133.49 
Rates and taxes  39.25  11.71 
Collection charges  271.74  357.73 
Repairs and maintenance  25.27  26.27 
Auditor's remuneration (refer note 39)  0.48  0.49 
Power and fuel  5.26  4.43 
Printing, stationery and office supplies  22.06  47.86 
Royalty Expenses  32.32  19.69 
Reward points redemption  622.63  405.10 
Surcharge Waiver to Customer  53.31  35.42 
Corporate social responsibility expenditure*  37.55  32.07 
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Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Data processing charges  302.72  224.45 
Net loss on foreign currency transactions  -    2.92 
Loss on sale of property, plant & equipment  0.63  0.18 
Other expenses  1.61  0.36 
Total  4,200.49  3,424.88 

* Corporate social responsibility expenditure

Pursuant to section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 the Company is required to spend ` 37.55 Crore during the Financial Year 
2021-22 calculated  as per Section 198 of the Companies Act 2013.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

CSR Expenses  37.55  32.07 
Total  37.55  32.07 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

(a)	 amount required to be spent by the company during the year,  37.55  32.07 
(b)	 amount of expenditure incurred, * [Refer below details]  37.55  32.07 
(c)	 shortfall at the end of the year,  NIL  NIL 
(d)	 total of previous years shortfall,  NIL  NIL 
(e)	 reason for shortfall,  NA  NA 
(f)	 nature of CSR activities, Disaster relief,  

Skill development,   
Education, 

healthcare,  
Environment

Disaster relief,  
Skill development,   

Education, 
healthcare,  

Environment
(g)	 details of related party transactions, e.g., contribution to a trust controlled 

by the company in relation to CSR expenditure as per relevant Accounting 
Standard,

 NIL  NIL 

(h)	 where a provision is made with respect to a liability incurred by entering 
into a contractual obligation, the movements in the provision during the 
year should be shown separately.

 0.10  NIL 

* Details of expenditure

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Amount disbursed and utilized  37.21  32.07 
Amount spent over and above disbursed amount  - deposited to unspent account  0.10  NIL 
Amount disbursed but unutilized - deposited to unspent account  0.05  NIL 
Amount neither disbursed nor utilized - deposited to unspent account  0.20  NIL 
Total  37.55  32.07 
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34	 Tax expense

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Current tax
In respect of the current period  399.92  474.25 
In respect of prior year  (17.04)  (10.77)

 382.88  463.48 
Deferred tax
In respect of the current period  156.10  (134.03)
In respect of prior year  17.04  9.76 
Total income tax expense recognised in the current period  173.14  (124.27)

The income tax expense for the period can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Profit before tax from continuing operations  2,172.16  1,323.73 
Income tax expense calculated at 25.168%  546.69  333.16 
Corporate social responsibility / Others  9.33  7.06 
Total  556.02  340.22 
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax / 
deffered tax of prior years

-  (1.01)

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss  556.02  339.21 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Current tax
Arising on income and expenses recognised in other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation  -    -   
Total current tax recognised in other comprehensive income  -    -   
Bifurcation of the income tax recognised in other comprehensive income into:-
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  -    -   
Total   -    -   
Deferred tax
Arising on income and expenses recognised in other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation  (1.73)  (1.87)
Gain/(loss) on Investment in Equity  (1.69)  (2.45)
Remeasurement of fair value of derivative  -    -   
Total deferred tax recognised in other comprehensive income  (3.42)  (4.32)
Bifurcation of the income tax recognised in other comprehensive income into:-
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  (3.42)  (4.32)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss  -    -   
Total   (3.42)  (4.32)
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35	 Earning /(loss) per equity share

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

a Net Profit After Tax  1,616.14  984.52 
b Weighted average of number of equity shares used in computing basic per 

share (in Crores)
 94.19  93.97 

c Effect of dilusion: Employee stock options (in crores)  0.74  0.88 
d Weighted average of number of equity shares used in computing diluted 

earnings per share (in Crores) (b+c)
 94.93  94.86 

e Basic earning per share (a/b)  17.16  10.48 
f Diluted earning per share (a/d)  17.02  10.38 

36	 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in line with Ind AS 115.			 
The Company derives revenue from a variety of services contracts with customers which are governed by Ind AS 115 such as 
interchange income, membership fee, business development incentive income and other fees such as ATM fees, late payment 
etc. Below table shows the revenue from contracts with customers.

Revenue from Services
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Fees and commission income  5,226.56  3,907.67 
Sale of services  132.19  134.18 
Business development incentive income  447.61  299.18 
Insurance commission income  4.88  8.25 
Total Revenue  5,811.24  4,349.28 

The Company’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed in detail under Note 4 above and is generated in India. 
For Critical accounting estimates, refer note 4.16 to the financial statements.

Disaggregation of Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue is not required as the Company’s primary business is to provide credit card facility and interest on 
loans which is governed by Ind AS 109.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

The Company applies practical expedient in Ind AS 115 and does not disclose information about remaining performance 
obligations wherein the Company has a right to consideration from customer in an amount that directly corresponds with the 
value to the customer of entity’s performance till date.

The Company’s remaining performance periods for its incentive arrangements with network partners contracts with customers 
for its payment network services are typically long-term in nature (typically ranging from 3-5 years). Consideration is variable 
based upon the number of transactions processed and volume activity on the cards. At March 31, 2022, the estimated aggregate 
consideration allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations for these other value-added services is `118.26 Crores which is 
expected to be recognised through financial year 2023 and later, (previous period was ` 85.36 Crores.)

Receivables from contracts with customers and contract balances

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets, contract cost and contract liabilities from contract 
with customers
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Contract assets are presented net of impairment in note 11 of the Balance sheet.

The below table discloses balances in receivables and Contract assets.

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Trade Receivable * 168.47 81.52
Contract asset ** 187.89 165.31
Total-Gross 356.36 246.83
To be realised within 12 months from reporting date 238.10 161.47
To be realised after 12 months from reporting date 118.26 85.36

(*) Refer Note 8 to the financial statement			 

(**) Refer Note 11 to the financial statement

The Company might satisfy a performance obligation before it receives the consideration in which case the Company 
recognises a contract asset or receivable, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before 
the consideration is due.

Contract Assets 

The contract assets primarily relate to the Company’s right to consideration for work completed but not billed at the reporting 
date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the right become unconditional. Below table shows the movement.

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Opening balance  165.31  162.42 
Movement during the year  22.58  2.89 
Closing balance  187.89  165.31 
To be realised within 12 months from reporting date  69.63  79.95 
To be realised after 12 months from reporting date  118.26  85.36 

Contract costs 			

The contract cost primarily relates to: 			 

•	 Cost of acquiring a customer is the incremental cost of obtaining contract with customer, which is recognised in the profit 
and loss statement over the behavioural life of the customer. 			 

•	 Sales promotion expenses which are directly related to selling card membership to new customers. This cost is deferred 
over the membership period consisting of 12 months.

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Opening balance  666.26  752.21 
Capitalised during the year  1,139.69  321.12 
Amortised during the year  (1,051.23)  (407.07)
Closing balance *  754.72  666.26 
To be realised within 12 months from reporting date  135.28  83.22 
To be realised after 12 months from reporting date  619.44  583.04 

	 * The unamortised contract costs are disclosed in note 15 to financial statements.
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Contract liabilities - Revenue received in advance 

The Company sells credit card memberships to card holders, income earned from the provision of membership services is 
recognised as revenue over the membership period consisting of 12 months at fair value of the consideration net of expected 
reversals/ cancellations.

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Opening balance  365.84  332.43 
Received during the year  886.58  749.65 
Recognised during the year  (811.27)  (716.24)
Closing balance *  441.16  365.84 
To be realised within 12 months from reporting date  441.16  365.84 
To be realised after 12 months from reporting date  -    -   

* Contract liabilities are disclosed in note 22 to financial statements

37	 Capital Management					   
Capital risk is the risk that the Company has insufficient capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory requirements to 
support its credit rating and to support its growth and strategic options. The Company’s capital plans are deployed with the 
objective of maintaining capital that is adequate in quantity and quality to support the Company’s risk profile, regulatory 
and business needs.  Management/Asset Liability Management Committee [ALCO] is responsible for ensuring the effective 
management of capital risk. Capital risk is measured and monitored using limits set out in in relation to the capital and leverage, 
all of which are calculated in accordance with relevant regulatory requirements.					   

(A)	 Regulated capital:

	 Tier 1 capital consists of Equity share capital, Reserve & Surplus (netted off Intangibles).

	 Tier 2 capital consists of Provision for Standard Assets & Subordinated debts as per RBI Prudential norms for NBFCs.

	 Details of Tier 1 capital are as follows:

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Tier I Capital  6,633.56 5130.36

	 Details of Tier 2 capital are as follows:

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Tier II Capital  884.38 957.45

	 As contained in RBI Master Directions - Non-Banking Financial Company - Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking 
Company and Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 (hereinafter referred to as “RBI Master Directions”), 
the Company is required to maintain a capital ratio consisting of Tier I and Tier II capital not less than 15 % of its aggregate 
risk weighted assets on-balance sheet and of risk adjusted value of off- balance sheet items. Out of this, Tier I capital shall 
not be less than 10%. The Board of Director’s regularly monitors the maintenance of prescribed levels of Capital Risk 
Adjusted Ratio (CRAR).	

(B)	 Key capital Ratios	

	 Capital Risk Adjusted Ratio (CRAR) maintained and monitored by Company is as under:

Particulars
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
CRAR -Tier I Capital 21.03% 20.86%
CRAR - Tier II Capital 2.80% 3.89%
Total CRAR 23.83% 24.75%
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The Company makes all efforts to comply with the above requirements. Further, the Company has complied with all externally 
imposed capital requirements and internal and external stress testing requirements.

The Board of Directors approved the Dividend distribution policy which is in line with the regulatory requirement and guidelines 
as prescribed by RBI from time to time. The policy focuses on the internal and external factors (which includes long term growth 
plan, cash flow position, auditors’ qualification, supervisory findings of RBI on divergence in classification and provisioning in 
Stage 3 assets, prevalent economic conditions and market practices etc) which the Board shall consider before declaring the 
dividend.

(C)	 Interim dividend on equity shares declared: During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Board of Directors have 
declared interim dividend of 25% (` 2.50 per equity share of the face value of ` 10.00) for the financial year 2021-22 in 
accordance with Section 123(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, as amended. (March 31, 2021 - NIL)			 
		

38	 Financial Instruments

	 Financial instruments by category and fair value measurements

	 The carrying value and fair value of financial instruments by categories as of March 31, 2022, were as follows:

Particulars Amortised 
cost

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Financial 
assets/

liabilities at 
fair value 

through OCI

Financial 
assets/

liabilities 
Designated 
as hedging 

Instruments

Total  
carrying 

value

Total  fair 
value

Designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Equity 
instruments 
designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
(Refer Note 5)

758.16 -   -   -   758.16 758.16 

Bank Balance other than (a) 
above (Refer Note 6)

348.23 -   -   -   348.23 348.23 

Derivative Asset (Refer Note 7) -   -   -   -   -   -   
Trade Receivable (Refer Note 8) 168.47 168.47 168.47 
Loans (Refer Note 9) 30,187.25 -   -   -   30,187.25 29,893.00 
Investments (Refer Note 10) 1,279.27 -   17.92 -   1,297.19 1,291.45 
Other Financial assets (Refer 
Note 11)
	 Contract Asset 187.89 -   -   -   187.89 172.54 
	 Security Deposits 24.87 -   -   -   24.87 20.32 
	 Others 0.56 -   -   -   0.56 0.56 
Total 32,954.70 -   17.92 -   32,972.62 32,652.73 
Liabilities: 
Trade payables (Refer Note 16) 1,116.80 -   -   -   1,116.80 1,116.80 
Other payables (Refer Note 16) 10.87 -   -   -   10.87 10.87 
Debt Securities (Refer Note 17) 7,106.34 -   -   -   7,106.34 7,120.95 
Borrowings (Other than Debt 
Securities (Refer Note 18)

14,680.10 -   -   -   14,680.10 14,662.47 

Subordinated Liabilities (Refer 
Note 19)

1,196.02 -   -   -   1,196.02 1,251.26 
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Particulars Amortised 
cost

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Financial 
assets/

liabilities at 
fair value 

through OCI

Financial 
assets/

liabilities 
Designated 
as hedging 

Instruments

Total  
carrying 

value

Total  fair 
value

Designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Equity 
instruments 
designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Other financial liabilities (Refer 
Note 20)
	 Payable to Network Partners 684.54 -   -   -   684.54 684.54 
	 Excess amount from Card 

holders
355.12 -   -   -   355.12 355.12 

	 Unpaid dividends 213.00 -   -   -   213.00 213.00 
	 Lease liabilities 302.45 -   -   -   302.45 302.45 
	 Others 17.58 -   -   -   17.58 17.58 
Total 25,682.82 -   -   -   25,682.82 25,735.04 

	 The carrying value and fair value of financial instruments by categories as of March 31, 2021 were as follows:

Particulars Amortised 
cost

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Financial 
assets/

liabilities at 
fair value 

through OCI

Financial 
assets/

liabilities 
Designated 
as hedging 

Instruments

Total  
carrying 

value

Total  fair 
value

Designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Equity 
instruments 
designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
(Refer Note 5)

643.20 -   -   -   643.20 643.20 

Bank Balance other than (a) 
above (Refer Note 6)

76.90 -   -   -   76.90 76.90 

Derivative Asset (Refer Note 7) -   0.10 -   -   0.10 0.10 
Trade Receivable (Refer Note 8) 81.52 81.52 81.52 
Loans (Refer Note 9) 23,459.14 -   -   -   23,459.14 23,156.01 
Investments (Refer Note 10) 946.36 -   11.20 -   957.56 952.44 
Other Financial assets (Refer 
Note 11)
	 Contract Asset 165.31 -   -   -   165.31 154.23 
	 Security Deposits 27.61 -   -   -   27.61 24.50 
	 Others 1.95 -   -   -   1.95 1.95 
Total 25,401.99 0.10 11.20 -   25,413.29 25,090.84 
Liabilities: 
Trade payables (Refer Note 16) 881.38 -   -   -   881.38 881.38 
Other payables (Refer Note 16) 11.34 -   -   -   11.34 11.34 
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Particulars Amortised 
cost

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss

Financial 
assets/

liabilities at 
fair value 

through OCI

Financial 
assets/

liabilities 
Designated 
as hedging 

Instruments

Total  
carrying 

value

Total  fair 
value

Designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Equity 
instruments 
designated 
upon initial 
recognition

Debt Securities (Refer Note 17) 5,932.93 -   -   -   5,932.93 5,983.44 
Borrowings (Other than Debt 
Securities (Refer Note 18)

10,663.52 -   -   -   10,663.52 10,663.52 

Subordinated Liabilities (Refer 
Note 19)

1,298.33 -   -   -   1,298.33 1,375.42 

Other financial liabilities (Refer 
Note 20)
	 Payable to Network Partners 464.72 -   -   -   464.72 464.72 
	 Excess amount from Card 

holders
228.54 -   -   -   228.54 228.54 

	 Unpaid dividends 0.07 -   -   -   0.07 0.07 
	 Lease liabilities 173.26 -   -   -   173.26 173.26 
	 Others 9.51 -   -   -   9.51 9.51 
Total 19,663.60 -   -   -   19,663.60 19,791.20 

	 Hierarchy of Fair value measurements 

	 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

	 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; 

	 Level 3 - Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

	 A.	 The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Finanical Asset/ 
(Finanical Liabilities)

Fair value as at Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)As at 

March 31, 2022
As at 

March 31, 2021

Foreign currency forward 
contracts not designated 
in hedge accounting 
relationships ( Refer foreign 
currency risk management 
related disclosures given 
below)

 -   0.10 Level 2 Future cash flows are 
estimated based on 
forward  exchange 
rates from observable 
forward exchange 
rate at the end of 
the reporting period) 
and  contract forward 
rates, discounted at a 
rate that reflects the 
credit risk of various 
counterparties
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Finanical Asset/ 
(Finanical Liabilities)

Fair value as at Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)As at 

March 31, 2022
As at 

March 31, 2021

Investments in equity 
instruments at FVTOCI*

17.92 11.20 Level 3 Equity valuation is 
updated as per latest 
valuation report. 
The Company has 
evaluated and has not 
observed any material 
variation in business 
performance till date.

 3.2% equity 
investment in 
Online PSB 
Loans Ltd 
(formerly known 
as Capitaworld 
platform Private 
Limited). 
Company is a 
fintech startup 
engaged in the 
business of 
providing Smart 
& Digital lending 
platform and 
market place 

 3.5% equity 
investment in 
Online PSB 
Loans Ltd 
(formerly known 
as Capitaworld 
platform Private 
Limited). 
Company is a 
fintech startup 
engaged in the 
business of 
providing Smart 
& Digital lending 
platform and 
market place 

	 *These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term 
strategic purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Company has chosen to designate these investments in 
equity instruments as at FVTOCI, instead of reflecting changes in fair value immediately in profit or loss. 

	 B.	 The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value: 

	 The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value as on March 31, 2022 are:

Particulars
Carrying 

value
Fair value  Fair value measurement at end of the 

reporting period/year using  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets: 

Loans  30,187.25  29,893.00  -    -    29,893.00 

Investments  1,279.27  1,273.53  1,273.53  -    -   

Other Financial assets 

	 Contract Asset  187.89  172.54  -    -    172.54 

	 Security Deposits  24.87  20.32  -    20.32 

Total  31,679.28  31,359.39  1,273.53  -    30,085.86 

Liabilities: 

Debt Securities  7,106.34  7,120.95  4,819.61  -    2,301.34 

Borrowings (Other than Debt Securities)  14,680.10  14,662.47  -    -    14,662.47 

Subordinated Liabilities  1,196.02  1,251.26  387.83  -    863.44 

Total  22,982.46  23,034.68  5,207.43  -    17,827.25 
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	 Fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value as on March 31, 2021 are:

Particulars
Carrying 

value
Fair value  Fair value measurement at end of the 

reporting period/year using  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets: 

Loans  23,459.14  23,156.01  -    -    23,156.01 

Investments  946.36  941.24  941.24  -    -   

Other Financial assets 

	 Contract Asset  165.31  154.23  -    -    154.23 

	 Security Deposit  27.61  24.50  -    -    24.50 

Total  24,598.42  24,275.97  941.24  -    23,334.74 

Liabilities: 

Debt Securities  5,932.93  5,983.44  3,585.51  -    2,397.93 

Subordinated Liabilities  1,298.33  1,375.42  399.67  -    975.76 

Total  7,231.26  7,358.86  3,985.17  -    3,373.69 

	 Except as detailed in the table above, the management consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recognised in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

	 C.	 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Particulars

Unlisted shares 
irrevocably as 

at FVTOCI as at 
March 31, 2022

Unlisted shares 
irrevocably as 

at FVTOCI as at 
March 31, 2021

Opening balance  11.20  1.46 
Total gains or losses: in profit or loss  -    -   
        in other comprehensive income 6.72   9.74 
Purchases/Issues/Acquisition  -    -   
Disposals/ settlements  -    -   
Transfers out of level 3  -    -   
Closing balance  17.92  11.20 

38.1 Financial risk management

	 Financial risk factors

	 The Company has exposure to the following types of risks from financial instruments:

	 ·       Market risks;

	 ·       Credit risk; and

	 ·       Liquidity risk;

	 The Company’s Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework. The Risk Management Committee manages the risk management framework and appetite. The 
Board of Directors has established the Enterprise Risk Management Committee (ERMC) which is responsible for approving 
and monitoring Company’s risk management framework. The risk management policies, processes and tools are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities.

38.1.1 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings, to fair values or to future cash flows that may result from a change in 
variables such as changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and other market changes that affect 
market risk sensitive instruments.
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	 The Company uses a wide range of qualitative and quantitative tools to manage and monitor various types of market risks 
it is exposed to. Quantitative analysis such as net income sensitivities, stress tests etc. are used to monitor and manage 
company’s market risk appetite.

	 A.	 Interest risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair value of financial instruments 
because of changes in market interest rates.

	 The Company has fixed as well as floating rate loans. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on Loans as well 
as repricing risk at the time of re-borrowing. The below table shows the interest rate sensitivity for a period up to one 
year.

Description
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Assets  9,048.25  6,406.66 
Liabilities  17,127.50  13,267.12 
Variation  (8,079.25)  (6,860.46)

		  Interest rate sensitivity analysis						    

	 50-basis point [bps] increase or decrease is management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest 
rates. The below table presents the impact on Profit / (Loss) before tax for 50 basis point increase or decrease in 
interest rate on Company’s short-term interest rates liabilities and assets which are open to repricing risk (assuming 
all other variables are held constant):

Particulars  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

50 bps Impact on Profit  (40.40)  40.40  (34.30) 34.30

	 The above sensitivity analysis is prepared assuming the amount outstanding at the end of the reporting period was 
outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates. The Company’s sensitivity to interest rate has increased on a year to year 
basis primarily due to business growth and correspondingly increase in borrowings.

	 B.	 Foreign currency risk

	 Foreign Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, denominated in 
currency other than functional currency, will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is 
exposed to foreign currency risk mainly on its borrowings denominated in foreign currency resulting in exposures to 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

	 The carrying amount of company’s foreign currency asset and liability are as follows:

Particulars Liabilities Assets

As at March 
31, 2022

As at March 
31, 2021

As at March 
31, 2022

As at March 
31, 2021

Others  82.57  62.73  75.52  73.11 

Total  82.57  62.73  75.52  73.11 

		  Foreign currency sensitivity analysis:

	 The below table presents the impact on profit or loss [+ Gain / (-) Loss] before tax for 5% change in foreign currency 
exchange rate against INR:

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis Impact (Net basis)
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Currency depreciating by 5%  (0.35)  0.52 
Currency Appreciating by 5%  0.35  (0.52)
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	 The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. Sensitivity analysis given above is unrepresentative 
of the inherent foreign exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting periods does not reflect 
the exposure during the years.

			   Foreign currency risk monitoring and management

	 The Company’s currency risk management policy lays down the appropriate systems and controls to identify, 
measure and monitors, the currency risk for reporting to the management. Parameters like hedging ratio, un- 
hedged exposure, mark-to market position, exposure limit with banks etc. are continuously monitored as a part 
of currency risk management. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved parameters using forward 
foreign exchange contracts. Foreign currency exposure under borrowings is fully hedged at the time of taking the 
loan itself.

			   Derivative financial instruments

	 The Company enters into derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate 
the risk of changes in exchange rates on foreign currency exposures. The counterparty for these contracts is 
a bank. As on reporting date March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 company do not have any foreign currency 
borrowing outstanding.

			   Contracts included in hedge relationship

	 During the year Company has designated certain foreign exchange forward contracts as cash flow hedges the 
movement in spot rates to mitigate the risk of foreign exchange exposure on underlying foreign currency exposures. 
Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective 
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging 
instrument, including whether the hedging instrument is expected to offset changes in cash flows of hedged 
items. If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes is no longer optimal but the risk management objective 
remains unchanged and the hedge continues to qualify for hedge accounting and any hedge ineffectiveness is 
calculated and accounted for in the statement of profit or loss at the time of the hedge relationship rebalancing.

	 As on March 31, 2022 the company does not have any outstanding contract which was designated under Hedge 
relationship (March 31, 2021 - NIL)

Cash flow hedging Action Currency Amount Exchange 
rate

As at March 
31, 2022

As at March 
31, 2021

Financial Asset (6 
months-12 months)

Sell USD  $0.35  73.50  -    25.73 

			   Unhedged Position of the Company is as follows:

Particulars $0.00 As at March 31, 2022

Currency Amount Currency Amount

Financial Liability  $1.09  82.57  $0.85  62.73 

Finacial Asset  $1.00  75.52  $0.64  47.38 

38.1.2. Credit Risk									       

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising out of customer’s failing to meet their contractual obligations to the Company.

	 The Company has a board approved Credit Risk policy. The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) owns the policy.

	 Credit risk arises mainly from loans and advances to retail and corporate customers arising on account of facilitating credit 
card loans to customers. The Company also has exposure to credit risk arising from other financial assets such as cash 
and cash equivalents, other financial assets including fixed deposits with banks, other receivables from contracts with 
customers and contract assets etc.

	 Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Company generally invest in deposits with banks and financial 
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international and domestic credit rating agencies.
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	 A.	 Credit risk management approach

	 Managing credit risk is the most important part of total risk management exercise. The CRO of the Company is 
responsible for the key policies and processes for managing credit risk, which include formulating credit policies and 
risk rating frameworks, guiding the Company’s appetite for credit risk exposures, undertaking independent reviews 
and objective assessment of credit risk, and monitoring performance and management of portfolios. The principal 
objectives being maintaining a strong culture of responsible lending across the Company, and robust risk policies 
and control frameworks, implementing and continually re-evaluating our risk appetite and ensuring there is adequate 
monitoring of credit risks, their costs and their mitigation.

	 The basic credit risk management would cover two key areas, viz., (a) customer selection & (b) customer management.

	 These are governed by Board Approved Credit Policy and Collections Policy which is reviewed on a regular basis.

		  (a)	 Customer Selection

	 Key criterion for customer selection is in accordance with Board Approved Credit Policy, which defines, inter alia, 
type of customers, category, market segment, income criterion, KYC requirement, documentation etc. The Policy 
also spells out details of credit appraisal process, delegation structure. The customer selection process aims to 
ensure quality portfolio and lower delinquency.

			   (I)	 Retail Customer Selection process

		  All the fulfilled approved applications undergo a number of checks which include

		  •	 internal deduplication checks,

		  •	 fraud deduplication check

		  •	 scrutiny of KYC and income documents

		  •	 Sophisticated Machine Learning (ML) application models

		  •	 Bureau checks etc

		  For Credit limit is assigned basis ML models to estimate the debt and income of a customer

			   (II)	 Unsecured Corporate customer selection process

		  •	� For all unsecured corporate card exposures, SBI Cards conducts a detailed subjective assessment 
based on information taken from the corporate, bureau reports, third party credit assessment agencies 
like rating agencies and any publicly available information.

		  •	� To accurately assess the credit profile of a corporate, SBI Cards assesses the detailed financials, stock 
price performance (if listed) trends over the recent past. The critical parameters are collated as a credit 
proposal and approval is done by the credit committee.

		  •	� In general, we evaluate the business risks associated with the corporate and its industry, its financial 
profile, liquidity situation and financial flexibility. A peer comparison is also made between the corporate 
and other reputed companies from the same industry.

			   (III)	 Secured Corporate customer selection process

		�  SBI Cards allows exposure to corporates against liquid securities (e.g. Fixed Deposit & Bank Guarantee). For 
all secured corporate card exposures, SBI Cards checks the bureau reports and a slightly shorter proposal 
is put before the approving authority (as per the delegation authority approved by the Board of Directors). 
The security is validated before any cards are issued.

		  (b)	 Customer Management

	 Customer management relates to credit controls once a card is issued, broadly consisting of:

			   i.	 Portfolio Monitoring

		�  We perform continuous monitoring of the portfolio leveraging various capabilities including ML based 
behavior scores, bureau refresh, bureau alerts, payment behavior, transaction trends, and periodic update 
on income estimation
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			   ii.	 Portfolio management

		�  Portfolio management activities enable us to grow lower risk exposures while restricting high risk. We have 
robust capabilities around dynamic limit management, cross-sell of term loans, balance transfers. Account 
management capabilities including a robust blocking strategy, reinstatements, dispute management, and 
overlimit strategies

			   iii.	 Fraud control

		�  Continuous monitoring of transactions and a risk-based approach is leveraged to identify instances of 
fraud like account takeover, unauthorized access. ML models are leveraged to identify potential frauds and 
proactively protect against the same

			   iv.	 Collection strategy

		�  Customers who fail to pay their dues by the stipulated payment due dates, at various stages of delinquency 
come under the purview of collection and recovery strategies. The company has developed ML models to 
prioritize collection efforts and also guide the intensity of efforts across delinquency buckets. Hardship 
tools are leveraged to help resolve cases including settlements and restructuring. Post write-off, ML based 
segmentation is leveraged to prioritize efforts. For secured cards, liens on FDs / BGs are invoked 

	 B.	 Credit risk analysis

	 This section analyses Company’s credit risk split as follows;

(a)	 Exposure to credit risk - Analysis of overall exposure to credit risk before and after credit risk mitigation.

(b)	 Credit quality analysis - Analysis of overall loan portfolio by credit quality.

(c)	 Impairment - Analysis of non-performing / impaired loans.

(d)	 Credit risk mitigation - Analysis of collaterals held by client segment and collateral type.

			   (a)	 Exposure to credit risk

	 Maximum exposure to credit risk is given below:

Particulars	
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Cash and bank balances  1,106.39  720.10 
Derivative Financial Instruments  -    0.10 
Trade Receivables  168.47  81.52 
Loans  30,187.25  23,459.14 
Investment  1,297.19  957.56 
Other Financial Assets  213.32  194.87 
Total  32,972.62  25,413.29 

	 Loans to customer includes loans secured by lien on Fixed deposits and Bank Guarantee held with third party 
banks. Secured loans account for 1.13% as at March 31, 2022, (1.35% as at March 31, 2021) of total loans.

	 Notes:

	 ·	� Loans to customers which accounts for 91.6% of total exposure to credit risk, as at March 31, 2022, is 
segregated based on risk characteristics of the population to manage credit quality and measure impairment.

	 ·	� Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as we generally invest in deposits with banks and financial 
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international and domestic credit rating agencies.

	 ·	� Investments in Government Securities are measured at amortized cost and Investments in unquoted 
instruments are valued at Fair value as on balance sheet date and effect has been routed through Other 
Comprehensive Income to be in line with Ind AS guideline.
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	 ·	� Derivative instruments taken by the Company are from the same party (Parent company) from whom the 
Company has taken the underlying loan. Hence, default risk from counterparty is also being a financial 
institution with high credit rating is limited.

	 ·	� Company follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables/
other financial assets wherein Company uses a provision matrix to determine the impairment loss allowance 
on the portfolio of receivables.

			   Credit concentration risk

	 Credit concentration risk may arise from a single large exposure to a counterparty Credit concentration risk may 
arise from a single large exposure to a counterparty or a group of connected counterparties, or from multiple 
exposures across the portfolio that are closely correlated.

	 Large exposure concentration risk is managed through concentration limits set by a counterparty or a group of 
connected counterparties based on control and economic dependence criteria

	 For concentrations that are material at a Company level, breaches and potential breaches are monitored by the 
respective governance committees and reported to the Risk Committee and CRO.

	 The Company follows the prescribed Regulatory Prudential Norms:

	 ·	 Single Borrower Exposure limit - 15% of net owned funds of SBI Cards & Payments Services Ltd.

	 ·	 Group Borrower Exposure limit - 25% of net owned funds of SBI Cards & Payments Services Ltd

	 In addition, there is also an internal capping on the single borrower exposure at ` 200 Cr.

	 Single Borrower and Group Borrower exposure as on:

Particulars Single Borrower 
exposure

Group Borrower 
exposure

March 31, 2022 1.36% 2.22%

March 31, 2021 1.66% 2.70%

			   The following tables gives credit risk / exposure concentration by client segment

			   Concentration by client portfolio segment

	 The following table sets out an analysis of risk concentration of loans to customers split by client segment

Portfolio segment	
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Corporate - Secured  40.60  25.26 
Corporate - Unsecured  59.26  40.92 
Retail - Secured  299.70  290.99 
Retail - Unsecured  30,881.81  24,756.66 
Total  31,281.37  25,113.83 

		  (b)	 Credit quality analysis

			   Credit grading

	 The Company classifies credit exposure basis risk characteristics into high/medium/low risk. The Company has 
in place a credit risk grading model (Internal rating model) which is supplemented by external data such as credit 
bureau scoring information, financials statements and payment history that reflects its estimates of probabilities 
of defaults of individual counterparties and it applies blocks(soft/hard) on accounts based on activity pattern of 
the borrower.
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	 A breakdown of loans by credit quality is given below.

			   By Portfolio Segment

Credit risk classification/ Staging
As at 

March 31, 2022
As at  

 March 31, 2021
Strong ( Stage 1)  27,931.49  20,720.59 
Satisfactory ( Stage 2)  2,656.46  3,138.96 
High Risk ( Stage 3)  693.42  1,254.28 
Total  31,281.37  25,113.83 

	 Impact of year on year increase is on account of portfolio growth.

			   Approach followed:

Stage 1 Includes borrowers that have not had a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial 
recognition or have low credit risk at the reporting date. 12-month expected credit losses 
(‘ECL’) are recognized.

Stage 2 Includes borrowers that had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that 
does not have objective evidence of impairment. Lifetime ECL is calculated for such borrowers. 
Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of the card.

Stage 3 Includes borrowers that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting that. Lifetime 
ECL is calculated for such borrowers.

			   Credit quality by client segment

	 An overall breakdown of loan portfolio by client segment is provided below differentiating between performing 
and non-performing loan book,

	 The Company segregates its credit risk exposure from loans & advances to customers as Stage 1 (Good), Stage 
2 (Increased credit risk), Stage 3 (Impaired loans). The staging is done based on criteria specified in Ind AS 109 
and other qualitative factors.

		  (c)	 Impairment

			   Collective measurement model (Retail and Corporate)

	 The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, 
as the exposure varies with the change in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The 
assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to likelihood of defaults occurring, 
of the associated loss ratios, collaterals and coverage ratio etc.

	 The Company measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure of Default (EAD), Loss Given 
Default (LGD). Ind-AS 109 outlines a three staged model for measurement of impairment based on changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition.

	 ·	 A financial instrument that is not credit impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage1’

	 ·	 If a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) is identified the financial instrument moves to ‘Stage 2’,

	 ·	 If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument moves to ‘Stage3’ category.

	 The Company defines default or significant increase in credit risk (SICR) based on the following quantitative and 
qualitative criteria.

			   Definition of Default

			   Quantitative criteria

	 The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

			   Qualitative criteria

	 The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates that the borrower is in significant difficulty 
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wherein a ‘hard block’ is applied on accounts and is blocked for further activity on meeting the following criteria;

	 •	 Arrangement to Pay

	 •	 Settlement

	 •	 Cardholder is deceased

	 •	 Restructured

	 Further, for any borrower to be upgraded from Stage 3, the entire overdue balance on all accounts, must be 
cleared.

			   Definition of Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

			   Quantitative criteria

	 The borrower is 30-90 past due on its contractual payments.

			   Qualitative criteria

	 When borrowers are classified as “high risk” or when the account is tagged as “ over-limit” i.e. when borrowers 
are expected to/approach their credit limit it is considered as indicator of increased credit risk.

	 The default definition has been applied consistently to model the PD, LGD and EAD for measurement of ECL.

	 Measuring ECL- Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

	 ECL is measured on either a 12 month or lifetime basis depending on whether there is an increase in SICR since 
initial recognition. ECL is the discounted product of PD, LGD and EAD.

			   Estimation for retail accounts

			   PD

	 Month on month (MOM) default rates were calculated for all vintages.

	 Post calculating Mom default rates, cumulative yearly PDs being calculated till lifetime.

	 ·	 For Stage 1 accounts 1- year marginal PD were calculated.

	 ·	 For Stage 2 accounts - Lifetime PDs were calculated

	 ·	 For Stage 3 accounts a 100% PD was taken

			   LGD

	 All discounted recoveries net of collection costs is calculated segment wise against exposures to arrive at loss 
estimates. Discount rate being considered is the average yield rate across segments. LGD is floored at 0% and 
capped at 100%

			   EAD

	 Segment wise EAD is calculated using the below formula.

	 EAD = Balance Outstanding + CCF*(Credit Limit – Balance Outstanding), where CCF is proportion of unutilized 
credit limit which is expected to be utilized till the time of default. CCF is applicable only for stage 1 accounts, as 
stage 2 and stage 3 accounts cannot utilize the unused credit limit. CCF % = Utilisation (t+12) – Utilisation (t) i.e. 
change of utilization rates over next 1 year, its being floored at 0%

		  Segment wise PD and LGD as at March 31, 2022 rates arrived at for all stages is given below

Portfolio Segment
PD LGD

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Corporate - Secured  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  0.00% 

Corporate - Unsecured 1.53% 2.96% 100% 55.85% 55.85% 55.85%

Retail - Secured 3.29% 5.93% 100% 27.62% 27.62% 27.62%

Retail - Unsecured 2.29% 6.78% 100% 64.82% 64.82% 64.82%
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	 The Company revisits the inputs, assumptions used in measurement of ECL whenever there is a significant 
change, at least every quarter.

			   ·	 Individual Measurement (Corporate)					   

	 The Company’s credit risk function segregates loans with specific risk characteristics based on trigger events 
identified using sufficient and credible information available from internal sources supplemented by external 
data.									       

	 Specific reserve may be created in following scenarios: -						    

	 ·	 Rating of the corporate is downgraded significantly.

	 ·	 Public news of default or fraud by the corporate or any group company with any lender.

	 ·	 Adverse reporting in bureau with respect to the corporate or promoters (overdues with other lenders)	

	 ·	 Adverse public information on corporate or associated group. 

	 ·	 Significant Overdues of the corporate or group companies with SBI Card or SBI.

	 ·	� If corporate exposure is backed by security, and there is a deterioration in the value of the underlying 
security.

	 Impairment allowance for these exposures are reviewed and accounted on a case by case basis. Below table 
states different scenarios and effect of the same on point in time provision.	

Classification Trigger’s Point Provision

Stage 2 Rating of the corporate downgraded 
by 2 notches but still investment grade 
or, Early warning triggers or, Overdue 
amount reported in bureau>INR 50K (but 
not NPA or 90+)

1.	 PD determination basis external raiting 

2.	 LGD will be as applicable for the quarter

3.	 EAD will be point in time outstanding of 
the corporate 

Stage 3 Rating of the corporate downgraded by 
3 notches or current rating falls below 
investment grade or, NPA  with SBI Card, 
any other group Company > INR 1 lakh

1.	 PD will be 100%

2.	 LGD will be as applicable for the quarter

3.	 EAD will be point in time outstanding of 
the corporate

Stage 3 Rating of corporate downgraded to C/D 
category or, Public news of default or 
fraud by the corporate

1.	 Provisioning will be 100% of point in  
time outstanding of the corporate

	 The normal ECL model for provisioning will not apply to corporates, where specific reserves are being held.

	 In the event where above stated conditions show improvement and corporate no longer falls under any of 
triggers for consistently 3 months, provision is restated basis Collective measurement model.

			   Management overlay on ECL model due to COVID-19

	 The current ECL model does not cater to future economic deterioration expected due to COVID-19 fall out. 
Accordingly, in anticipation of the expected economic fallout, the Company has identified specific segments 
prone to stress in the current situation. These have been identified on the basis of behaviour in the last 12 months 
as well as the efforts required to collect on these segments. The stress segments identified are customers who 
opted for RBI resolution package as per RBI circular dated August 6, 2020 and are in stage 2 or stage 3 on the 
reporting date. The Company has created additional management overlay on these segments. The Company is 
closely monitoring its asset quality and taking suitable actions to manage its exposures. The impact of COVID-19 
on the Company’s financial statements may differ from that estimated as at the date of approval of these financial 
statements.
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	 The incremental provision created as management overlay is as follows:

Stage Management Overlay

Stage 1Stage 1  -    -   

Stage 2Stage 2 46.8246.82

Stage 3Stage 3 3.743.74

TotalTotal 50.5650.56

	 Below table shows stage wise portfolio gross exposure and loss allowance on Loans

Portfolio Segment  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Corporate - Secured 40.55 0.05 -   22.04 3.22 -   

Corporate - Unsecured 59.11 0.15 -   40.82 0.10 -   

Retail - Secured 291.37 6.47 1.86 278.34 6.77 5.88 

Retail - Unsecured 27,540.46 2,649.79 691.56 20,379.39 3,128.87 1,248.40 

Gross Exposure 27,931.49 2,656.46 693.42 20,720.59 3,138.96 1,254.28 

Less : Impairment loss 455.91 185.69 452.52 331.71 346.35 976.63 

Carrying Amount 27,475.58 2,470.77 240.90 20,388.88 2,792.61 277.66 

	 Below table shows the breakup of Impairment loss provision

Portfolio Segment  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Corporate - Secured  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Corporate - Unsecured  0.50  -    -    0.22  -    -   

Retail - Secured  2.65  0.11  0.51  0.90  0.05  0.54 

Retail - Unsecured *  452.76  185.58  452.01  330.59  346.30  976.09 

Total Impairment loss  455.91  185.69  452.52  331.71  346.35  976.63 

	 * Impairment loss provision of Stage 1 is calculated as PD * LGD * EAD, where EAD comprises of Balance 
outstanding + CCF amount. Calculation of ECL for Retail Unsecured is as below

Category

For the year ended March 31, 2022 For the year ended March 31, 2021

Balance 
Outstanding

CCF Amt Total EAD ECL 
Amount

Balance 
Outstanding

CCF Amt Total EAD ECL 
Amount

Retail Unsecured 27,540.46 2,901.31 30,441.77 452.76 20,379.39 1,607.27 21,986.66 330.59 

	 CCF amount for other portfolio is NIL for both the years.

	 As of March 31, 2022, there is NIL specific loss provision for Corporate unsecured customers (NIL as of March 
31, 2021)

			   ECL % as per collective measurement model 

ECL percentage  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 

Segment wise exposure Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Corporate - Secured 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Corporate - Unsecured 0.85% 1.65% 55.85% 0.53% 1.67% 57.92%

Retail - Secured 0.91% 1.64% 27.62% 0.32% 0.75% 9.19%

Retail - Unsecured 1.49%  4.39% 64.82% 1.50% 4.05% 65.90%
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			   ECL % including individual measurement and management overlay 

ECL percentage  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 
Segment wise exposure Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Corporate - Secured 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Corporate - Unsecured 0.85% 1.65% 55.85% 0.54% 1.67% 57.92%
Retail - Secured 0.91% 1.70% 27.42% 0.32% 0.74% 9.18%
Retail - Unsecured 1.64%  7.00% 65.36% 1.62% 11.07% 78.19%

			   Movement of Impairment loss allowance:

Particulars Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Impairment loss allowance as at March 31, 2021 331.71 346.35 976.63
Movements during the year
Addition / Reduction during the year  14.65  (188.70) 1224.60
Provision movement on account of asset sale  -    -    (4.31)
Write-offs during the period  -    -    (1,864.92)
New Addition during the year 109.54 28.04 120.52
Impairment loss allowance as at March 31, 2022 455.91 185.69 452.52

Particulars Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Impairment loss allowance as at March 31, 2020 653.06 350.37 325.53
Movements during the year
Addition / Reduction during the year  (392.28)  (238.04) 2009.41
Provision movement on account of asset sale  -    -    (152.93)
Write-offs during the period  -    -    (1,411.23)
New Addition during the year 70.93 234.02 205.85
Impairment loss allowance as at March 31, 2021 331.71 346.35 976.63

			   Movement of Impairment Loss on assets other than Loans

			   For the year ended March 31, 2022

Particulars
Trade 

receivable 
Other Financial 

assets 
Other non 

Financial 
assets 

Opening balance 0.34 1.91 113.74
Addition during the year  -    0.83  0.09 
Reduction during the year  (0.30)  (0.34)  (108.41)
Closing Balance 0.04 2.39 5.42

			   For the year ended March 31, 2021

Particulars
Trade 

receivable 
Other Financial 

assets
Other non 

Financial 
assets

Opening balance 0.16 3.69 114.20
Addition during the year  0.34  0.35  -   
Reduction during the year  (0.16)  (2.13)  (0.46)
Closing Balance 0.34 1.91 113.74
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		  (d)	 Credit risk mitigation 

	 The below table shows the cover ratio of total NPA for the portfolio segment

			   As at March 31, 2022

Non Performing Loans Retail 
Secured

Retail 
Unsecured

Loans  1.86  691.56 
Loss Reserve(ECL)  0.51  452.01 
Coverage 27.42% 65.36%

			   As at March 31, 2021

Non Performing Loans Retail 
Secured

Retail 
Unsecured

Loans  5.88  1,248.40 
Loss Reserve(ECL)  0.54  976.09 
Coverage 9.18% 78.19%

38.1.3. Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company doesn’t have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as and when 
they fall due or will have to do so at an excessive cost. This risk arises from the mismatches in the timing of the cash flows 
which is inherent in all financing operations and can be affected by a range of company specific and market wide events. 
Therefore, Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

	 The Company has put in place an effective Asset Liability Management System, constituted an Asset Liability Management 
Committee (“ALCO”) headed by Managing Director & CEO of the Company.

	 The Company manages its liquidity risk through a mix of strategies, including forward-looking resource mobilization based 
on projected disbursements and maturing obligations. ALCO is responsible for managing the Company’s liquidity risk via 
a combination of policy formation, review and governance, analysis, stress testing, limit setting and monitoring.

	 Company’s borrowing program is rated by CRISIL & ICRA. Short term rating is A1+ and long-term rating is AAA/Stable by 
both the agencies. There has been no change in ratings from last 10 years.

	 The maturity pattern of items of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities at undiscounted principal and interest cash 
flows are as under: 

	 Maturity Analysis of Non Derivative financial assets & liabilities : As at March 31, 2022

Description Upto 31 
days

1-2 
month

2-3 
months

3-6 
months

6-12 
months

1 year to 
3 years

3 year to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Financial Liabilities

Payable 185.45 140.59 87.70 190.33 523.60 -   -   -   1,127.67 

Debt securities -   22.90 503.98 201.64 1,572.82 4,355.00 450.00 -   7,106.34 

Borrowings other than debt 
securities 

5,153.07 4,271.64 2,905.00 1,450.00 400.44 -   499.95 -   14,680.10 

Subordinated liabilties 100.00 -   6.52 28.86 10.64 700.00 -   350.00 1,196.02 

Other Financial Liabilities 947.34 51.27 49.79 148.90 31.43 102.97 71.50 169.49 1,572.69 

Financial Liabilities Total 6,385.86 4,486.40 3,552.99 2,019.73 2,538.93 5,157.97 1,021.45 519.49 25,682.82 
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Description Upto 31 
days

1-2 
month

2-3 
months

3-6 
months

6-12 
months

1 year to 
3 years

3 year to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 653.23 -   104.93 -   -   -   -   -   758.16 

Bank Balances other than 
cash and cash equivalents 

241.29 0.01 0.04 0.14 0.55 1.47 0.02 104.71 348.23 

Trade receivable 34.92 18.92 104.73 9.87 0.03 -   -   -   168.47 

Loans 10,371.40 4,627.62 3,004.20 4,719.35 3,276.31 3,947.47 -   240.90 30,187.25 

Investments -   230.31 53.06 402.30 195.68 217.68 180.24 17.92 1,297.19 

Other Financial Assets 0.02 30.48 2.17 40.86 3.30 135.36 -   1.13 213.32 

Financial Assets Total 11,300.86 4,907.34 3,269.13 5,172.52 3,475.87 4,301.98 180.26 364.66 32,972.62 

	 Maturity Analysis of Non Derivative financial assets & liabilities : As at March 31, 2021

Description Upto 31 
days

1-2 
month

2-3 
months

3-6 
months

6-12 
months

1 year to 
3 years

3 year to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Financial Liabilities

Payable 89.85 64.41 53.43 185.18 499.85 -   -   -   892.72 

Debt securities -   613.66 416.43 449.84 918.00 2,785.00 750.00 -   5,932.93 

Borrowings other than debt 
securities 

5,001.42 2,910.71 1,701.36 800.36 249.67 -   -   -   10,663.52 

Subordinated liabilties -   -   6.46 28.56 113.31 800.00 -   350.00 1,298.33 

Other Financial Liabilities 497.57 31.39 31.89 100.31 28.81 92.75 23.25 70.13 876.10 

Financial Liabilities Total 5,588.84 3,620.16 2,209.57 1,564.25 1,809.64 3,677.75 773.25 420.14 19,663.61 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 641.18 2.02 -   -   -   -   -   -   643.20 

Bank Balances other than 
cash and cash equivalents 

5.25 0.01 -   0.14 0.50 0.33 1.05 69.62 76.90 

Trade receivable 31.31 2.23 7.46 0.66 39.86 -   -   -   81.52 

Loans 7,288.08 3,440.15 2,263.43 3,823.37 2,800.28 3,566.18 -   277.65 23,459.14 

Investments -   281.53 1.69 281.68 63.11 86.84 231.51 11.20 957.56 

Other Financial Assets 3.82 21.82 3.18 23.72 122.05 18.79 0.26 1.23 194.87 

Financial Assets Total 7,969.64 3,747.76 2,275.75 4,129.56 3,025.80 3,672.14 232.82 359.70 25,413.19 

	 Maturity Analysis of Derivative financial assets & liabilities : 

Description Upto 31 
days

1-2 
month

2-3 
months

3-6 
months

6-12 
months

1 year to 
3 years

3 year to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

As at March 31, 2022 

Foreign exchange forward 
contract liabilities (Assets) 

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

As at March 31, 2021 

Foreign exchange forward 
contract liabilities (Assets) 

 -    -    -    -    (0.10)  -    -    -    (0.10)

	 The table above, details the Company’s expected maturities for its non-derivative and derivative financial instruments 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities including interest. When the amount payable or receivable is 
not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield 
curves at the end of the reporting period.	
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	 Following is the position of company’s undrawn limits as on respective year end dates:

Particulars Total Facility Drawn Undrawn
March 31, 2022
Less than 1 year  20,000.00  14,995.31  5,004.69 
March 31, 2021
Less than 1 year  19,000.00  12,875.66  6,124.34 

	 Other price risks

	 The Company is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. The Company’s equity investments are held 
for strategic rather than trading purposes.				  

	 Equity price sensitivity analysis

	 If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2022 would 
increase/decrease by ` 1.79 crores, (for the year ended March 31, 2021 increase/decrease by ` 1.12 crores) as a result 
of the changes in fair value of equity investments measured at FVTOCI

Portfolio Segment  As at March 31, 2022  As at March 31, 2021 
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

10% value  1.79  (1.79)  1.12  (1.12)

39	 Auditors’ remuneration (excluding GST/Service tax)

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 Audit fee 0.30 0.30
 Quarterly Limited Review fee 0.06 0.06
 Tax audit fee 0.03 0.03
 Fee for other services 0.07 0.07
 Reimbursement of expenses  0.02 0.02
 Total 0.48 0.49

40	 Reward Points Movement
Movement of provision for reward points redemption and legal cases in accordance with Ind AS 37; Provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets is as under:				  

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

a. 	 Provision at the beginning of the year 342.10 367.69
b. 	 Net addition during the year 601.90 333.21
c. 	 Value of points redeemed during the year  (533.86)  (358.79)
d. 	 Provision at the end of the year* (a+b-c) 410.14 342.10

*Provision for reward points as at March 31, 2022 provided as per actuarial valuation, Refer note 21.	

Legal Claims:		

The below table provide the movement of the provision for cases filed against the Company in the ordinary course of business. 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

a. 	 Provision at the beginning of the year 0.16 0.18
b. 	 Additions / (Reduction) made during the year  (0.03)  -   
c. 	 Amount Paid during the year 0.03 0.02
d. 	 Provision at the end of the year (a+b-c) 0.10 0.16
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41	 Related party disclosures
List of parties who have controlling interest or with whom transactions have taken place during the year.

List of Related Parties

i.	 Holding Entity	

	 State Bank of India

ii.	 Entity having significant influence	

	 CA Rover Holdings

iii.	 Fellow subsidiaries

	 SBI Capital Markets Ltd.  	

	 SBICAP Securities Ltd.  	

	 SBICAP Trustee Company Ltd. 	

	 SBICAP Ventures Ltd.  	

	 SBICAP (Singapore) Ltd.  	

	 SBICAP (UK) Ltd.  	

	 SBI DFHI Ltd.  	

	 SBI Global Factors Ltd.  	

	 SBI Infra Management Solutions Private Limited 	

	 SBI Mutual Fund Trustee Company Pvt Ltd.  	

	 SBI Payment Services Pvt. Ltd. 	

	 SBI Pension Funds Pvt Ltd.  	

	 SBI General Insurance Company Ltd. 	

	 SBI Life Insurance Company Ltd. 	

	 SBI-SG Global Securities Services Pvt. Ltd.  	

	 SBI Funds Management Pvt. Ltd. 	

	 SBI Funds Management (International) Private Ltd. 	

	 Commercial Indo Bank  Llc , Moscow  	

	 Bank SBI Botswana Limited  	

	 SBI Canada Bank  	

	 State Bank of India (California)  	

	 State Bank of India (UK) Limited  	

	 State Bank of India Servicos Limitada (Brazil)  	

	 SBI (Mauritius) Ltd.  	

	 PT Bank SBI Indonesia  	

	 Nepal SBI Bank Ltd.  	

	 Nepal SBI Merchant Banking Ltd.  	

	 SBI Foundation (not for Profit Company)	

	 SBI Card employee’s gratuity fund

iv.	 Key managerial personnel

	 Mr. Dinesh Kumar Khara, Director

	 Mr. Rama Mohan Rao Amara, MD and CEO (from 30th 
January 2021)

	 Mr. Ashwini Kumar Tewari, MD and CEO (from 01st  
August 2020 to 27th January 2021)

	 Mr. Ashwini Kumar Tewari, Director (from 05th April 
2021)

	 Mr. Hardayal Prasad, MD and CEO (till 31st July’ 2020)

	 Mr. Nalin Negi, CFO

	 Ms. Payal Mittal Chhabra, Company Secretary

	 Mr. Sunil Kaul, Director (till 18th June 2021)

	 Mr. Mihir Narayan Prasad Mishra, Director (from 18th 
June 2021)

	 Dr. Tejendra Mohan Bhasin, Director

	 Mr. Rajendra Kumar Saraf, Director

	 Mr. Dinesh Kumar Mehrotra, Director

	 Ms. Anuradha Shripad Nadkarni, Director

	 Mr. Shree Prakash Singh, Director (till 31 July 2020)

	 Mr. Devendra Kumar, Director (from 21 August 2020 till 
8th June 2021)

	 Mr. Shriniwas Yeshwant Joshi, Director (from 04 
December 2020)

	 Mr. Rajnish Kumar, Director (till 6th October 2020)

	 Mr. Nilesh Shivaji Vikamsey, Director (till 5th  November 
2020)
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41.1 Transactions/balances outstanding with related parties for the Year ended/as at March 31, 2022

Particulars  Holding 
Entity

Entity having 
significant 
influence  

Fellow 
Subsidiaries  

Key 
Managerial 
Personnel 

 For the year ended March 31, 2022
a.	 Transactions during the  period
	 Advertisement,  sales promotion & Collection  18.21  -    -    -   
	 Cost allocations received*  3.12  -    -    -   
	 Fees and Commission, bank charges  158.85  -    -    -   
	 Commission Received    -    -    0.17  -   
	 Personnel Cost (Managerial remuneration 

Salaries & other Allowances)  
 -    -    -    4.36 

	 Personnel Cost (Managerial remuneration- Post 
Employement  Benifits)  

 -    -    -    0.05 

	 Personnel Cost (Managerial remuneration- 
Share based payments)  

 -    -    -    0.66 

	 Gratuity fund contribution   -    -    3.18  -   
	 Interest Income on fixed deposit    0.15  -    -    -   
	 Income on Investment  -    -    0.01  -   
	 Finance charges    427.09  -    24.89  -   
	 Borrowings taken    51,993.60  -    -    -   
	 Borrowings repaid    49,798.90  -    -    -   
	 Fixed Deposit made    0.82  -    -    -   
	 Fixed deposit matured  0.68  -    -    -   
	 Investment Made  -    -    125.00  -   
	 Investment Matured  -    -    125.00  -   
	 Royalty expenses  32.32  -    -    -   
	 Loans and Advances given and other adjustments   0.50  -    2.99  0.80 
	 Loans and Advances Repaid    0.53  -    2.92  0.76 
	 Insurance Expenses    -    -    0.61  -   
	 Conrtibution to Other Fund   0.95  -    -    -   
	 Dividend Paid  163.16  7.29  0.92  0.01 

Particulars  Holding 
Entity

Entity having 
significant 
influence  

Fellow 
Subsidiaries  

Key 
Managerial 
Personnel 

 For the year ended March 31, 2022
b. 	 Balances Outstanding at Period End
	 Trade Payables and Other liabilities  42.01  -    0.00  -   
	 Trade receivables    -    -    0.06  -   
	 Borrowings (other than debt securities)  9,398.64  -    -    -   
	 Debt Securities including interest payable  2,774.36  -    319.89  -   
	 Cash and Bank Balances**    358.59  -    -    -   
	 Loans and Advances***   14.30  -    1.77  0.06 
	 Fixed deposit including Interest Accrued     2.75  -    -    -   
	 Investments    -    -    0.001  -   
	 Contribution to other fund  0.08  -    -    -   
	 Dividend Payable  163.16  7.29  0.92  0.01 

All transactions with the related parties are at Arm’s length.

*The amounts are included/ adjusted in the respective expense line items of operating and other expenses.

** These amounts represent cash & bank balance, book overdraft, funds in transit & earmarked balances as at March 31, 2022.

 *** These amounts represent year-end balances outstanding as at March 31, 2022 on credit cards issued.
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41.2 Transactions/balances outstanding with related parties for the Year ended/as at March 31, 2021

Particulars  Holding 
Entity

Entity having 
significant 
influence  

Fellow 
Subsidiaries  

Key 
Managerial 
Personnel 

 For the year ended March 31, 2021
a.	 Transactions during the  period
	 Advertisement,  sales promotion & Collection  13.36  -    -    -   
	 Cost allocations received*  2.84  -    -    -   
	 Fees and Commission, bank charges  124.24  -    -    -   
	 Commission Received    -    -    0.60  -   
	 Personnel Cost (Managerial remuneration 

Salaries & other Allowances)  	
 -    -    -    4.30 

	 Personnel Cost (Managerial remuneration- Post 
Employement  Benifits)  

 -    -    -    0.03 

	 Personnel Cost (Managerial remuneration- 
Share based payments)  

 -    -    -    0.90 

	 Gratuity fund contribution   -    -    3.64  -   
	 Interest Income on fixed deposit    0.36  -    -    -   
	 Finance charges    563.89  -    25.06  -   
	 Borrowings taken    51,461.48  -    -    -   
	 Borrowings repaid    51,365.75  -    -    -   
	 Fixed Deposit made    1.94  -    -    -   
	 Fixed deposit matured  4.61  -    -    -   
	 Royalty expenses  19.69  -    -    -   
	 Loans and Advances given and other 

adjustments  	
 0.51  -    2.31  0.24 

	 Loans and Advances Repaid    0.51  -    2.24  0.24 
	 Insurance Expenses    -    -    0.60  -   
	 Conrtibution to Other Fund   0.89  -    -    -   
	 CSR Contribution   -    -    8.87  -   
	 Dividend Paid  65.26  14.92  0.02  -   

Particulars  Holding 
Entity

Entity having 
significant 
influence  

Fellow 
Subsidiaries  

Key 
Managerial 
Personnel 

 For the year ended March 31, 2021
b. 	 Balances Outstanding at Period End
	 Trade Payables and Other liabilities  45.73  -    0.81  -   
	 Trade receivables    -    -    0.16  -   
	 Borrowings Including Interest Payable    8,162.56  -    319.89  -   
	 Debt Securities including interest payable  1,788.50  -    -    -   
	 Cash and Bank Balances**    91.63  -    -    -   
	 Loans and Advances***   8.92  -    0.18  0.02 
	 Fixed deposit including Interest Accrued     2.54  -    -    -   
	 Investments    -    -    0.001  -   
	 Contribution to other fund  0.08  -    -    -   

All transactions with the related parties are at Arm’s length.

*The amounts are included/ adjusted in the respective expense line items of operating and other expenses. 

** These amounts represent cash & bank balance, book overdraft, funds in transit & earmarked balances as at March 31, 2021.

*** These amounts represent year-end balances outstanding as at March 31, 2021 on credit cards issued.

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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	  iii)	 Options granted during the year ended  March 31, 2022 - NIL

Fair value at the grant date of options granted during the year ended March 31, 2021

Type of Option Type of Option Tranche Tranche Fair value (in Fair value (in `̀))

Performance Option-2Performance Option-2

Tranche 1 Tranche 1  604.9  604.9 

Tranche 2Tranche 2  613.1  613.1 

Tranche 3Tranche 3  620.9  620.9 

Tranche 4 Tranche 4  628.3  628.3 

	 The fair value of the options is determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the 
following assumptions: 

Particulars Performance Options-2

Tranche 1 
options 

Tranche 2 
options 

Tranche 3 
options 

Tranche 4 
options 

Expected Dividend Yield 0% 0% 0% 0%

Year to expiration 3.5 4.5 5.5 6.5

Risk free rates 5.9% 6.1% 6.2% 6.3%

Expected Volatility 34.4% 33.4% 33.1% 32.8%

	 Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate during a period. The 
measure of volatility used in the Model is the annualized standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates 
of return on the stock over a period of time which is considered as equivalent to the life to expiration. In the instinct 
case, the volatility of the Company is computed based on the average volatility of the comparable companies listed 
on stock exchange.

b.	 Expense arising from share-based payment transactions

Particulars March 31, 2022  March 31, 2021 
Employee option plan  22.79  30.18 
Total expense  22.79  30.18 

43	 Leases

I.	 Short Term lease payments

	 For the operating lease agreements entered into by the Company which are considered as short team leases (lease term 
of less than 12 months period) under IND AS 116, right of use asset and lease liability has not been recognized during the 
year. Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as 
an expense in profit or loss. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office furniture.

II.	 Variable lease payments

	 Under certain contracts, payments are variable in nature as it depends on number of man hours worked by non-full-
time employee in a particular month. Variable lease payments are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the 
condition that triggers those payments occurs.

	 Maturity Analysis of lease liabilities:

Particulars March 31, 2022  March 31, 2021 
Not later than one year  62.38  57.34 
Later than one year and not later than five years  174.46  115.36 
Later than five years  65.61  0.56 
Total minimum lease payments  302.45  173.26 

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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44	 Employee benefits 		

	 Defined contribution plans 		

	 The Company makes Provident Fund contributions which are defined contribution plans, for qualifying employees. Under 
the Schemes, the Company is required to contribute a specified percentage of the payroll costs to fund the benefits. The 
contributions payable to these plans by the Company are at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Provident Fund  19.00  18.02 

Employee State Insurance Corporation (ESIC)  0.31  0.36 

Contribution to National Pension System  0.78  0.89 

Labour Welfare Fund  0.14  0.14 

Total  20.22  19.41 

	 Defined benefit plans 		

	 The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan for its employees. Under the gratuity plan, every employee who has 
completed five years or more of service gets a gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each 
completed year of service. The scheme of gratuity is unfunded.

	 The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Discount rate 6.45% 6.30%

Future Salary Increase/Salary escalation 9.00% 9.00%

Expected return on plan assets 0.00% 0.00%

Retirement Age (years) 60 years 60 Years

Mortality Tables* 2012-14 2012-14

Employee turnover

From 21 to 30 years 33.00% 22.00%

From 31 to 40 years 26.00% 12.00%

From 41 to 50 years 15.00% 11.00%

From 51 to 59 years 5.00% 0.00%

	 The estimates of future salary increase, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion & 
Other relevant factors, such as supply & demand in the employment market. 

	 * Based on India’s standard mortality table with modification to reflect expected changes in mortality/ others. 

	 The following tables summarize the components of net benefit expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss and 
the funded status and amounts recognized in the balance sheet for the gratuity plan. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation and the related current service cost are measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method with actuarial 
valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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	 Statement of profit and loss

	 Net employee benefits expense recognized in the employee cost:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Current service cost  7.97  8.16 
Past service cost  -    -   
Interest on net defined benefit liability / (asset)  (0.11)  0.08 
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss *  7.86  8.24 
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Changes in financial assumptions  (0.53)  (1.75)
Changes in demographic assumptions  (5.35)  (1.56)
Experience adjustments  (1.49)  (4.24)
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense)  0.49  0.13 
Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset  -    -   
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive 
income 

 (6.89)  (7.42)

	 *For the year ended March 31, 2022, contribution of ` 0.13 Crores has been made by trust maintained with SBI Life 
insurance Company limited.

	 The current service cost and the net interest expense for the year are included in the ‘Employee benefits expense’ line item 
in the statement of profit and loss.

	 The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehensive income.

	 The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the entity’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as 
follows ;

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation  56.46  56.28 
Fair value of plan assets  (57.98)  (55.47)
Net obligation status  (1.52)  0.81 
Restrictions on asset recognised  -    -   
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation  (1.52)  0.81 

	 Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Opening defined benefit obligation  56.28  53.85 
Current service cost  7.97  8.16 
Past service cost  -    -   
Interest cost  3.38  3.59 
Remeasurement (gains)/losses due to:
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions  (0.53)  (1.75)
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions  (5.35)  (1.56)
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments  (1.49)  (4.24)
Benefits paid  (3.79)  (1.77)
Closing defined benefit obligation  56.46  56.28 
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Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Opening fair value of plan assets  55.47  50.22 
Employer contributions  3.30  3.64 
Interest on plan assets  3.49  3.51 
Administration expenses  -    -   
Remeasurement due to:
Actual return on plan assets less interest on plan assets  (0.49)  (0.13)
Benefits Paid  (3.79)  (1.77)
Assets acquired/(settled)*  -    -   
Assets distributed on settlements  -    -   
Closing defined benefit obligation  57.98  55.47 

	 Sensitivity Analysis: 		

	 Gratuity is a lump sum plan and the cost of providing these benefits is typically less sensitive to small changes in demographic 
assumptions. The key actuarial assumptions to which the benefit obligation results are particularly sensitive to are discount 
rate and future salary escalation rate. The following table summarizes the change in defined benefit obligation and impact 
in percentage terms compared with the reported defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period arising on 
account of an increase or decrease in the reported assumption by 50 basis points 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Discount Rate
Impact of increase 50 bps on Defined benefit obligation -3.04% -4.52%
Impact of Decrease 50 bps on Defined benefit obligation 3.22% 4.88%
Salary Esclation rate
Impact of increase 50 bps on Defined benefit obligation 3.12% 4.73%
Impact of Decrease 50 bps on Defined benefit obligation -2.98% -4.43%

	 These sensitivities have been calculated to show the movement in defined benefit obligation in isolation and assuming 
there are no other changes in market conditions at the accounting date. There have been no changes from the previous 
periods in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analyses. 

	 Projected plan cash flow: 		

	 The table below shows the expected cash flow profile of the benefits to be paid to the current membership of the plan 
based on past service of the employees as at the valuation date:

Maturity Profile
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Expected Benefits for 1 year  9.79  5.19 
Expected Benefits for 2 year  8.24  5.07 
Expected Benefits for 3 year  7.25  4.87 
Expected Benefits for 4 year  6.06  4.79 
Expected Benefits for 5year  5.72  4.38 
Expected Benefits for 6 year  4.39  4.73 
Expected Benefits for 7 year  4.38  3.70 
Expected Benefits for 8 year  3.90  4.15 
Expected Benefits for 9 year  3.42  4.00 
Expected Benefits for 10 year and Above  38.54  74.36 
Weighted average duration to the payment of these cash flows (in Years)  6.25  9.39 
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		  Compensated absences

	 An actuarial valuation of compensated absences has been carried out by an independent actuary based on the 
following assumption:

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

Particulars 
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Discount rate 6.45% 6.30%

Future Salary Increase/Salary escalation 9.00% 9.00%

Retirement Age (years) 60 Years 60 Years

Mortality Tables* 2012-14 2012-14

Employee turnover

From 21 to 30 years 33.00% 22.00%

From 31 to 40 years 26.00% 12.00%

From 41 to 50 years 15.00% 11.00%

From 51 to 59 years 5.00% 0.00%

	 The estimates of future salary increase, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion 
& Other relevant factors, such as supply & demand in the employment market.

	 * Based on India’s standard mortality table with modification to reflect expected changes in mortality/ others.

	 Defined Benefit Obligation of compensated absence in respect of the employees of the Company are as follows:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Defined benefit obligation 15.50 16.94

Closing defined benefit obligation 15.50 16.94

		  Long service award

	 An actuarial valuation for Long Service Awards to employee has been carried out by an independent actuary based on 
the following assumption:  

	 The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

Particulars 
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Discount rate 6.45% 6.30%

Increase in Cost of Award 0.00% 0%

Retirement Age (years) 60 Years 60 Years

Mortality Tables* 2012-14 2012-14

Employee turnover

From 21 to 30 years 33.00% 22.00%

From 31 to 40 years 26.00% 12.00%

From 41 to 50 years 15.00% 11.00%

From 51 to 59 years 5.00% 0.00%

	 The estimates of future salary increase, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion 
& Other relevant factors, such as supply & demand in the employment market. 

	 * Based on India’s standard mortality table with modification to reflect expected changes in mortality/ others.
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	 Defined Benefit Obligation of long service award in respect of the employees of the Company are as follows:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Defined benefit obligation 6.10 8.83

Closing defined benefit obligation 6.10 8.83

45	 Contingent liabilities and Commitments

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt

(a)	 Demand notices from Service tax department 26.03 53.74

(b) 	 Claims against the company in the ordinary course of business 24.94 19.36

(c) 	 Guarantees 8.17 110.13

(d) 	 Demand notice from Income tax department 1.98 5.45

(e) 	 Contribution notice from ESIC & EPFO 7.08 7.08

Total 68.20 195.76

Pre-deposit against claims 2.49 2.47

i.	 Certain show cause notices relating to indirect taxes matters amounting to ` 0.42 Crores (previous period ` 0.42 Crores) 
and interest as applicable, have neither been acknowledged as claims nor acknowledged as contingent liabilities. Based on 
internal assessment and discussion with tax advisors, the Company is of the view that the possibility of any of these tax 
demands materializing is remote.

ii.	 In absence of any specific entry in the Indian Stamp Act, 1899 for amalgamation, which is open to interpretation of the 
stamp collector, the Company has filed an application dated June 30, 2019 for adjudication of the stamp duty. During 
the pendency of the adjudication application, it is difficult to provide an estimate of the actual stamp duty that would be 
leviable on the Company and therefore no provision has been made in the financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2022.

iii.	 Capital Commitments: Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for 
(net of advances) amounted to ` 10.22 crores as at March 31, 2022 (` 22.07 crores as at March 31, 2021)

46	 As per the best available information on records, Company does not have any transactions with the companies struck off 
under Section 248 of the Companies Act,2013 or Section 560 of the Companies Act,1956 during the financial year 2021-
22.

47	 Segment Information
	 There is only reportable segment (“Credit cards”) an envisaged by Ind AS 108 Segment reporting, specified under 

section 133 of the Companies act 2013, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014. Further, the economic 
environment is which the Company operates is significantly similar and not subject to materially different risk and rewards.

	 Accordingly, as the Company operates in a single business and geographical segment, the reporting requirement for 
primary and secondary disclosures prescribed by Ind AS 108 are not required to be given.

48	 In respect of accounts receivables, the Company is regularly generating and dispatching customer statements on periodic 
interval wherever transactions or outstanding are there. In case of disputes with regard to billing, there is a process of 
resolution and adjustments are carried out on regular basis. Moreover, in respect of accounts payable, the Company has 
a process of receiving regular balance confirmation from its vendors.

	 For the year end balances of account receivables and account payables, the management is of the opinion that adjustments, 
if any required through the above-mentioned process, will not have any material impact on the financials of the Company.
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49	 The Company deposited Goods and Service Tax [GST] on Interchange received by it in respect of VISA International 
transactions. However, in February 2019, Company has received a declaration from VISA that Settlement of International 
Interchange is being done in INR as per approval of RBI obtained by VISA in 1995. On the basis of said declaration, the 
Company has obtained opinion from legal firm confirming that the same can be treated as receipt of consideration in 
convertible foreign exchange and consequently as export of service and therefore not chargeable to GST. The Company has 
accordingly decided to stop paying GST on International Interchange henceforth and decided to file a refund application 
for ` 11.06 Crores for the GST paid from July 2017 to February 2019 with GST authorities.

	 The said refund is subject to interpretation of law for which there is no precedence in the form of judgements/ departmental 
clarifications. In view of the above, the Company has provided for 100% provision against the refund claim to mitigate the 
uncertainty risk.

	 Further, on 16th July 2019, the Company has withdrawn refund application for ` 6.54 Crores for the period April 2018 - 
February 2019 and have adjusted this amount from tax payable of the subsequent period basis opinion from legal firm and 
accordingly provision to the extent of ` 6.54 Crores have been reduced/ reversed.

50	 The Company deposited GST on Interchange Income for the period April, 2018 to December, 2018 considering them as 
intra-state supplies for the year ended March 31 2020. However, post receiving bank wise details of such Interchange 
Income from network partners, such supplies are held as Inter-state transaction for which IGST is applicable. Consequently, 
company had filed a refund claim under Section 77 of the CGST Act of ` 108.41 Crores which has been rejected by the 
adjudicating authority as well as the first Appellate Commissioner.  As GST Tribunals have not been set up as of now, 
Company has filed a Writ Petition before Hon’ble Punjab & Haryana High Court against such rejection order. The Company 
has created 100% provision against the refund claim as at March 31, 2022to mitigate the uncertainty risk considering that 
the said refund is subject to interpretation of law in view of the above.

	 The refund claim under Section 77 of the CGST Act of ` 108.41 crore was allowed during the year ended March 31, 2022, 
and subsequently refund amount was received on January 04, 2022. In view of the above, impairment loss against the 
refund claim has been reversed and effect thereof has been recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, under Other 
Income, during the year ended March 31, 2022.

51	 During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company has sold a portion of Stage 3 assets to an Asset Restructuring 
Company. Details of such transaction is as below:

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 
 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Number of accounts  825 31671

Aggregate value (net of provisions) of accounts sold to ARC  ` 2.23 crores  ` 79.88 crores 

Aggregate consideration  ` 0.52 crores  ` 18.43 crores 

Additional consideration realized in respect of accounts transferred in earlier 
years

 Nil Nil

Aggregate gain / (loss) over net book value  (` 1.71 crores) (` 61.45 crores)

The consideration on sales of asset [Stage 3] has been settled in cash as of March 31, 2022.

52	 The Company has made following changes in estimates during the year ended March 31, 2022

i.	 During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company has triggered an early write off of loan balances of ` 304.73 Crores 
[40983 accounts] on account of change in estimation of recovery expectation of certain category of retail accounts in 
Stage 3. There is no impact of this change in the statement of Profit and Loss account as the same was fully provided under 
Expected Credit Loss [ECL] model including management overlay.

ii.	 The Company has classified all the linked accounts of written off accounts (having balances > 0) as Stage 3 instead of their 
independent staging. This has resulted in higher Stage 3 balance by ` 26.19 crore with a corresponding increase in ECL by 
` 15.11 crore during the quarter and year ended March 31, 2022, in the statement of profit and loss account.
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53	 Analytical Ratios

Ratio Numerator Denominator For the year 
ended March 

31, 2022

For the year 
ended March 

31, 2021

% 
Variance

Reason for 
variance (if 
above 25%)

Capital to risk-
weighted assets 
ratio (CRAR)

Total capital employed Total Risk 
weighted 
asset

23.83% 24.75% -0.92% NA

Tier I CRAR Total equity reduced 
by Deffered Tax, 
Intangile assets and 
Unamortised card 
acquisition cost

Total Risk 
weighted 
asset

21.03% 20.86% 0.17% NA

Tier II CRAR Provision on standard 
asset to the extent of 
1.25% of total risk 
weighted asset and 
Sub-ordinated debts 
with original maturity 
above 5 years

Total Risk 
weighted 
asset

2.80% 3.89% -1.09% NA

Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio

Stock of High Quality 
Liquid Asset 

Total net cash 
outflows over 
the next 30 
calender days

79.06% 61.55% 17.51% NA

54	� During the financial year ended March 31, 2022 the Company has reclassified following 
comparative figures which do not have material impact on the Balance Sheet.

Note No. Note Description 
Previously 

reported 
Amount

Current 
revised 

numbers

Change

Asset

Note No. 6 Bank balance other than Cash 
and cash equivalents 

74.90 76.90 2.00

Note No. 8 Trade receivable 56.82 81.52 24.70

Note No. 11 Other financial assets 221.57  194.87  (26.70)

Note No. 12 Current tax liabilities/assets (net) 21.69 52.47 30.78

Note No. 15 Other non-financial assets 864.62  833.84  (30.78)

Total  -   

Liabilities

Note No. 16 Payables 760.15 892.72 132.57

Note No. 18 Borrowings (other than Debt 
Securities)

 10,836.78  10,663.52  (173.26)

Note No. 20 Other financial liabilities 702.84 876.10 173.26

Note No. 21 Provisions 542.22 409.65  (132.57)

Total  -   
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55	 SEBI circular no SEBI/HO/DDHS/P/CIR/2021/613 dated August 10, 2021

Sr. 
No. 

Particulars DETAILS

1 Name of the company  SBI Cards and Payment Services Limited

2 CIN  L65999DL1998PLC093849 

3 Outstanding borrowing of company as on March 31, 2022 (in ` cr) ` 22982.46 Crores 

4 Highest Credit Rating During the previous FY along with name of the 
Credit Rating Agency 

AAA/Stable by CRISIL & ICRA

5 Name of Stock Exchange in which the fine shall be paid, in case of 
shortfall in the required borrowing under the framework 

BSE Limited

56	 SEBI circular no SEBI/HO/DDHS/P/CIR/2021/613 dated August 10, 2021

Sr. 
No. 

Particulars DETAILS

1 2-year block period (specify financial years) FY 2022 and FY 2023

2 Incremental borrowing done in FY 2022 (a) ` 3,105.00 Cr

3 Mandatory borrowing to be done through issuance of debt securities in FY 2022 (b) = 
(25% of a) 

` 776.25 Cr

4 Actual borrowings done through debt securities in FY 2022 (c) ` 2,605.00 Cr

5 Shortfall in the mandatory borrowing through debt securities, if any, for FY 2021 
carried forward to FY 2022. (d)

Nil

6 Quantum of (d), which has been met from (c)  (e) Nil

57	� Disclosure in terms of RBI Circular (RBI/2019-20/88) No: DOR.NBFC (PD) CC. 
No.102/03.10.001/2019-20 dated November 04, 2019. 

57.1.1.  Public disclosure on liquidity risk: 							     

	 i)	 Funding Concentration based on significant counterparty (both deposits and borrowings)

Sr. 
No. 

Quarter ended Number of 
Significant 

Counterparties 

Amount  
(` crore) 

% of Total 
deposits 

% of Total 
Liabilities

1 Jun’21 11 (Eleven)  14,923.74 NA 74.64%
2 Sep’21 10 (Ten)  16,472.68 NA 74.27%
3 Dec’21 11 (Eleven)  18,868.57 NA 76.37%
4 Mar’22 9 (Nine)  20,744.46 NA 77.13%

	 ii)	 Top 20 large deposits (amount in ` crore and % of total deposits) 

	 Company is registered as Non-Deposit taking Systemmically Important NBFC, hence this clause is not applicable

	 iii)	 Top 10 borrowings (amount in ` crore and % of total borrowings)

Sr. 
No. 

Quarter ended Amount  (` crore) % of Total borrowings

1 Jun'21  14,842.33 87.14%
2 Sep'21  16,362.66 87.02%
3 Dec'21  18,571.63 89.06%
4 Mar'22  20,789.65 91.10%
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	 iv)	 Funding Concentration based on significant instrument/product

Sr. 
No. 

Quarter 
ended 

Bank Lines Debentures Term Loan Commercial papers

Total 
Amount  

(` Crore)

% of 
Total 

Liabilities

Total 
Amount  

(` Crore)

% of 
Total 

Liabilities

Total 
Amount  

(` Crore)

% of 
Total 

Liabilities

Total 
Amount  

(` Crore)

% of 
Total 

Liabilities

1 Jun’21  9,942.83 49.73% 5913.35 29.58%  -    0%  1,334.01 6.67%

2 Sep’21  11,363.16 51.23% 6463.80 29.14%  -    0%  1,196.21 5.39%

3 Dec’21  12,661.90 51.25% 7506.54 30.38%  -    0%  881.02 3.57%

4 Mar’22  14,180.15 52.72% 7487.20 27.84% 499.95 1.86%  815.16 3.03%

	 v) 	 Stock Ratios :

Sr. 
No. 

Quarter ended Name of the instrument/ product % of Total 
Public Funds

% of Total 
Liabilities

% of Total 
Assets

a Jun’21 Commercial Papers NA 6.67% 5.01%
Non-convertible debentures NA 0% 0%
(original maturity <1 year)
Other short-term liabilities NA 63.41% 47.64%

b Sep’21 Commercial Papers NA 5.39% 4.10%
Non-convertible debentures NA 0% 0%
(original maturity <1 year)
Other short-term liabilities NA 65.27% 49.63%

c Dec’21 Commercial Papers NA 3.57% 2.74%
Non-convertible debentures NA 0% 0%
(original maturity <1 year)
Other short-term liabilities NA 65.48% 50.39%

d Mar’22 Commercial Papers NA 3.03% 2.35%
Non-convertible debentures NA 0% 0%
(original maturity <1 year)
Other short-term liabilities NA 66.52% 51.64%

	 vi) 	 Institutional set-up for liquidity risk management 

	 Refer note no 38.1.3 for details

57.1.2. Disclosure on Liquidity Coverage Ratio

	 Reserve Bank of India, through the Liquidity Risk Management Framework for Non-Banking Financial Companies, introduced 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) with the objective that NBFC shall maintain a liquidity buffer in terms of LCR which will 
promote resilience of NBFCs to potential liquidity disruptions by ensuring that they have sufficient High Quality Liquid Asset 
(HQLA) to survive any acute liquidity stress scenario lasting for 30 days. HQLA means liquid assets that can be readily sold or 
immediately converted into cash at little or no loss of value or used as collateral to obtain funds in a range of stress scenarios. 
Liquidity management in the Company is driven by the Board approved Asset Liability Management (ALM) Policy. The Asset 
Liability Committee (ALCO) is a decision-making unit responsible for implementing the liquidity risk management strategy 
of the Company, formulating the Company’s funding strategies to ensure that the funding sources are well diversified and 
is consistent with the operational requirements of the Company and ensures adherence to the risk tolerance/limits set by 
the Board.

	 The LCR requirement were effective December 1, 2020, with the minimum HQLAs to be held being 50% of the LCR, 
progressively increase it by 10% annually, to reach up to the required level of 100% by December 1, 2024. From December 
1, 2021, the minimum HQLAs to be held are at 60% of the LCR.

	 The LCR is calculated by dividing Stock of HQLA by total net cash outflows over the next 30 calendar days. Total net cash 
outflows over the next 30 days are equal to stressed outflows minus Minimum of (stressed inflows or 75% of stressed 
outflows), wherein stressed outflows are 115% of outflows and stressed inflows are 75% of inflows.
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	 The following table sets out the average of unweighted and weighted value of the LCR components of the Company 
calculated in accordance with RBI circular no RBI/2019-20/88 DOR.NBFC (PD) CC. No.102/03.10.001/2019-20 dated 
November 04, 2019. The average weighted and unweighted amounts are calculated taking simple averages of daily 
observations over the respective quarter.

Sr. 
No. 

Particulars Quarter ended March 31, 
2022

Quarter ended 
31 December 2021

Quarter ended September 
30, 2021

Quarter ended 
30 June 2020

Total 
Unweighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Weighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Unweighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Weighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Unweighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Weighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Unweighted 

Value  
(Average)

Total 
Weighted 

Value  
(Average)

High Quality Liquid Asset
1 Total High Quality 

Liquid Assets 
(HQLA)

 -   1311.17  -   1188.68  -   1011.13  -   1038.66

Cash Outflows
2 Deposits (For 

Deposit taking 
Companies)

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

3 Unsecured 
Wholesale Funding

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

4 Secured Wholesale 
Funding

 4,279.67  4,921.62  4,218.80  4,851.62  3,433.13  3,948.10  3,555.52  4,088.84 

5 Additional 
Requirements, of 
which 

(i) Outflows related 
to derivative 
exposures and 
other collateral 
requirements 

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(ii) Outflows related 
to loss of funding 
on debt products

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iii) Credit and 
liquidity facilities

 440.96  507.10  421.15  484.33  393.02  451.98  173.41  199.43 

6 Other contractual 
funding 
obligations

 1,047.72  1,204.88  1,036.93  1,192.46  948.52  1,090.80  866.58  996.56 

7 Other contingent 
funding 
obligations

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

8 Total Cash 
Outflows

 5,768.34  6,633.59  5,676.88  6,528.41  4,774.68  5,490.88  4,595.51  5,284.83 

Cash Inflows
9 Secured lending  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
10 Inflows from 

fully performing 
exposures

 9,610.82  7,208.11  9,077.13  6,807.85  7,381.52  5,536.14  6,895.86  5,171.89 

11 Other Cash 
Inflows

142.52 106.89 130.10 97.57 133.05 99.79 234.29 175.72

12 Total Cash 
Inflows

9753.34 7315.00 9207.23 6905.42 7514.58 5635.93 7130.15 5347.62

Total 
Adjusted 

Value

Total 
Adjusted 

Value

Total 
Adjusted 

Value

Total 
Adjusted 

Value
13 Total HQLA 1311.17 1188.68 1011.13 1038.66
14 Total Net Cash 

Outflows
 1,658.40 1632.10 1372.72 1321.21

15 Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio (%)

79.06% 72.83% 73.66% 78.61%
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	 The main drivers of the LCR calculation in outflow over 30 days period is contractual borrowing obligations of the company 
in the form of commercial papers, bank lines, debentures. Other contractual funding obligations consist of liabilities 
towards network partners, vendor payments, other liabilities. Further company has used the behavioural study to take the 
impact of unused credit and liquidity facilities that Company has provided to its cardholders. Main driver of inflows is the 
repayments from the cardholders which are taken basis the past behavioural pattern observed. Other cash inflows consist 
of incomes accruals which company expects to receive in next 30 days.

	 The average LCR of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was 79.06% as against 72.83% for the 
quarter ended December 31, 2021. The LCR remains above the regulatory minimum requirement of 60%. The average 
HQLA for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 was ` 1311.17 crores as against ` 1188.68 crores for the quarter ended 
December 31, 2021. The net cash outflow position has gone up by ` 26.30 crores and HQLA level has gone up by ` 122.49 
crores as cash outflows in next 30 days has reduced.HQLA comprises of balances in demand deposits with Scheduled 
Commercial Banks (6.26%), Investments in Treasury Bills (63.33%) and investment in Government Securities (30.41%). 
The company takes forward cover to hedge the foreign exchange liabilities and do not foresee any material impact of 
derivative exposure/potential collateral calls/ currency mismatch in the LCR.

	 Management is of the view that the Company has sufficient liquidity cover to meet its likely future short-term requirements.

58	 Schedule to Balance Sheet of a Non-Banking Financial Company as required in terms of Paragraph 13 of Non- Banking 
Financial Companies (non-deposit accepting or holding) Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016:		
					   

Particulars  As at  As at 
Liabilities side: March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
1.	 Loans and advances availed by the NBFC’s 

inclusive of interest accrued thereon but 
not paid:

Amount 
outstanding

Amount 
overdue

Amount 
outstanding

Amount 
overdue

(a)	 Debentures : Secured  -    -    -    -   
                          : Unsecured     7,487.20  -    5,019.12  -   
	 (Other than falling within the meaning of 

public deposits)
(b)	 Deferred Credits  -    -    -    -   
(c)	 Term Loans  499.95  -    -    -   
(d) 	 Inter-corporate loans and borrowing  -    -    -    -   
(e)	 Commercial Paper                                  815.16  -    2,212.14  -   
(f)	 Other Loans
	 - External commercial borrowings  -    -    -    -   
	 - Cash/Credit Loans*  14,180.15  -    10,663.52  -   
	 - Finance lease obligation  -    -    -    -   
	 - lease obligation  302.45  -    173.26  -   

	 *It includes working capital demand loan.

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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Assets side: Amount 
outstanding 

Amount 
outstanding 

As at March 31, 
2022

 As at March 31, 
2021

2	 Break-up of Loans and Advances including bills receivables [other 
than those included in (4) below]:

	 (a)	 Secured*  340.30  316.25 
	 (b)	 Unsecured  30,941.07  24,797.58 
3	 Break up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other assets 

counting towards AFC activities
 -    -   

	 i)	 Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors:
(a)	 Financial lease  Nil  Nil 
(b)	 Operating lease  Nil  Nil 

	 ii)	 Stock on hire including hire charges under sundry debtors:  Nil  Nil 
(a)	 Assets on hire  Nil  Nil 
(b)	 Repossessed Assets  Nil  Nil 

	 iii)	 Other loans counting towards AFC activities  Nil  Nil 
(a)	 Loans where assets have been repossessed  Nil  Nil 
(b)	 Loans other than (a) above  Nil  Nil 

	 *It Includes advances to credit card customers to the extent of lien on fixed deposits and financial guarantees.

Assets side: Amount 
outstanding 

Amount 
outstanding 

As at March 31, 
2022

 As at March 31, 
2021

4	 Break-up of Investments:				  
	 Current Investments:				 
	 1.	 Quoted:

(i)	 Shares:	 (a) Equity Nil Nil
			   (b) Preference Nil Nil
(ii)	 Debentures and Bonds Nil Nil
(iii)	 Units of mutual funds Nil Nil
(iv)	 Government Securities 878.31 623.25
(v)	 Others Nil Nil

	 2.	 Unquoted:
(i)	 Shares:	 (a) Equity Nil Nil
			   (b) Preference Nil Nil
(ii)	 Debentures and Bonds Nil Nil
(iii)	 Units of mutual funds Nil Nil
(iv)	 Government Securities Nil Nil
(v)	 Others Nil Nil

	 Long Term investments:
	 1.	 Quoted:

(i)	 Shares:	 (a) Equity Nil Nil
			   (b) Preference Nil Nil
(ii)	 Debentures and Bonds Nil Nil
(iii)	 Units of mutual funds Nil Nil
(iv)	 Government Securities 400.96 323.11
(v)	 Others Nil Nil

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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Assets side: Amount 
outstanding 

Amount 
outstanding 

As at March 31, 
2022

 As at March 31, 
2021

2.	 Unquoted:
(i)	 Shares:	 (a) Equity 17.92 11.20
			   (b) Preference Nil Nil
(ii)	 Debentures and Bonds Nil Nil
(iii)	 Units of mutual funds Nil Nil
(iv)	 Government Securities Nil Nil
(v)	 Others Nil Nil

	 5	 Borrower group-wise classification of assets financed as in (2) and (3) above: 

Category Amount net of provisions
As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021

Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total
1.	 Related Parties 
	 (a)	 Subsidiaries  -    -    -    -    -    -   
	 (b)	� Companies in the 

same group 
 -   0.27 0.27  -   0.24 0.24

	 (c)	�� Other related 
parties 

 -   0.06 0.06  -   0.02 0.02

2.	� Other than related 
parties

340.30  30,940.74  31,281.04  314.76  23,144.13  23,458.89 

Total 340.30  30,941.07  31,281.37  314.76  23,144.39  23,459.14 

	 6	� Investor group-wise classification of all investments (current and long term) in shares and 
securities (both quoted and unquoted):

As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021
Market Value / 

Break up or fair 
value or NAV

Book Value          
(Net of 

Provisions)

Market Value / 
Break up or fair 

value or NAV

Book Value 
(Net of 

Provisions)
1.	 Related Parties 
	 (a)	 Subsidiaries  -    -    -    -   
	 (b)	� Companies in the same 

group *
 -    -    -    -   

	 (c)	�� Other related parties  -    -    -    -   
2.	� Other than related parties 1297.19 1297.19 957.56 957.56
Total 1297.19 1297.19 957.56 957.56

	 * Refer Note 10

	 7	 Other Information

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
 

As at March 
31, 2021

(i)	 Gross Non-Performing Assets 
	 (a)       Related parties  -    -   
	 (b)       Other than related parties  693.42  1,254.28 
(ii)	 Net Non-Performing Assets 
	 (a)       Related parties  -    -   
	 (b)       Other than related parties  240.90  277.65 
(iii)	 Assets acquired in satisfaction of debt  -    -   

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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60	 Additional Disclosures

60.1 Capital

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
 

As at March 
31, 2021

i) CRAR (%) 23.83% 24.75%
ii) CRAR - Tier I Capital (%) 21.03% 20.86%
iii) CRAR - Tier II Capital (%) 2.80% 3.89%
iv) Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier-II capital*  1,150  1,250 
v) Amount raised by issue of Perpetual Debt Instruments  -    -   

	 *Qualifying amount as Tier II Capital (after discounting) as at March 31, 2022 is ` 490 crore (March 31, 2021 ` 650 crore). 
Fresh subordinated debt raised as Tier II during Financial Year 2020-21 is NIL (March 31, 2021 ` NIL crore).

60.2 Investment

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
 

As at March 
31, 2021

1 Value of Investments
(i)	 Gross Value of Investments .
	 (a)	 In India  1,297.19  957.56 
	 (b)	 Outside India  -    -   
(ii)	 Provisions for Depreciation
	 (a)	 In India  -    -   
	 (b)	 Outside India  -    -   
(iii)	 Net Value of Investments
	 (a)	 In India  1,297.19  957.56 
	 (b)	 Outside India  -    -   

2 Movement of Provisions held towards depreciation on investments
(i)	 Opening balance  -    -   
(ii)	 Add: Provisions made during the year  -    -   
(iii)	 Less: Write-off / write-back of excess provisions during the year  -    -   
(iv)	 Closing balance  -    -   

60.3 Derivatives

Forward Rate Agreement / Interest Rate Swap

S. 
No.

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021
(i) The notional principal of swap agreements Nil Nil
(ii) Losses which would be incurred if counterparties failed to fulfill their 

obligations under the agreements
Nil Nil

(iii) Collateral required by the NBFC upon entering into swaps Nil Nil
(iv) Concentration  of  credit  risk  arising  from  the swaps Nil Nil
(v) The fair value of the swap book Nil Nil

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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60.4 Exchange Traded Interest Rate (IR) Derivatives

S. 
No.

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021
(i) Notional principal amount of exchange traded IR derivatives 

undertaken during the year
Nil Nil

(ii) Notional principal amount of exchange traded IR derivatives 
outstanding 

Nil Nil

(iii) Notional principal amount of exchange traded IR derivatives 
outstanding and not "highly effective"

Nil Nil

(iv) Mark-to-market value of exchange traded IR derivatives outstanding 
and not "highly effective"

Nil Nil

60.5 Disclosures on Risk Exposure in Derivatives

	 Qualitative Disclosure

S. 
No.

Particulars As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021
Currency 

Derivatives
Interest Rate 

Derivatives
Currency 

Derivatives
Interest Rate 

Derivatives
(i) Derivatives (Notional Principal 

Amount)
      Hedged Assets  Nil  Nil 25.73  Nil 
      Hedged Liabilities- Loan  Nil  Nil  $0.35  Nil 
      Hedged Liabilities- Interests  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil 

(ii) Marked to Market Positions
     a) Asset (+) Nil Nil 0.10 Nil
     b) Liability (-) Nil Nil Nil Nil

(iii) Credit Exposure Nil Nil Nil Nil
(iv) Unhedged Exposures 158.09 Nil 110.11 Nil

	 Refer note 38.1.1 to the financial statements for details

60.6 Disclosures relating to Securitisation

S. 
No.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021
1 No of SPVs sponsored by the NBFC for securitisation transactions Nil Nil
2 Total amount of securitised assets as per books of the SPVs sponsored Nil Nil
3 Total amount of exposures retained by the NBFC to comply with MRR 

as on the date of balance sheet
Nil Nil

a) 	 Off-balance sheet exposures Nil Nil
	 First loss Nil Nil
	 Others Nil Nil
b) 	 On-balance sheet exposures Nil Nil
	 First loss Nil Nil
	 Others Nil Nil

4 Amount of exposures to securitisation transactions other than MRR Nil Nil
a) 	 Off-balance sheet exposures

i)	 Exposure to own securitizations
	 First loss Nil Nil

	 Others Nil Nil
ii)	 Exposure to third party securitisations

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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S. 
No.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021
	 First loss Nil Nil
	 Others Nil Nil

b)	 On-balance sheet exposures
i)	 Exposure to own securitisations Nil Nil
	 First loss Nil Nil
	 Others Nil Nil
ii)	 Exposure to third party securitisations
	 First loss Nil Nil
	 Others Nil Nil

60.7 �Details of Financial Assets sold to Securitisation/Reconstruction Company for Asset Reconstruction

S. 
No.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021
(i) No. of accounts 825 31671
(ii) Aggregate value (net of provisions) of accounts sold to SC / RC  ` 2.23 Crores ` 79.88 Crores
(iii) Aggregate consideration ` 0.52 Crores ` 18.43 Crores
(iv) Additional consideration realized in respect of accounts transferred 

in earlier years
Nil Nil

(v) Aggregate gain / loss over net book value ` (1.71 Crores) (` 61.45 Crores)

60.8 Details of Assignment transactions undertaken by NBFCs

S. 
No.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021
(i) No. of accounts Nil Nil
(ii) Aggregate value (net of provisions) of accounts sold  Nil  Nil 
(iii) Aggregate consideration Nil Nil
(iv) Additional consideration realized in respect of accounts transferred 

in earlier years
Nil Nil

(v) Aggregate gain / loss over net book value Nil Nil

60.9 Details of non-performing financial assets purchased/sold from/to other NBFC

S. 
No.

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021
1 (a) No. of accounts  purchased during the year Nil Nil

(b) Aggregate outstanding Nil Nil
2 (a) Of these, number of accounts restructured during the year Nil Nil

(b)Aggregate outstanding Nil Nil

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(FIGURE IN RUPEES CRORES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
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60.10 Asset Liability Management 

	 Maturity pattern of certain items of assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2022

Description

Upto 7 
days

Upto 8 to 
14 days

Upto 15 
to 30 
days

Over 1 
month 
upto 2 

months

Over 2 
months 
upto 3 

months

Over 3 
months 
upto 6 

months

Over 6 
months 
upto 1 

year

Over 1 
year & 
upto 3 
years

Over 3 
years & 

upto 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Deposits -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Advances 3778.62 2768.07 3824.71 4627.62 3004.20 4719.35 3276.31 3947.47 -   240.90 30,187.25 

Investments -   -   -   230.31 53.06 402.30 195.68 217.68 180.24 17.92 1,297.19 

Borrowings 1602.00 1050.00 2601.07 4294.54 3415.50 1680.50 1983.90 5055.00 949.95 350.00 22,982.46 

Foreign Currency 
assets

-   -   -   -   4.11 -   71.41 -   -   -   75.52 

Foreign Currency 
liabilities

-   -   17.81 64.76 -   -   -   -   -   -   82.57 

	 Maturity pattern of certain items of assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2021

Description

Upto 7 
days

Upto 8 to 
14 days

Upto 15 
to 30 
days

Over 1 
month 
upto 2 

months

Over 2 
months 
upto 3 

months

Over 3 
months 
upto 6 

months

Over 6 
months 
upto 1 

year

Over 1 
year & 
upto 3 
years

Over 3 
years & 

upto 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Deposits -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Advances 2766.14 1771.10 2750.84 3440.15 2263.43 3823.37 2800.28 3566.18 -   277.65 23,459.14 

Investments -   -   -   281.53 1.69 281.68 63.11 86.84 231.51 11.20 957.56 

Borrowings 1314.36 1630.35 2056.71 3524.37 2124.25 1278.76 1280.98 3585.00 750.00 350.00 17,894.78 

Foreign Currency 
assets

-   -   -   -   3.98 -   69.13 -   -   -   73.11 

Foreign Currency 
liabilities

-   -   13.53 49.20 -   -   -   -   -   -   62.73 

60.11 Exposure to Real Estate Sector

S. 
No.

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021

a) Direct Exposure

(i)	 Residential Mortgages

	 Lending fully secured by mortgages on residential property that 
is or will be occupied by the borrower or that is rented.

Nil Nil

(ii)	 Commercial Real Estate

	 Lending secured by mortgages on commercial real estates (office 
buildings, retail space, multi-purpose commercial premises, 
multi-family residential buildings, multi-tenanted commercial 
premises, industrial or warehouse space, hotels, land acquisition, 
development and construction, etc.). Exposure would also include 
non-fund based limits.

Nil Nil

(iii)	 Investments in Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS) and other 
securitized exposures :-

	 a.	 Residential Nil Nil

	 b.	 Commercial real Estate Nil Nil
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60.12 Exposure to Capital Market

S. 
No.

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021

(i) Direct investment in equity shares, convertible bonds, convertible 
debentures and units of equity-oriented mutual funds the corpus of 
which is not exclusively invested in corporate debt;

Nil Nil

(ii) Advances against shares / bonds / debentures or other securities or 
on clean basis to individuals for investment in shares (including IPOs 
/ ESOPs), convertible bonds, convertible debentures, and units of 
equity-oriented mutual funds;

Nil Nil

(iii) Advances for any other purposes where shares or convertible bonds 
or convertible debentures or units of equity oriented mutual funds are 
taken as primary security;

Nil Nil

(iv) Advances for any other purposes to the extent secured by the 
collateral security of shares or convertible bonds or convertible 
debentures or units of equity oriented mutual funds i.e. where the 
primary security other than shares / convertible bonds / convertible 
debentures / units of equity oriented mutual funds 'does not fully 
cover the advances;

Nil Nil

(v) Secured and unsecured advances to stockbrokers and guarantees 
issued on behalf of stockbrokers and market makers;

Nil Nil

(vi) Loans sanctioned to corporates against the security of shares / 
bonds / debentures or other securities or on clean basis for meeting 
promoter's contribution to the equity of new companies in anticipation 
of raising resources;

Nil Nil

(vii) Bridge loans to companies against expected equity flows / issues; Nil Nil

(viii) All exposures to Venture Capital Funds (both registered and 
unregistered)

Nil Nil

Total Exposure to Capital Market Nil Nil

60.13 Details of financing of parent company products 

	 The Company has not financed any of the products of its parent company during the financial year 2021-22.

60.14 Details of Single Borrower Limit (SGL) / Group Borrower Limit (GBL) exceeded by the NBFC

	 The Company has not exceeded the prudential exposure limits during the year ended March 31, 2022.

60.15 Miscellaneous

	 60.15.1 Registration obtained from other financial sector regulators 

	 The Company has also obtained registration from the following Regulators.

Registration Authority Registration No.

Certificate of Incorporatoin under Companies Act 2013 L65999DL1998PLC093849

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India CA0075

NBFC Registeration 14.01328

	 60.15.2 Disclosure of Penalties imposed by RBI and other regulators 

	 No penalties have been imposed by any regulators during financial year 2021-22. 				  
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	 60.15.3 Related Party Transactions 									       

	 For related party transaction refer note no.41. 

	 60.15.4 Ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year

	 The short-term debt rating of the Company is A1+ by CRISIL and ICRA. Long-term debt rating is AAA / Stable by CRISIL 
and ICRA. There is no change in the rating during financial year 2021-22.

	 60.15.5. Revenue Recognition

	 There is no circumstance in which revenue recognition has been postponed pending the resolution of significant 
uncertainties.											        

	 60.15.6 Remuneration to Directors

	 During the year the Company has paid `1.17 Crores towards Directors fees, allowances and expenses. 

	 Refer note 33											        

	 60.15.7 Net Profit or loss for the period, prior period items and change in accounting policies

	 There has been no change in the Significant Accounting policies followed during the financial year 2021-22 in comparison 
to the financial Year 2020-21. Further, there are no adjustment of prior period items during the financial year 2021-22. 

61	 Additional Disclosure

61.1 Provisions and Contingencies

Break up of ‘Provisions and Contingencies’ shown under the head 
Expenditure in Profit and Loss Account

As at March 
31, 2022

As at March 
31, 2021

Provision towards stage 3 assets* 452.52 976.63

Provision for stage 1 and stage 2 assets * 641.60 678.06

Provision for Long Service Awards 6.10 8.83

Provision for reward points redemption 410.14 342.10

Provision for Gratuity  -   0.81

Provision for Compensated absences 15.50 16.94

Provision on Trade Receivable 0.04 0.34

Provision on Financial assets 2.39 1.91

Provision on Non Financial assets 5.42 113.74

Provision for Bonus & Incentive Payable 45.65 40.97

	 *   Includes management overlay 			 

61.2 Draw Down from reserves

	 There is no draw down from the reserves during the financial year ended March 31, 2022.

61.3 Concentration of Deposits,Advances,Expsoures and NPAs #

	 Concentration of Advances

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021

Total Advances to twenty largest borrowers* 50.55 49.95

Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total Advances of 
the NBFC

0.16% 0.20%
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61.4 Concentration of Exposures
	 Concentration of Advances

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021
Total Advances to twenty largest borrowers** 264.63 217.08
Percentage of Exposures to twenty largest borrowers/customers to Total 
Exposures of the NBFC on borrowers/customers

0.21% 0.16%

	 **In case of Corporate Cards, the exposure includes all the credit cards exposure to that Corporate in total. The exposure 
here denotes the total credit card limit against the top twenty borrowers

61.5 Concentration of NPAs #

Particulars
As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021
Total Exposure to top four NPA accounts* 0.70 0.75

	 *All four NPA accounts has been blocked for transactions.

	 # refers to Stage 3 asset

61.6 Sector-wise NPAs

S. 
No.

Sector
% of NPAs to 

Total Advances in 
that sector

As at March As at March 
31, 202231, 2022

As at March 
31, 2021

1 Agriculture & allied activities 0.00%  -    -    -   
2 MSME 0.00%  -    -    -   
3 Corporate borrowers - Credit Cards* 0.00%  -    -    -   
4 Services 0.00%  -    -    -   
5 Unsecured personal loans 0.00%  -    -    -   
6 Auto loans 0.00%  -    -    -   
7 Other personal loans - Credit Cards 2.22%  693.42  693.42  1,254.28 

	 *in case of Corporate Cards, the NPA includes all credit cards exposure to that corporate in total. % of NPA is for FY 2021-22.

61.7
S. 
No. Particulars As at March 

31, 2022
As at March 

31, 2021
(i) Net NPAs to Net Advances (%) 0.78% 1.15%

Movement of NPAs (Gross)
(a)	 Opening balance 1254.28 484.39
(b)	 Additions during the year * 2256.43 3162.24
(c)	 Reductions during the year  (2,811.26)  (2,159.54)
(d)	 Derecognised during the year  (6.03)  (232.81)
(e)	 Closing balance 693.42 1254.28

(ii) Movement of NPAs (Net)
(a)	 Opening balance 277.65 158.86
(b)	 Additions during the year 911.30 946.98
(c)	 Reductions during the year  (948.05)  (828.19)
(d)	 Closing balance 240.90 277.65

(iii) Movement of provisions for NPAs (excluding provisions on 
standard assets)
(a)	 Opening balance 976.63 325.53
(b)	 Provision made during the year 1345.12 2215.26
(b)	 Write-off/write-back of excess  (1,864.92)  (1,411.23)
(d)	 Derecognised during the year  (4.31)  (152.93)
(e)	 Closing balance 452.52 976.63

	 *Additions during the year is net of repayment

	 # refers to Stage 3 asset
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61.8 �Disclosure in terms of RBI Circular (RBI/2019-20/170) No: DOR(NBFC).CC.PD.No.109/22.10.106/2019-
20 dated March 13, 2020.

Asset Classification as 
per RBI Norms

Asset 
Classification 
as per Ind AS 

109

Gross 
Carrying 

Amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss 
Allowances 
(Provisions 
as required 

under Ind 
AS 109)

Net Carrying 
Amount

Provisions required as per 
IRACP norms *

Difference 
between 

Ind AS 109 
provisions 
and IRACP 

norms

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)=(3)-(4) (6.1) (6.2)** (6) = 
(6.1)+(6.2)

(7)=(4)-(6)

Performing Assets

Standard
Stage 1  27,931.49  455.92  27,475.57 

 122.35  84.93  207.28  434.32 
Stage 2  2,656.47  185.69  2,470.78 

Subtotal of Performing 
Assets

 30,587.95  641.60  29,946.35  122.35  84.93  207.28  434.32 

Non-Performing 
Assets (NPA)

Substandard Stage 3  693.38  452.48  240.90  52.73  -    52.73  399.75 

Doubtful- up to 1 year Stage 3  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

1-3 years Stage 3  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

More than 3 years Stage 3  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Subtotal of doubtful

Loss Stage 3  0.04  0.04  -    0.04  -    0.04  -   

Subtotal of NPA  693.42  452.52  240.90  52.77  -    52.77  399.75 

Other items such 
as guarantees, loan 
commitments, etc. 
which are in the scope 
of Ind AS 109 but not 
covered under current 
Income Recognition, 
Asset Classification and 
Provisioning (IRACP) 
norms

Stage 1  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Stage 2  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Stage 3 -  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Subtotal  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total Stage 1  27,931.49  455.92  27,475.58 
 122.35  84.93  207.28  434.32 

Stage 2  2,656.47  185.69  2,470.77 

Stage 3  693.42  452.52  240.90  52.77  -    52.77  399.75 

Total  31,281.37  1,094.12  30,187.25  175.12  84.93  260.05  834.07 

* Substandard assets provision as per IRACP norms is based on principal balance. Income which would have been derecognized 
in IRACP on substandard assets is ` 165.70 Crores.

**Represents additional provision created in line RBI Circular, RBI/2019-20/220 DOR.No.BP.BC.63/21.04.048/2020-21 dated 
April 17, 2020.

61.9 Overseas Assets (for those with Joint Ventures and Subsidiaries abroad)

	 There is no overseas asset as at March 31, 2022.

61.10 Off-balance Sheet SPVs sponsored

	 There is no off-balance sheet SPVs sponsored by the Company during the year ended March 31, 2022.
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